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Forward looking statements
This document may contain forward looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business of CT UK Capital 
and Income Investment Trust PLC. Such statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future events and circumstances that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward looking statements. The forward looking statements are based 
on the Directors’ current view and on information known to them at the date of this document. Nothing should be construed as a profit forecast.
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Company Overview 

Consistently growing income from investing in some of the UK’s best businesses

With an objective to secure long term capital and income growth from a portfolio consisting 
mainly of FTSE All-Share companies, we offer Shareholders a reliable income while at the same 
time seeking to grow the size of your investment. 

We have been searching out the very best of the UK’s large and medium sized businesses 
since 1992 to give our Shareholders access to a range of quality UK stocks in one place.

We carefully identify companies that are growing and profitable today and have the sustainable 
foundations to be able to continue that profitable growth into the future.

We choose to invest in companies we strongly believe in. Most of them generate much of their 
revenues outside the UK which means you benefit from international growth and diversification.

Our fund manager, Julian Cane, has managed the Company’s investments for over 25 years, 
outperforming its Benchmark over that period. The Manager’s results have driven the increase 
in dividend every year since the launch of the Company, through the market’s ups and downs.  

We are an “AIC Dividend Hero” in recognition of 30 consecutive years of increased annual 
dividends.

Our Ongoing Charges figure of 0.66% represents very good value for Shareholders.

Whether you are looking for regular income now, or to reinvest your dividends for  
long term growth, we believe that CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust  
can play an important part in your investments.

Visit our website at ctcapitalandincome.co.uk
DIVIDEND

HERO

Potential investors are reminded that the value of investments and the income from them may go down as well as up and investors may not receive back the full amount 
invested. Tax benefits may vary as a result of statutory changes and their value will depend on individual circumstances.

CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust is suitable for retail investors in the UK, professionally advised private clients and institutional investors who seek growth over 
the longer term in capital and income, and who understand and are willing to accept the risks and rewards of exposure to equities.

Registered in England and Wales with company registration number 02732011. Legal Entity Identifier: 21380052ETTRKV2A6Y19
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Financial Highlights  
for the year ended 30 September 2023

Ordinary dividends – 30th consecutive annual increase 
Dividends for the year represent a 3.0% increase on the prior year, our 
thirtieth consecutive annual rise.

12.15p

Dividend Yield 
The annual dividend yield for the Company is 4.1% based on the paid 
and proposed dividends for the 2023 financial year and the share price 
as at 30 September of 298.0p. 

4.1%

Share price total return* 
With the shares trading at a discount of 1.2% at 30 September 2023 in 
comparison to a premium of 0.8% at the prior year end, the share price 
total return for the year of 10.9% was lower than the Net Asset Value 
total return. 

10.9%

Net Asset Value per share total return* 
The Net Asset Value per share total return for the year was 13.1%, 
underperforming the Benchmark FTSE All-Share Index which returned 
13.8%.

13.1%

Shares ended the year at a discount of 1.2% 
The shares traded at an average discount to NAV of 3.1% over the year.(1.2)%

*  Total return – the return to Shareholders calculated on a per share basis by adding gross dividends paid in the period to the increase or decrease in the Share Price or 
NAV in the period. The dividends are assumed to have been re-invested in the form of shares or net assets, respectively, on the date on which the shares were quoted 
ex-dividend. 
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Chair’s Statement

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to write to you with my first report as Chair following the 

retirement of Jonathan Cartwright on 1 July 2023. Jonathan joined 

the Board in 2019 and became Chair in 2020. We thank him for his 

leadership and guidance throughout his tenure.

Total Return – The Company offers a reliable income while at 
the same time seeking to grow the size of your investment

After the political turmoil of the previous year with three Prime 

Ministers and four Chancellors, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and then 

the unsettling Mini-Budget from the Truss/Kwarteng administration, 

the year under review was much more stable. This helped to provide 

Performance over three years (%) 

Source: Refinitiv Eikon
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a more positive background against which the UK stock market was 

able to record a strong return of +13.8% for the FTSE All-Share Index 

(the “Index”). Having been ahead of the Index at our half yearly stage 

and through Spring, the total return of our Net Asset Value (“NAV”) of 

13.1% was modestly behind the Index at our year end. 

The Fund Manager’s Review contains greater analysis of performance 

and the companies identified with strong, sustainable foundations to 

deliver profitable growth into the future.

During the year, the transition to a new period of higher interest rates 

and bond yields brought about some apparently contradictory moves in 

the portfolio. Our performance over the last twelve months was helped 

by strong returns from a number of cyclically sensitive companies such 

Rebased to 100 at 30 September 2020Rebased to 100 at 30 September 2022

*See Alternative Performance Measures on pages 91 and 92 for explanation.

“Our long term dividend record provides evidence for the success of our 
steady, incremental approach. Over 30 years, our dividend has grown 257.4%, 
providing considerably greater growth than either CPI at 103.7% or the FTSE  
All-Share Index at 169.7%.”

Jane Lewis, Chair

CT UK Capital and Income - NAV total return*
FTSE All-Share – total return

CT UK Capital and Income - share price total return*
CT UK Capital and Income - NAV total return*
FTSE All-Share – total return

CT UK Capital and Income - share price total return*
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Income Growth – The Company has increased its dividend 
every year since it was launched, through the market’s ups 
and downs 

During the year, in addition to rebounding capital values, the increase 

in dividends from our investee companies led to growth in our revenue 

return per share of 10.2%. This is encouraging as it is clearly a strong 

rate of growth for any one year. In these more inflationary times, 

companies with pricing power for their services and products should 

be able to raise their prices, protect their profits and pay increased 

dividends. In this way, they should be able to provide some cover 

against inflation for their shareholders.

With these results, the Board is declaring a dividend for our fourth 

quarter of 3.9 pence per share to give a total for the year of 12.15p.  

Over one year, this is a rate of growth for our dividend of 3.0%, which 

compares to the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) of 6.7% and growth 

in the implied dividend from the FTSE All-Share Index of 9.1%. While 

our dividend growth may lag these two comparators in the short term, 

there are echoes of Aesop’s Fable of the Tortoise and the Hare as we, 

the Tortoise, aim to grow our dividend each and every year – and have 

done so over our 30 years since launch. So, while the Index, the Hare, 

may grow its dividend rapidly some years, there are other periods 

(such as during COVID-19 and in response to the Global Financial 

Crisis) when the dividend from the market is cut sharply.

Our long term dividend record provides evidence for the success of 

our steady, incremental approach. Over 30 years, our dividend has 

grown 257.4%, providing considerably greater growth than either CPI at 

103.7% or the FTSE All-Share Index at 169.7%.

as the housebuilder Vistry and kitchen manufacturer and seller Howden 

Joinery, as the economy proved to be more stable than some had 

feared, but the rise in interest rates had a negative impact on others, 

such as the specialist bank OSB, property owner LXi REIT and brick 

manufacturer Forterra.

Our financial year end three years ago was close to the bottom of 

the equity market, driven by fears over the impact of COVID-19. Our 

recovery from that low point was initially much stronger even than that 

of the Index, but we subsequently lost relative performance in the latter 

stages, most notably during Russia’s initial invasion of Ukraine and 

the Truss/Kwarteng administration period. Performance of the Index 

during the three year period has been driven largely by some of the very 

biggest stocks, in particular Shell (which rose 207.5% with an average 

weight in the FTSE All-Share Index of 6.1%) and HSBC (+145.2% with 

an average weight in the Index of 4.3%). Partly by virtue of their size 

and international exposure, these companies have been seen as quite 

defensive and therefore more resilient than the average UK company in 

difficult conditions. Our portfolio had only a relatively small investment 

in Shell and nothing in HSBC, so compared to the Index these positions 

were detrimental to our performance. Over three years, our NAV total 

return of 35.5% lagged that of the Index, which returned 39.8%.

Looking at longer term performance, we are ahead of the benchmark 

over both 10 and 25 years, with our performance in more stable 

or rising markets outweighing the more challenging periods. This 

is evidence that our investment process and its attention to long 

term fundamentals does generate attractive investment returns, an 

important component of which is our track record of annual dividend 

growth.

Rebased to 100 at 30 September 2013
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*See Alternative Performance Measures on pages 91 and 92 for explanation.

CT UK Capital and Income - NAV total return*
FTSE All-Share – total return

CT UK Capital and Income - share price total return*
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Cost of running the Company as a % of average net assets*

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investments
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buy back at a discount. This will assist the Company in continuing to 

protect the discount to NAV at which the shares may trade.

Gearing 
Throughout the year we have borrowed additional money to invest in 

our portfolio, with the amount borrowed ranging from £24 million to 

£29 million. This is decided on an assessment of the returns available 

from the portfolio and individual investments in comparison with the 

cost of borrowing. Our interest costs for the borrowing are linked to 

short term interest rates, so with the increases in the Bank of England 

Base Rate, these have been increasing during the course of the year.  

Overall, the cost of our borrowing was lower than the returns achieved 

from the portfolio so gearing has been advantageous for shareholders.

Costs 
One of our objectives is to run your Company as efficiently as possible.  

This year there was an increase in the ratio of ongoing charges which 

was a combination of two effects. First, although the management fee 

was lower (reflecting the fact that assets were on average lower across 

the last four quarter ends than the previous year), other expenses did 

rise. While total recurring expenses rose 4.6%, this was lower than 

CPI for the year. Secondly, average daily net assets were lower year 

on year. This reflects the timing of market movements and also the 

impact of share buy backs reducing the size of the Company. The cost 

ratio at 0.66%, although a little higher than the previous eight years, 

still remains at a very competitive level.

ESG 
Consideration of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) 

issues have long been an important part of the investment process 

of your investment manager, which has one of the largest and 

longest established teams dedicated to ESG issues. There is a 

Translating these figures to compound annual rates of growth, over 30 

years we have grown our dividend by a rate of 4.3%, compared to 2.4% 

for CPI and 3.4% for the FTSE All-Share Index.

In addition to our dividend growing faster than the dividend from the 

Index over the long term, our dividend yield as at the financial year end 

was 4.1%, which is above the yield from the Index of 3.8%.

We are proud to be one of the Association of Investment Companies’ 

(“AIC”) Dividend Heroes as we have increased our dividend every year 

since launch in 1992. It remains firmly our intention to continue to 

extend this record and the recovering strength of our Revenue Reserve 

of £12.3 million or 11.8 pence per share gives us considerable 

confidence that this will be achievable.

Share Price discount to NAV  
The Board has long believed it is in Shareholders’ interests that the 

Company’s shares should not trade at a price that is too detached 

from the underlying NAV per share. In order to try to create the right 

conditions for this, the Company has the ability to buy back its own 

shares if the price stands at a discount compared to the underlying 

NAV per share and to issue its own shares if the price is at a premium.  

In total during the year, the Company bought back almost 2.5 million 

shares at an average discount of 4.1% and issued 75,000 shares at 

an intraday premium of 1.7%.

Over the year the shares traded on average at a discount of 3.1% to 

the underlying NAV, with the share price trading in a range between 

being in line with the NAV and a 6.0% discount.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the Board will again ask 

Shareholders to renew its authority to issues shares at a premium and 



Chair’s Statement

Report and Accounts 2023 | 7

S
trategic R

eport
G

overnance R
eport

Financial R
eport

N
otice of M

eeting
O

ther Inform
ation

C
hair’s S

tatem
ent

O
verview

A
uditors’ R

eport

detailed commentary on pages 24 to 27 which explains Columbia 

Threadneedle’s ESG policies, how these are implemented with respect 

to management of the investment portfolio, and its engagement with 

our investee companies.

Directorate Change
The Board recognises the value in both attracting fresh talent and the 

maintenance of continuity and accordingly a plan has been developed 

to ensure an orderly succession as Directors retire.

As part of this plan, at the Annual General Meeting to be held on  

7 March 2024, Tim Scholefield, the Company’s Senior Independent 

Director will retire from the Board. Tim has served as a Director since 

November 2014. I wish to place on record the Board’s appreciation for 

his support and guidance throughout his tenure and to thank him for 

his contribution to the Company’s success. Upon his retirement Nicky 

McCabe will be appointed Senior Independent Director.

With Tim Scholefield’s forthcoming retirement, a search company was 

commissioned to find a replacement. Following this selection process, 

the Board is pleased to announce that Christopher Metcalfe, will be 

appointed to the Board and its committees with effect from 8 March 

2024.

Christopher is Chairman of Martin Currie Global Portfolio Trust plc 

and the Senior Independent Non Executive Director of JP Morgan US 

Smaller Companies Investment Trust plc. He has extensive equity 

fund management and investment trust experience having previously 

worked in senior positions at Newton Investment Management, 

Schroder Investment Management and Henderson Administration 

Group.

AGM
The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) will be held at 12.30pm on  

7 March 2024 at the offices of Columbia Threadneedle Investments, 

Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London, EC4N 6AG. This will be 

followed by a presentation by our manager, Julian Cane, on the 

Company and its investment portfolio. 

For Shareholders who are unable to attend, any questions they 

may have regarding the resolutions proposed at the AGM or the 

performance of the Company can be directed to a dedicated email 

account, ctukagm@columbiathreadneedle.com, by Thursday 29 

February 2024. We will endeavour, in so far as reasonably practicable, 

to address all such questions at the meeting. In addition, the meeting 

will be recorded and will be available to view on the Company’s 

website, www.ctcapitalandincome.co.uk shortly thereafter.

To ensure that your votes will count, I would encourage all 

Shareholders especially those that cannot attend in person to 

complete and submit their Form of Proxy or Form of Direction in 

advance of the AGM. 

Outlook
The immediate economic background is far from promising with growth 

expected to be at only very pedestrian levels in the UK and many other 

developed economies, but as we have seen over the last year and 

many years in the past, it would be wrong to believe that stock market 

performance is linked too closely to domestic economic growth. On a 

more positive front, inflation and interest rates are widely expected to 

fall and this should be supportive of markets.

Over the next twelve months, the UK is likely to have another General 

Election and most probably, on present polling, to face a change in 

government. It seems though, whichever political party is in power, 

that the government of the day will be fairly heavily constrained in the 

actions it can take by a range of factors. Moreover, it is far from just 

the UK that is facing elections as it is estimated that 2024 will be 

the biggest election year in history with more than 40% of the world’s 

population having the chance to cast a ballot.

There have been a number of substantial challenges for the UK 

and international economies and stock markets to face in recent 

years, most obviously the impact of COVID-19, Russia’s invasion of 

Ukraine, rising inflation and interest rates. Since our financial year 

end, Hamas’s attack on Israel has increased the chance of war in the 

Middle East, while China, experiencing rapid economic deterioration of 

its own, has ongoing aspirations with regard to Taiwan.

Against this somewhat uncertain and difficult background we remain 

confident that valuations in our portfolio are attractive and with a 

combination of its dividend generating capacity and our revenue 

reserve we will strive to extend our record of dividend growth into the 

future.

Jane Lewis 

Chair 

29 November 2023
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Cumulative income received by Shareholders from a £1,000 
investment at launch in September 1992                 
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Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investments and Refinitiv Eikon

CT UK Capital & Income Investment TrustFTSE All-Share Index

Consistently growing income from investing in some of the UK’s best businesses

A key feature of the structure of an investment trust is that it allows 

companies such as ours to accumulate a Revenue Reserve from 

undistributed income in good years and then to draw down from it when 

circumstances are more challenging. The Board knows that Shareholders 

appreciate a steadily rising dividend and, for example, during COVID-19, 

chose to pay dividends to Shareholders in two years that were not fully 

covered by annual earnings.

Thirty Years of Dividend Growth 

Over that time, an initial investment of

£1,000 in CT UK CAPITAL AND INCOME 
INVESTMENT TRUST has yielded £2,376 
in gross income, assuming dividends had 
not been reinvested.

This compares to just £1,076 paid out on 
the FTSE ALL-SHARE INDEX based on the 
annual dividend yield, and

£1,132 earned from a SAVINGS ACCOUNT 
paying the Bank of England base rate over 
the same period.

Dividend Progression since launch in September 1992
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Annual Dividends Special Dividends

AIC Dividend Hero
Companies which have consistently grown their annual dividend for over 

twenty years are classed by the AIC as Dividend Heroes. Our Company 

is one of a small group of investment trusts which have achieved this 

standard. The Board is proud that the Company is an AIC Dividend Hero 

and it is our intention to continue to extend this record of continuous 

growth in annual dividend. 

Savings Account

DIVIDEND
HERO

2023 is the thirtieth consecutive year that the Company has increased 

its annual dividend paid to Shareholders. This is despite facing diverse 

challenges including the UK recession of the early 1990s, the Asian 

Financial Crisis, the September 11 attack on the New York World Trade 

Centre, the Global Financial Crisis, COVID-19 and more recently the 

ongoing war in Ukraine.
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This report marks your Company’s thirtieth consecutive annual dividend 

increase, a period which has seen considerable change and many 

major events. The cumulative effect has driven substantial income 

return to Shareholders as well as share price appreciation. 

Review of the UK Stock Market 
Our financial year started amongst the fall out from the Truss-Kwarteng 

‘Mini-Budget’ which had been so badly received by investment markets. 

The rapid replacement of the Prime Minister and Chancellor of the 

Exchequer stabilised the UK’s political position and restored some 

confidence in the bond market. This in turn allowed the FTSE All-Share 

to record a strong gain through until mid-February, but at this point the 

recovery was complete and the equity market did not make any further 

progress for the rest of the year.

The UK and most other developed economies, last year had to face 

the twin difficulties of higher inflation and very pedestrian rates of 

economic growth. The CPI in the UK peaked at 11.1% in October 2022 

and has since been on a downward trajectory, falling to 6.7% for the 

year to September 2023. This decline has been broadly in line with the 

forecasts of the Bank of England, but its concerns have been around 

the extent to which inflation might persist in the economy for longer by 

becoming embedded in wage settlements. The latest inflation adjusted 

GDP figures show the UK economy has grown by less than 0.6% over 

the year to September 2023, so although it is clear that inflation 

is not the result of excess economic growth, the Bank of England 

has continued to raise short term base rates in order to dampen 

inflationary pressure and reduce expectations of future inflation. Base 

rates started the year at 2.25% and finished the year at 5.25%, while 

the yields on the 10 year UK government bond for the same dates 

were 4.1% and 4.4%. While the move in bond yields between the start 

and end points of the year is fairly modest, the longer term move over 

the last three years from a yield of 0.2% in September 2020 is very 

significant and a medium term headwind for equity markets.

“We are confident in the companies in which we have invested as they have an 
attractive balance of good products or services with strong market positions, 
sound finances and quality management.”

Fund Manager’s Review

Julian Cane, Fund Manager

Individual Stock Performance
Table A overleaf shows the list of the strongest and weakest share 

prices over the last year. Amongst the ten strongest share prices over 

the last year, there are five companies which featured on the list of 

the ten weakest share prices during the previous year. As was said 

in last year’s annual report, we felt that the falls in share prices of 

those companies were not justified by fundamental factors and that 

consequently those share prices were attractively valued. We had been 

selectively adding to some of those holdings and therefore the rebound 

in those share prices was particularly positive.

The company in the portfolio with the strongest share price, Burford 

Capital, is a ground breaking business in the UK, providing finance to 

companies to pursue litigation claims. The strength of its share price 

over the last year is largely a result of its successful claim in the US 

courts against the Government of Argentina over the nationalisation 

of YPF, an oil business. This is a large, high profile case, which could 

potentially be worth multiples of Burford’s market capitalisation, but the 

case does rather obscure the growing success the rest of the business 

has had.

The list of the weakest share prices shows the impact of rising interest 

rates as well as some company specific effects. Forterra, a brick 

manufacturer, LXi REIT, an owner of property, and OSB, a mortgage 

provider, have all been impacted by the rise in interest rates, but we 

believe in each case the share price moves exaggerate any change in 

the companies’ long term value. These companies are strategically well 

positioned with sound finances and their greater intrinsic value should 

be realised in future.

St. James’s Place was a new addition to the portfolio during the year, 

and the timing of the purchase was clearly poor as it was before 

the recent fee restructuring. St. James’s Place’s level of customer 

satisfaction has been relatively high and its charges, which were 

historically broadly in line with its peer group, are being restructured to 
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be more customer friendly. We will monitor carefully how this evolution 

develops.

The fall in the share price of Pennon Group was partly in response to 

rising bond yields, but also ahead of the five yearly determination by 

OFWAT of future pricing. This has proven to be relatively benign with the 

share price starting to recover some of its losses.

Table B, below, shows the ten stocks that made the greatest 

contribution (both positive and negative) to our performance relative 

to that of the Index. This analysis builds on Table A as it also takes 

into account the impact of the size of the investment position in the 

portfolio as well as the size and performance of every stock included in 

the Benchmark Index.

In addition to the positive contributions from the strongest performers 

as shown in Table A, we can also see the benefit of not having invested 

in Anglo American and Vodafone, whose share prices were very weak, 

and similarly the benefit of not having a full index weighting in British 

American Tobacco.

The list of the negative contributors shows the effect of not owning 

three large companies that performed well, HSBC, Rolls-Royce and 3i, 

as well as the impact of the share price falls on some of the larger 

interest rate sensitive holdings noted previously.

Table A: Absolute performance of stocks held during the year

10 Strongest share prices
Portfolio Average 

Weight (%)
Total Return to  

the Company (%) 10 Weakest share prices
Portfolio Average 

Weight (%)
Total Return to  

the Company (%)

Burford Capital 2.92 71.94 IG Group 1.57 -10.05

Vistry Group 3.75 67.58 FDM Group (Holdings) 0.44 -11.92

CRH 2.07 59.31 British American Tobacco 1.52 -13.36

Melrose Industries 0.64 53.52 Smith & Nephew 0.97 -13.80

Howden Joinery Group 1.84 50.74 OSB Group 5.88 -14.10

Ferguson 1.40 49.16 Diageo 4.40 -18.20

Intermediate Capital Group 3.76 48.96 Pennon Group 1.24 -21.35

Babcock International Group 0.45 48.38 LXI REIT 2.92 -22.16

XP Power 1.22 47.70 St. James’s Place 0.64 -28.05

Sage Group 0.79 45.17 Forterra 1.42 -31.79

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investments

Table B: Relative to the Benchmark Index

Top 10  
Contributors

Portfolio 
Average 
Weight 

(%)

Average 
Weight 

Relative to 
the Index (%)

Total 
Return  
to the 

Company 
(%)

Contribution 
To Relative 

Performance 
(%)

Bottom 10 
Contributors

Portfolio 
Average 
Weight 

(%)

Average 
Weight 

Relative to 
the Index (%)

Total 
Return  
to the 

Company 
(%)

Contribution 
To Relative 

Performance 
(%)

Vistry Group 3.75 3.64 67.58 1.52 Diageo 4.40 1.01 -18.20 -0.34

Burford Capital 2.92 2.92 71.94 1.30 IG Group 1.57 1.45 -10.05 -0.34

Intermediate Capital 
Group

3.76 3.60 48.96 0.94 3i Group 0.00 -0.68 – -0.35

Howden Joinery 
Group

1.84 1.69 50.74 0.47 Pennon Group 1.24 1.15 -21.35 -0.37

Ferguson 1.40 1.40 49.16 0.39 Beazley 3.54 3.38 0.34 -0.38

Anglo American 0.00 -1.40 – 0.38 Rolls-Royce Holdings 0.00 -0.50 – -0.50

British American 
Tobacco

1.52 -1.31 -13.36 0.38 Forterra 1.42 1.40 -31.79 -0.74

CRH 2.07 0.85 59.31 0.35 LXI REIT 2.92 2.85 -22.16 -1.13

XP Power 1.22 1.20 47.70 0.31 HSBC Holdings 0.00 -4.93 – -1.25

Vodafone Group 0.00 -0.89 – 0.31 OSB Group 5.88 5.80 -14.10 -1.37

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investments
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Portfolio Turnover
When we analyse and evaluate the companies in which we wish to 

invest, we do this with a long term perspective. We are not looking for 

short term trading opportunities or where there are only relatively small 

uplifts in value, but for companies which have considerable potential 

to drive long term value. Although this value could be realised rapidly, 

it is generally our intention to be stable, supportive shareholders and 

for our returns to be driven by a mixture of share price appreciation, 

dividends and dividend growth.

Net total sales from the portfolio last year were £25 million and net 

total new investments (excluding share buy backs) were £17 million. 

The total number of investee companies in the portfolio remained 

at 47, as 3 companies left the portfolio and were replaced by 3 new 

additions. Compared to average assets of £322 million, the rate of 

turnover was 7%.

Revenue and Earnings Per Share
Our portfolio’s income has continued to grow from the low point caused 

by the COVID-19 pandemic, but within this, there has been considerable 

variation in the growth rates of the dividends paid by our investee 

companies. Below is a table showing the dividend growth rates and 

dividend yield of those stocks that were the ten largest contributors to 

income last year.

Dividend Growth and Yield from the Ten Largest Contributors to 
Income 

% increase in 
dividends per share

dividend yield  
as at 30.9.23

OSB 7.4% 9.8%

Legal & General 5.0% 8.8%

Vistry -8.3% 6.0%

Rio Tinto -38.9% 6.2%

Intermediate Capital 2.0% 5.6%

Phoenix 4.8% 10.8%

LXi REIT 23.9% 7.0%

Unilever 4.1% 3.7%

AstraZeneca No change 2.6%

British American Tobacco 4.8% 8.8%

The increase in dividend from OSB of 7.4% reflects only the ordinary 

dividends paid by the company. During the course of the year OSB also 

paid a special dividend to reflect the exceptional returns the company has 

been making and the fact it does not need the capital for further growth or 

to strengthen its finances. Including the special dividend that we received 

during the year takes the dividend increase to 46.6% and a yield of 13.3%.

Valuation
The most straightforward valuation measures for equity markets are the 

price/earnings multiple and the dividend yield. The price/earnings 

(“p/e”) multiple relates the price of an index (or share) to the earnings 

that are generated by the index (or share) in a year, so all other things 

being equal a lower p/e is a sign of a cheaper investment. The dividend 

yield by contrast records the cash dividend received in a year from an 

investment relative to the price, so a higher yield will be more attractive 

than a lower yield.

The charts below and overleaf show how these ratios have changed 

over 30 years, together with an average for this period. These are far 

from perfect measures of value and are backward looking, but do have 

the benefit of consistency and a long data series which covers a number 

of economic cycles. On both measures, UK equities appear to be more 

cheaply valued than the historic average.

There were substantial cuts in the dividends paid by Rio Tinto and GSK. 

Rio Tinto has explicitly linked its dividend to its profitability, which in turn 

is closely linked to commodity prices, in particular, that of iron ore. A 

fall in profits at Rio Tinto therefore resulted in lower dividends, but the 

dividend yield is still very attractive.

The fall in dividend from GSK stems from its demerger of Haleon and the 

rebasing of the dividend to reflect the smaller size of the business that is 

left, but from this lower level the dividend should now grow.

FTSE All-Share - Average Price Earnings Ratio

FTSE All-Share - Price Earnings Ratio

FTSE All-Share Index – Price/Earnings Ratio (%)
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Source: Refinitiv Eikon
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Yields from investment assets (%)
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Source: Refinitiv EikonUK Benchmark Bond 10 Year Yield

FTSE All-Share – Dividend Yield UK Clearing Banks Base Rate

As a further comparison, it is worth looking at the dividend yield from 

equities versus the yields available from alternative assets. This clearly 

shows how the yield on the 10 year UK government bond reduced from 

over 8% in 1994 to less than 1% in 2020 with the Bank of England’s 

base rate following a fairly similar course of travel. Equity yields by 

contrast have remained in a much smaller range over the period, thus 

suggesting that the headline yields on bonds and cash may not be that 

instrumental in determining the valuation of equities. The sharp recent 

rise in both bond and cash yields definitely marks a significant change 

to the post Great Financial Crisis period that started in 2008/09 as 

rising bond and cash yields do now have a competitive investment 

yield and so provide a headwind to equities for the first time in well 

over a decade. However, the long term perspective shown in the chart 

indicates that bond and cash yields of around 5% were prevalent in the 

market between 2000 and 2008, when equity yields were even lower. 

This suggests there is no inherent reason why equity yields would need 

to be higher now (and therefore prices lower) just because interest 

rates and bond yields have themselves moved higher. 

Outlook
It is an important distinction to make that stock market prices and 

company results are all reported in nominal terms, while economic 

growth is always quoted in real terms, after adjusting for inflation. In the 

short term and during periods of low inflation the distinction may not be 

so important, but in periods of higher inflation and over longer periods 

of time, it is an important factor that should help to give investors in 

equities some protection from inflation, and it is a point of difference 

when comparing equities against bonds, where returns are fixed.  

Last year, the UK economy barely grew in real terms as inflation rose 

into double digits, yet the stock market rose reasonably strongly; 

this should be seen as an example of equities giving protection from 

inflation. The rise in the market was also not a consequence of its 

valuation changing materially. Arguably the largest factor driving an 

investor’s future returns is the price they pay for the investment. The 

valuation charts discussed hopefully give Shareholders confidence that 

the UK stock market remains attractively valued. The immediate future 

course of inflation is expected to decrease in the UK and most major 

markets, which combined with lower rates of interest, should help to 

provide some more support to equities.

At times there can be an undue focus put on forecasts for the UK 

economy, with this being assumed to be a major determinant in the 

subsequent performance of UK shares, but the UK equity market and 

your portfolio derive well over 50% of their income from overseas. Even 

beyond the geographical mis-match, individual company performance 

is mostly driven by very company specific factors. In this regard, we are 

confident in the companies in which we have invested as they have 

an attractive balance of good products or services with strong market 

positions, sound finances and quality management.

Julian Cane 

Fund Manager 

29 November 2023

Source: Refinitiv Eikon

FTSE All-Share Index – Dividend Yield (%)
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Purpose and strategy 
The purpose of CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust (the 

“Company”) is to provide investors with long term capital and income 

growth.  

The strategy is to invest in companies, mainly in the FTSE All-Share 

Index, that have good long term prospects with attractive returns on 

invested capital. 

The investment philosophy and processes underpinning this strategy 

are set out on pages 22 and 23. 

The aim is to position the Company as a compelling investment choice, 

particularly for retail investors.

Business model 
CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust PLC is a listed, closed-end 

investment company, known as an investment trust. 

The Company’s Board of non-executive Directors looks after the 

interests of Shareholders. It has the responsibility for decisions on 

strategy, corporate governance, risk and control assessment, setting 

policies as detailed on pages 33 to 35, setting limits on gearing and 

asset allocation, monitoring investment performance and setting and 

monitoring marketing budgets. 

Within these policies the management of the Company’s assets 

including asset allocation, gearing, stock selection and portfolio 

risk, has been contractually delegated to Columbia Threadneedle 

Investment Business Limited (the “Manager”). 

As an investment trust, the Company does not need to sell investments 

to meet redemptions. This allows the Company to take a longer term 

view and to remain invested whatever the market conditions. 

Having the ability to borrow to invest is also a significant advantage 

over a number of other investment fund structures. Borrowing allows 

the Company to have more resources to invest on behalf of its 

Shareholders.

Alignment of values and culture
In addition to strong investment performance from the Manager, the 

Board expects it to adhere to the very highest standards of responsible 

investment and that its values, culture, expectations and aspirations 

align with its own. As an original signatory to the United Nations 

Principles for Responsible Investment (“UNPRI”), the Manager has 

achieved the maximum rating of A+ for key areas of its responsible 

investment approach and active ownership in listed equities. 

The Board considers the Manager’s culture and values as part of the 

annual assessment of its performance and in determining whether its 

reappointment is in the interests of Shareholders. As part of Columbia 

Threadneedle Investments, the Manager can be expected to continue 

its long established culture of diversity, collaboration and inclusion, all 

of which are anchored by shared values, in keeping with the Board’s 

own expectations and beliefs.

Responsible investment impact
The Company’s ESG approach is set out on page 24 and helps deliver 

sustainable investment performance over the longer term. 

The direct carbon impact of the Company’s activities is minimal as it 

has no employees, premises, physical assets or operations either as a 

producer or a provider of goods or services, while its Shareholders are 

effectively its customers. In consequence, it does not directly generate 

any greenhouse gas or other emissions or pollution. The Company’s 

indirect impact occurs through the investments that it makes and this 

is mitigated by the Manager’s responsible investment approach as 

explained on pages 24 to 27.

Manager evaluation
Investment performance and responsible ownership are fundamental 

to delivering sustainable long term growth in capital and income for 

Shareholders and the Board therefore exercises a robust annual 

evaluation of the Manager’s performance.  

The process for the evaluation for the year under review and the basis 

on which the decision to reappoint the Manager for another year are 

set out on page 53.  

Purpose, Strategy and Business Model
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Fund Manager and management of the assets
As Fund Manager on behalf of the Manager, Julian Cane is responsible 

for developing and implementing the Company’s investment strategy 

with the Board and for the day-to-day management of the portfolio. He 

is supported in carrying out research and in the selection of stocks by 

a team of investment professionals.

Managing risks and opportunities
Like all businesses, investment opportunities do not come without 

risks and uncertainties and so the performance of the Manager is 

monitored at each Board meeting on a number of levels. In addition 

to managing the Company’s assets, the ancillary functions of 

administration, secretarial, accounting and marketing services are 

all carried out by the Manager. The Board receives reports on the 

investment portfolio; the wider portfolio structure; risks; compliance 

with borrowing covenants; income, dividend and expense forecasts; any 

errors; internal control procedures; marketing; Shareholder and other 

stakeholder issues, including the Company’s share price premium or 

discount to NAV; and accounting and regulatory updates. 

Shareholders can assess the financial performance from the Key 

Performance Indicators that are set out on page 15 and, on page 28, 

can see what the Directors consider to be the Principal Risks that the 

Company faces. The risk of not achieving the Company’s objective or 

of consistently underperforming the Benchmark or competitors, may 

arise from any or all of inappropriate asset allocation, poor market 

conditions, ineffective or expensive gearing, poor cost control, loss of 

assets and service provider governance issues. In addition to regularly 

monitoring the Manager’s performance, its commitment and available 

resources and its systems and controls, the Directors also review the 

services provided by other principal suppliers. These include JP Morgan 

Chase Bank, (the “Custodian”) and JP Morgan Europe Limited (the 

“Depositary”) in their duties towards the safeguarding of the assets. 

The principal policies that support the strategy are set out from page 

33, whilst the Fund Manager’s Review of activity in the year begins 

on page 9. In light of the strategy, investment processes and control 

environment (relating to both the oversight of the Company’s service 

providers and the effectiveness of the risk mitigation activities), the 

Board has set out on page 38 its reasonable expectation that the 

Company will continue in operation and meet its liabilities over the 

coming five years.

Communications and marketing with key stakeholders
The Company fosters good working relationships with its key 

stakeholders: Shareholders, the Manager, suppliers and service 

providers. As an investment trust, the Company has no employees. 

With approximately 90% of the shares held by retail investors with share 

saving schemes and platforms representing an increasingly significant 

and growing element of the Shareholder base, the Board remains 

focused with the Manager on promoting its success to this audience. All 

appropriate channels are used including the internet and social media. 

During the year, the Company employed an external agency to review its 

marketing strategy. The outcomes of this review will drive the marketing 

strategy of the Company for retail investors for future years.

Communication with Shareholders includes reporting the Company’s 

activities and performance through the publication of its financial 

statements. The vast majority of Shareholders and CT Savings Plan 

investors prefer not to receive such detailed information. To avoid losing 

this essential line of communication, we instead make available a short 

notification summary of the main highlights of our half yearly and annual 

results. Shareholders and CT Savings Plan investors are able to locate 

the full information on our website, ctcapitalandincome.co.uk. 

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company provides a forum, 

both formal and informal, for Shareholders to meet and discuss issues 

with the Directors and the Fund Manager. Through the Manager, the 

Company ensures that the CT Savings Plan investors are encouraged 

to attend and vote at AGMs alongside those who hold their shares as 

members on the main Shareholder register. Details of the proxy voting 

results on each resolution are published on the Company’s website 

where there is also a link to the daily publication of our NAV and our 

monthly factsheet.  

The Company holds a five yearly continuation vote. At the AGM held on  

9 March 2023, Shareholders voted 99.5% in favour of the continuation 

of the Company. In advance of the vote, during 2022, the Board 

surveyed investors who held the Company’s shares within the CT 

Savings Plans. Common themes amongst responses included 

the importance of performance, dividend growth, low fees and the 

reputation of the Manager. The next continuation vote is scheduled to 

be held in 2028.

The Company’s next AGM will be held at 12.30pm on 7 March 2024 at 

Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London, EC4N 6AG.

The Manager also has in place a programme of visits designed to 

foster good relations with wealth managers and underlying investors 

in promoting the Company’s investment proposition. These visits are 

reported regularly to the Board. The Chair and Senior Independent 

Director are available to meet with major investors on request. 
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(1) See Alternative Performance Measures on pages 91 and 92 for explanation.

Ongoing charges as at 30 September

2023  
%

2022  
%

2021 
%

Ongoing charges (1) 0.66 0.59 0.59
This shows whether the Company is being run efficiently. It measures the 
running costs as a percentage of the average net assets. 

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited

Share price (discount)/premium to NAV per share as at 30 September

2023 
 %

2022 
 %

2021 
 %

(Discount) / premium (1) (1.2) 0.8 (2.0) This is the difference between the share price and the NAV per share. It is 
an indicator of excess supply over demand in the case of a discount and 
the excess demand over supply in the case of a premium.

Average discount to NAV during the 
year (1) (3.1) (1.8) (1.6)

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited

Compound annual dividend growth

1 Year  
%

3 Years 
%

5 Years 
%

10 Years 
%

Company dividend 3.0 1.8 2.1 2.5 This shows the Company's dividend growth which is compared to the 
changes in the UK Consumer Price Index ("CPI") and the average dividend 
paid by the broad UK stock market, as represented by the FTSE All-Share 
Index.

Inflation (CPI) 6.7 6.6 4.4 2.9

FTSE All-Share Index - implied dividend 9.1 1.7 0.0 3.0

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited, Refinitiv Eikon and Office of National Statistics

Total return performance

1 Year  
%

3 Years 
%

5 Years 
%

10 Years 
%

NAV per share (1) 13.1 35.5 12.7 74.4
This is used to measure the performance of the Manager in terms of 
Capital and Income growth by comparison to the return of the benchmark 
index.

Benchmark index: FTSE All-Share 13.8 39.8 19.7 71.8

Share Price (1) 10.9 34.5 10.5 71.6
This is used to measure the return to Shareholders in terms of capital 
growth and the dividends they have received in comparison to the return of 
the benchmark index.

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited and Refinitiv Eikon

The Board assesses its performance in meeting the Company’s objective against the following key 
measures. Commentary can be found in the Chair’s Statement and Fund Manager’s Review.

Key Performance Indicators 
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Twenty Largest Holdings 

2023 2022

2023 
% of total 

investments

2023 
Value 

£’000s 

2022 
Value 

£’000s 

1 2 AstraZeneca (Health Care) 
A major international pharmaceutical company. Its pipeline of new drugs is proving 
successful and producing strong growth now with more potential further out.

5.8 19,647 17,892

2 18 Vistry Group (Consumer Discretionary) 
The company will be refocusing solely on its partnership operations, where it 
builds new homes in conjunction with others, such as local authorities, housing 
associations and Homes England. This should make the business less exposed 
to the economic cycle than traditional housebuilders.

5.0 16,872 6,297

3 8 RELX (Consumer Discretionary) 
RELX is a global provider of information based analytics and decision tools for 
professional and business customers across a range of industries. It also has 
a leading global events business. It generates high returns which we expect will 
improve further.

4.5 14,985 11,885

4 1 OSB Group (Financials) 
This specialist challenger bank continues to generate good returns and to grow 
well at carefully controlled risk levels. The sharp rise in interest rates did bring 
about a substantial accounting hit to profits this year, but we believe the longer-
term results should not be impacted much.

4.4 14,733 18,918

5 11 Intermediate Capital (Financials) 
A specialist lender to private companies both on its own behalf and increasingly 
for third party investors. It has been generating good returns despite the difficult 
conditions and has great long term potential to grow the business further.

4.2 14,107 10,023

6 4 Unilever (Consumer Staples) 
A leading manufacturer of branded fast moving consumer goods with more than 
half of its sales in emerging markets which have greater growth potential.

4.1 13,809 14,288

7 3 Diageo (Consumer Staples) 
The largest producer of premium branded spirits in the world and also a major 
brewer. The strength of the brands and substantial exposure to markets with 
greater growth potential should lead to attractive returns.

3.9 13,198 16,517

8 15 Burford Capital (Financials)* 
Burford is the leading international provider of litigation funding. It is a fast 
evolving and growing market with attractive returns for those able to navigate its 
complexities well. 

3.9 13,180 7,744

9 6 Rio Tinto (Basic Materials) 
One of the world’s foremost mining companies. It has a diversified asset base, 
but its most significant interests are in low cost, high quality iron ore. It is our 
only current exposure to the mining sector.

3.8 12,935 12,240

10 9 Legal and General (Financials) 
A focus on generating a strong and growing cash flow allows this UK life assurer 
to pay an attractive and growing dividend. Although a slowing economy and 
rising interest rates are a more challenging background, concerns over its credit 
exposure and solvency appear overdone.

3.6 12,015 11,691
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2023 2022

2023 
% of total 

investments

2023 
Value 

£’000s 

2022 
Value 

£’000s 

11 12 Shell (Energy) 
A leading international oil exploration, production and marketing group. For a while 
the industry struggled to generate good returns, but a higher oil price is causing 
profits and returns to increase sharply.

3.3 11,075 9,548

12 5 Beazley (Financials) 
A specialist insurer with a diverse underwriting portfolio that has historically 
generated good returns and growth. It has become increasingly recognised 
for the strength of its cyber insurance operations, which complement its other 
underwriting activities.

3.3 11,060 12,408

13 10 Compass (Consumer Discretionary) 
Compass is the global leader in outsourced catering. A structural shift towards 
more outsourcing was disrupted by the pandemic, but good rates of growth have 
returned. It has unrivalled scale helping it to offer its clients great value.

2.8 9,400 10,108

14 7 LXi REIT (Real Estate) 
This company invests in commercial property assets, mostly in the UK. These are 
100% occupied on very long leases, 98% of which are inflation linked or with fixed 
uplifts. Its debt is all either fixed or with a capped rate and the tenant covenants 
are strong.

2.6 8,742 11,919

15 17 BP (Energy) 
A leading international oil exploration, production and marketing group, returns 
are improving with a higher oil price.

2.5 8,502 6,930

16 24 CRH (Industrials) 
CRH manufactures and supplies a wide range of building materials, used across 
the range from public infrastructure projects to residential homes. It operates in 
more than 30 countries, with the US accounting for over half of sales.

2.4 8,176 5,528

17 14 GSK (Health Care) 
After many years of lacklustre performance, current management is under 
significant pressure to reinvigorate the business. The demerger of the health care 
business (Haleon) focuses more attention on the revival of the pharmaceutical 
business.

2.4 8,130 7,835

18 16 Phoenix (Financials) 
A UK domestic life assurer growing both by taking on new customers and through 
taking part in consolidation of the sector. Increased scale drives operational 
and capital efficiencies and diversification benefits that underpin an attractive 
dividend.

2.1 6,941 7,582

19 30 Howden Joinery (Consumer Discretionary) 
This business designs, manufactures and sells fitted kitchens, mostly in the UK.  
Its integrated value chain and efficiency make it a high returning business with 
the potential to grow and improve returns further.

2.0 6,775 4,949

20 28 Round Hill Music Royalty Fund (Financials) 
This business owns high quality music intellectual property which generates a 
growing income, particularly from digital streaming. As at our year end, it was in 
the process of being taken over by another music industry business.

1.9 6,308 5,096

The value of the twenty largest holdings represents 68.5% (30 September 2022: 67.1%) of the Company’s total investments.

*Quoted on the Alternative Investment Market in the UK.
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Performance  
of this 

sector in the 
portfolio 

% 

Performance 
of this sector 

in the FTSE 
All-Share 

Index 
%

Average 
Portfolio 

weighting 
% 

Average FTSE  
All-Share 
weighting 

%

Impact on 
relative 

performance 
%

Energy
The oil majors BP and Shell together represent 11% of the 
FTSE All-Share Index and therefore very nearly all of this 
industry segment. They both gained strongly in value last year 
(+28.1% and +20.6% respectively), helped by the rising price 
of oil. The price of a barrel of Brent crude was at the same 
level of $75 at the end of June as it was at the start of our 
year, but experienced a sharp rise to over $90 by the end of 
September. Our investment weight in those companies and 
the industry is less than that of the Index as we observe that 
the oil price and therefore returns from the industry is 
unpredictable and it is not clear how companies will manage 
the transition of the majority of their existing operations to a 
zero-carbon future, particularly with the risk of governments 
becoming more interventionist.

+23.7 +21.3 5.2 11.4 –0.3 

Basic Materials
Our only investment in this industry is Rio Tinto (+12.3%). We 
believe that amongst its peers it has some of the highest 
quality mining assets and that over the long-term these 
should provide attractive returns and performance superior to 
the industry average.

+12.3 +3.5 3.8 7.8 +0.7 

Industrials
Our performance within this industry grouping was reasonably 
strong, but didn’t match the rise of the same segment in the 
Index. Ferguson and CRH were the two most significant 
contributors to performance (+49.2% and +59.3% 
respectively) as they are not only showing operational 
strength but are both moving their listings from the UK and 
heading towards the more highly rated US markets. Our 
investments in Babcock International, Melrose Industries and 
XP Power all also rose by around 50% during the year, but our 
industry return was held back by the brick manufacturers 
Forterra (-31.8%) and Ibstock (-8.2%) as well as not owning 
Rolls-Royce (+217.4%) and BAE Systems (+30.0%).

+19.7 +25.2 12.8 11.4 –0.4

Consumer Staples
The performance of one of our larger investments in this area, 
Diageo (-18.2%) was disappointing on a combination of 
weaker than expected trading and a lower valuation. Our 
strongest performer was Coca-Cola HBC (+22.1%) which was 
rebounding from its weak performance in the prior year, 
helped by strong growth in its emerging markets.

–2.4 –1.7 13.8 15.5 +0.2

Investment Portfolio by Sector
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Performance  
of this 

sector in the 
portfolio 

% 

Performance 
of this sector 

in the FTSE 
All-Share 

Index 
%

Average 
Portfolio 

weighting 
% 

Average FTSE  
All-Share 
weighting 

%

Impact on 
relative 

performance 
%

Health Care
Our long-standing investments in the pharmaceutical 
companies AstraZeneca (+14.0%) and GSK (+18.9%) 
performed reasonably well, but our newer investment in Smith 
& Nephew (-13.8% since purchase) has struggled somewhat.  
The business is in a turn-around phase with a relatively new 
Chief Executive and we believe the longer-term potential is 
considerable.

+11.6 +15.4 9.0 11.3 –0.3

Consumer Discretionary
This is a wide-ranging industry, including retail, travel, media 
and housebuilding. It was the strongest contributing industry 
in our portfolio, led by the recovery of Vistry (+67.6%) and 
Howden Joinery (+50.7%). Both of these had been particularly 
depressed at the start of the financial year by rising bond 
yields and the UK’s political chaos.

+36.7 +27.0 14.3 11.3 +1.5

Telecommunications
Our investment process has long led us to be sceptical of 
investments in the telecommunications industry. It is plain 
that demand for telecommunications products and services 
has increased materially over many years, but a mixture of 
poor pricing power and heavy required levels of investment 
has so far stopped companies being able to turn this demand 
and growth into attractive returns for shareholders.

– –13.7 0.0 1.5 +0.4

Utilities
Our longer-standing investments in National Grid (+10.9%) 
and SSE (+11.5%) performed adequately last year, but our 
newer investment in Pennon, bought in September 2022 
(-21.4%) was disappointing. We had bought it at a discount to 
its Regulatory Asset Value, which has historically been an 
attractive price point, but continued adverse publicity and 
concerns about future regulation drove the share price lower.

+0.5 +14.8 4.0 3.5 –0.5

Financials
There were two major factors that held back performance in 
this industry group. First, we have no investment in HSBC 
(+46.0%), which was the strongest performing of the UK 
banks and secondly, as our exposure to UK domestic banks is 
mostly in OSB (-14.1%), which had a profit warning as a result 
of rising interest rates. These two factors countered the 
considerable success of our investments in Burford Capital 
(+71.9%) and Intermediate Capital (+49.0%) and the take-
over of Round Hill Music Royalty Fund (+31.2%).

+11.9 +17.2 30.5 22.7 –1.2
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Performance  
of this 

sector in the 
portfolio 

% 

Performance 
of this sector 

in the FTSE 
All-Share 

Index 
%
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% 

Average FTSE  
All-Share 
weighting 

%

Impact on 
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performance 
%

Technology
Our only investment in this industry is Sage Group which rose 
strongly in the year on the back of accelerating growth and 
expanding margins.

+45.2 +23.0 0.8 1.2 +0.1 

Real Estate
Within this industry segment, there was a considerable range 
of outcomes for our investments, from the strength of Sirius 
Real Estate (+29.0%) to the fall of LXi REIT (-22.2%), with 
LondonMetric Property (+3.9%) in between. Rising interest 
rates and bond yields provided a headwind for property 
valuations, but the movements of some share prices to large 
discounts to the revised property valuations seems 
excessive.

–6.7 –0.0 5.8 2.5 –0.9 

The figures shown in the first two columns compare the total return of the group of investments held within the portfolio in each 
Industry sector against the total return of all Industry sector constituents of the FTSE All-Share Index over the year to  
30 September 2023. All figures shown are before operating costs and the effect of gearing.   
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30 September 2023

Quoted investments Holding
Value 

£’000s
% of total 

investments
UNITED KINGDOM – EQUITIES
AstraZeneca 177,000 19,647 5.8
Babcock International 500,000 2,067 0.6
Beazley 2,000,000 11,060 3.3
BP 1,600,000 8,502 2.5
Bridgepoint 500,000 963 0.3
British American Tobacco 180,000 4,638 1.4
Burberry 185,000 3,531 1.1
Burford Capital* 1,165,362 13,180 3.9
Close Brothers Group 455,000 4,031 1.2
Coca-Cola HBC 145,000 3,260 1.0
Compass 470,000 9,400 2.8
CRH 180,000 8,176 2.4
Diageo 435,000 13,198 3.9
DS Smith 1,272,727 3,654 1.1
Experian 156,000 4,198 1.2
FDM 226,881 1,178 0.4
Ferguson 40,000 5,426 1.6
Forterra 2,550,000 3,794 1.1
GSK 545,000 8,130 2.4
Hipgnosis Songs Fund 6,500,000 5,213 1.6
Howden Joinery 920,000 6,775 2.0
Ibstock 3,400,000 4,842 1.4
IG 740,000 4,758 1.4
Intermediate Capital 1,020,000 14,107 4.2
Intertek 100,000 4,111 1.2
Legal and General 5,400,000 12,015 3.6
LondonMetric Property 3,420,474 5,883 1.8
LXi REIT 9,628,000 8,742 2.6
M&G 1,100,000 2,170 0.6
National Grid 590,000 5,782 1.7
OSB Group 4,500,000 14,733 4.4
Pearson 500,000 4,342 1.3
Pennon Group 735,000 4,303 1.3
Phoenix 1,439,776 6,941 2.1
RELX 540,000 14,985 4.5
Rio Tinto 250,000 12,935 3.8
Round Hill Music Royalty Fund 6,813,160 6,308 1.9
Sage 332,716 3,291 1.0
Shell 425,000 11,075 3.3
Sirius Real Estate 4,728,140 4,073 1.2
Smith & Nephew 500,000 5,113 1.5
SSE 210,000 3,380 1.0
St James's Place 350,000 2,913 0.9
Unilever 340,000 13,809 4.1
Vistry Group 1,850,000 16,872 5.0
XP Power 200,000 4,720 1.4

UNITED KINGDOM TOTAL 
EQUITIES 332,224 98.8

30 September 2023

Quoted investments Holding
Value 

£’000s
% of total 

investments
EUROPE (EX UK) – EQUITIES
Heineken 63,000 3,888 1.2

EUROPE (EX UK) TOTAL EQUITY 3,888 1.2

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 336,112 100.0

The number of investments in the portfolio is 47 (2022: 47).

*Quoted on the Alternative Investment Market in the UK.

Investments shown in italics are new additions to the portfolio during the year.

List of Investments
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The Fund Manager’s Investment  
Philosophy and Process 

The Investment Process Focuses on Three Aspects for Each Company

We have been searching out the very best of the UK’s large and 

medium sized businesses since 1992 to give our Shareholders 

access to a range of quality UK stocks in one place. 

We believe share prices may not fully reflect the future prospects and 

returns of companies. We believe it is possible to identify significant 

differences between market prices and a conservative assessment of 

a business’s value. 

By investing in such companies at attractive prices, superior 

investment performance can be generated. In particular, we believe 

that companies with the potential to compound returns at sustainably 

high rates over many years are frequently underestimated by the 

market initially, and are therefore undervalued. The valuations of 

companies can also become attractive because of adverse market 

reaction to short term difficulties or simply because a sector has 

become unfashionable. If companies are able to generate attractive 

returns over long periods, there is evidence the market eventually 

rewards this success with higher valuations.

This philosophy leads naturally to long term investment thinking and 

the generation and preservation of value over the longer term. We 

are not looking to trade shares, nor are we making short term bets 

on market movements, but instead are looking to the longer term. 

Over time, we expect high corporate returns to be reflected in share 

prices, which will in turn benefit further from valuation increases as 

the market recognises the level and sustainability of those returns. 

As shareholders, we are part owners of businesses, and take our 

With an objective to secure long term capital and income growth from a portfolio consisting
mainly of FTSE All-Share companies, we offer Shareholders a reliable income while at the same time 
seeking to grow the size of your investment.

• Understandable
• Durable competitive 

advantages
• Attractive business model
• Strong sustainability 

characteristics

Quality

Valuation Man
ag

em
en

t

• Margin of safety
• Present value of future 

cash flows
• Sustainable superior 

returns
• ESG score embedded 

in proprietary valuation 
method

• Proven operators
• Responsible capital 

allocators
• Aligned interests
• Appropriate incentives
• Strong governance
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Continuous monitoring

Pre-defined 
review triggers

Clear sell 
discipline

Peer review
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Detailed research

Thesis review

>

>>

Implementation of the Investment Process

responsibilities seriously, engaging with the company’s management 

and non-executives if necessary, and voting on all resolutions at 

company meetings.

Risk is often seen as the flipside of return. The standard economic and 

business academic approach to risk measures it in terms of volatility.  

Sharp upward moves in share prices are seen as just as “risky” as an 

equivalent downward move. We prefer an approach which focuses on 

companies with attractive returns and relatively little debt where we 

expect to be able to reduce the risk of a permanent loss of capital.

We carry out detailed analysis of all the companies in which we invest, 

looking in particular at three aspects: the Quality of the company; its 

Management; and the Valuation of the shares. Amongst the most 

important issues examined are a thorough assessment of the  

sustainability of the company’s competitive position and the returns 

it can generate, and the ability of the management team and its 

alignment with shareholders. Integral to our assessment of these 

factors is an analysis of the ESG issues that face the company and 

its responses to them. More detail on this is given on pages 24 to 

27. Our valuation approach focuses on discounted cash flows but is 

pragmatic enough to realise this does not work for all companies in all 

sectors so other valuation methods are also used. Before buying, we 

look at whether the share price is cheap relative to the intrinsic value 

of the business, giving us a margin of safety on the investment.

Our research is conducted in-house and is peer reviewed by the 

wider investment team prior to any purchase decision. This ensures 

the benefit of shared knowledge and experience is brought to bear 

on each investment. Subsequent to a purchase of the shares, the 

progress of the company and its share price will then be monitored 

regularly with in-depth reviews and retesting of the original investment 

thesis particularly if the company or its share price do not perform as 

initially expected.

Like all investors, we are having to make assessments about the 

future and take decisions in the face of uncertainty. There is a real 

possibility of being wrong. We believe that we can mitigate this risk 

by following this long term philosophy, emphasising a number of 

factors: thorough analysis; peer review; the need for a margin of 

safety on purchase; continuous monitoring; and diversification of 

the investment portfolio. Reasons to sell can be driven by positive 

or negative factors: positive, if the value of the company has risen to 

our assessment of its value, or negative, if the assessment of the 

company’s long term value deteriorates significantly. An investment 

may also be sold if, for example, a similar, but cheaper alternative can 

be found or if the size of the investment position has become larger 

than is preferred for risk purposes.

Julian Cane 

Fund Manager 

29 November 2023

“We carefully identify 
companies that are growing 
and profitable today and 
have the strong, sustainable 
foundations to be able to 
continue that profitable 
growth into the future.

We choose to invest in 
companies we strongly 
believe in.”
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Our approach
Responsible Investment issues can present both opportunities and 

threats to the long term investment performance we, the Board, 

aim to deliver to you, our Shareholders. We, believe in the power of 

engaged, long term ownership as a force for positive change. 

We have a Manager that applies high standards of responsible 

investment in managing the investments on behalf of the Company. 

Our approach covers our own governance responsibilities too on 

matters such as the composition of the Board.  

The primary purpose of this report is to provide you with a clear 

understanding of our approach to responsible investment and how it 

is integrated into the Fund Manager’s investment process. We also 

explain our stewardship in terms of:

• engagement with portfolio companies and our voting practice; 

•  how we measure our progress, including with regard to climate 

change; and 

•  how we have performed against those measures through 

milestone examples. 

We recognise the importance of disclosing information that is 

relevant, reliable and, as far as possible, ensuring that it is presented 

in a consistent way from year to year in order that our progress can 

be assessed.  

Our governance responsibilities
The Company’s compliance with the revised AIC Code of Corporate 

Governance is detailed in the Corporate Governance Statement on 

pages 42 to 44. In addition, the Policy Summary statement on pages 

33 to 35 notes the Company’s policies towards board diversity, 

integrity and business ethics, prevention of the facilitation of tax 

evasion and the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Responsible ownership
We and the Manager believe that companies with strong management 

focus on Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) have the 

potential to reduce risks facing their business and deliver sustainable 

performance over the longer term. 

Investee company boards are expected to disclose to their 

shareholders that they are applying appropriate oversight on material 

issues such as labour standards, environmental management and 

tax policies. If we have concerns, we also believe that engaging with 

companies is usually best in the first instance rather than simply 

divesting or excluding investment opportunities. 

Active use of our voting rights is also an important component of 

our stewardship approach. The Manager has been empowered by 

the Board to exercise discretion in the use of the Company’s voting 

rights, in accordance with its own corporate governance policies. 

These policies take a robust line on key governance issues such 

as executive pay and integrate sustainability issues into the voting 

process, particularly climate change.

We recognise that the most material way in which the Company 

can have an impact is through its responsible ownership of its 

investments. We have therefore appointed a manager that engages 

actively with the management of investee companies to encourage 

that high standards of ESG practice are adopted. The Manager 

has long been at the forefront of the investment industry in its 

consideration of these issues and has one of the longest established 

and largest teams focused solely on Responsible Investment.

The Manager is a signatory of the UK Stewardship Code and 

its statement of compliance can be found on its website at 

columbiathreadneedle.com. The Manager is also a signatory to the 

United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment (“UNPRI”) 

under which signatories contribute to the development of a more 

sustainable global financial system. As a signatory, the Manager aims 

to incorporate ESG factors into its investment processes.

As stewards of £315 million of assets, we support positive change. The Company benefits from the 
Manager’s leadership in this field and its £481 billion of assets under management.

Our Approach to Responsible Investment
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In the year under review, the Manager engaged with 16 investee 

companies held by the Company on the range of ESG topics above. 

Labour standards were a key theme for engagement over the reporting 

period. This is a central focus for companies when managing social 

issues. The Manager spoke to companies on potential forced 

labour risks in global supply chains both individually and as part of 

collaborative engagement on requirements of the UK Modern Slavery 

Act. The Manager also engaged with companies on their corporate 

governance practices. Good corporate governance is instrumental to 

supporting the delivery of strategic objectives and in driving sustainable 

performance, as well as maintaining legal requirements and ethical 

standing. Topics raised with investee companies included ESG oversight, 

namely requesting that modern slavery statements be approved at 

board level, and board effectiveness. Another topic of engagement was 

climate change, including Net Zero, energy transition and resilience and 

adaptation.

The Manager’s strategic approach to engagement helps to achieve 

positive outcomes, or ‘milestones’, relating to the targets that 

have been set under each of the sustainable development goals. 

These are instances of change in company practice which they 

rank from one to three stars, three being the highest, based on 

their assessment of the importance of the change. Examples of 

engagement and milestones achieved in the reporting period are set 

out overleaf. 

ESG and the investment process
ESG issues are an integral part of the Manager’s investment process, 

forming part of the assessment of the Quality and Management 

criteria for possible and ongoing investments. The Manager’s 

Responsible Investment team works closely with the Fund Manager 

to create an internally generated assessment of the relevant ESG 

issues for each company. As part of the review process, the Manager 

will also note if the investment is aligned explicitly with any of the UN 

Sustainable Development Goals. Details of these goals can be found 

at www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-

goals/. 

The Manager’s own ESG assessment is cross referenced against 

external sources, for example MSCI ESG Research, to check it is 

comprehensive. There are two main outcomes of this research. 

First, the research is used to initiate discussions with the investee 

company, to clarify the Manager’s understanding of the issues 

involved, to create a dialogue and to encourage higher standards 

where appropriate. In this the Manager may join with other major 

investors in order to be a yet more powerful force to drive change. 

Secondly, it is used to adjust the Manager’s assessment of the 

weighted average cost of capital for the investee company; this is an 

important component of the valuation model, such that companies 

with higher ESG standards will warrant a lower cost of capital 

and in turn a higher valuation, and vice-versa. In these ways, ESG 

affects each of the cornerstones of the investment process, Quality, 

Management and Valuation, as well as driving an ongoing dialogue 

between the Manager and the investee company.

Engagement

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investments

Labour Standards 26

Corporate Governance 17

Climate Change 13

Environmental Standards 12

Human Rights 12

Public Health 9

Business Conduct 1

Issues raised with companies on engagement
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Examples in the reporting period

Unilever 
Unilever has set a new benchmark for the industry in terms of disclosure. The company will disclose the performance of its product 

portfolio against six government endorsed nutrient profiling models and their own internal model. The commitment followed a series 

of collaborative engagement calls that the Manager’s Responsible Investment team participated in coordinated by ShareAction Healthy 

Markets and is an important step in continuing to develop their strategy and targets for healthier products. 

Compass 
Compass published a Global Supplier Code of Conduct outlining expectations for suppliers in relation to food quality and safety. The 

Manager’s Responsible Investment team had engaged the company on this topic in 2021, at the time of the school meals scandal in the 

UK. 

BP 
BP’s Modern Slavery Statement has now been approved by its Board of Directors, as required by the Modern Slavery Act 2015. The 

Manager’s Responsible Investment team engaged with BP as part of a collaborative investor initiative. Adherence to the requirements of 

the Modern Slavery Act signifies a culture of appropriate human rights risk management and places accountability for effectiveness of the 

policy with the Board and senior management. 

CRH 
CRH is the biggest contributor to the portfolio’s carbon emissions.

In November 2022 the Manager’s Responsible Investment team conducted a site visit to CRH’s Platin cement plant and Roadstone quarry in 

Ireland to understand more about its decarbonisation and ESG strategy. The visit continued an ongoing engagement with CRH on its climate 

change and net zero strategy; CRH used the trip to stress the importance of aligning capex with its net zero strategy, and to illustrate to 

investors clearly which levers are being utilised to achieve its target of operation wide net zero emissions by 2030. CRH showcased some 

promising ‘win-win’ products such as reclaimed asphalt (up to 60% recycled materials) and cement with recycled materials and lower clinker 

factor (cost and carbon saving). The Manager is interested to see how the demand for these products grows.

CRH published its updated climate reporting in March 2023, which was a significant improvement on last year’s disclosure, including an 

analysis on physical risks, and clearer assumptions in its scenario analysis. The Manager’s Responsible Investment team has since met with 

the company on two occasions to discuss climate risks and the transition to Net Zero.

Key: As discussed on page 25, stars represent positive outcomes from engagement with three stars being the highest based on the Manager’s assessment of the change.
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Voting on portfolio investments
The Manager’s Corporate Governance Guidelines set out 

expectations of the boards of investee companies in terms of good 

corporate governance. The Board expects to be informed by the 

Manager of any sensitive voting issues involving the Company’s 

investments. The Manager has been empowered by the Board to 

exercise discretion in the use of the Company’s voting rights and 

reports at each meeting to the Board on its voting record. The 

Manager will vote on all investee company resolutions.

The Manager has long been an active and leading voice in support 

of robust corporate governance standards and environmental, social 

and business ethics practices for companies in all jurisdictions 

where the Manager invests. The Manager has supported, and in 

many cases led, the development of high standards of stewardship 

and recognises the UK Stewardship Code 2020 as a significant step 

in the further raising of those standards – indeed under the previous 

Code, the Manager was ranked in the highest tier. 

We expect the Company’s shares to be voted on all holdings where 

possible. During the year, the Manager voted at 53 meetings of 

investee companies held by the Company. With respect to all 

items voted, the Manager supported over 97% of all management 

resolutions. The most contentious issues were director related, 

followed by compensation.

Of all the ESG issues the Manager considers, climate change is 

one of the most important, both in terms of the scale of potential 

impact and in how widespread this impact could be across sectors 

and regions. The Company expects the Manager to incorporate 

considerations around climate change risks and opportunities in its 

investment processes.

In June 2023 the Manager published an update to its 2022 climate 

change report, which details how it manages climate related risks 

and opportunities, in line with the recommendations of the Taskforce 

on Climate related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”).

In the adjacent table, the Company is disclosing the carbon footprint 

of its investments. This measures the amount of greenhouse gas 

emissions produced by each investee company, per US$1m of 

revenue they generate. This is then aggregated for the Company as 

a whole, using the portfolio weights of the investee companies, and 

compared with the Benchmark.

The carbon footprint is a measure of the carbon intensity of the 

companies the Company invests in. Whilst it does not provide a full 

picture of climate risks – since it does not, for instance, capture the 

innovation that companies may be undertaking to find solutions – it 

is a valuable starting point both for analysis and for shareholder 

dialogue. The table highlights that the Company’s portfolio has a 

higher exposure to high carbon emitters than the Benchmark.

2023
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2024 
In 2024 the Manager will continue focusing on its priority engagement themes: climate change; environmental stewardship; public 

health; labour standards; human rights; corporate governance and business conduct. The Manager will identify and prioritise companies 

for engagement based on a number of factors including: the impact of ESG risk and opportunity factors; the investment team’s and 

research analysts’ judgement and expertise; previous engagement track record and level of exposure.

Climate change

The biggest contributor to the portfolio’s carbon emissions was 

CRH. 

In the last year the Manager has intensified its focus on the 

materials and building supplies industry, given this sector’s 

contribution to the overall carbon intensity of the Company’s assets. 

This included the site visit to CRH outlined on page 26. The Manager 

published research on the challenges of net zero cement, and some 

of the potential solutions which will inform its engagement with 

the sector going forward. www.columbiathreadneedle.co.uk/en/

inst/insights/esg-viewpoint-the-challenges-of-realising-zero-carbon-

cement/
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The Board has carried out a robust assessment of the Company’s principal and emerging risks and 
the disclosures in the Annual Report that describe the principal risks, the procedures in place to 
identify emerging risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

The principal risks together with their mitigations are set out in the 

table below. The Board’s processes for monitoring them and identifying 

emerging risks are set out on page 51 and in note 21 to the accounts. 

The global economy continues to suffer considerable disruption due to 

the effects of the war in Ukraine, recent events in Israel and Gaza and 

inflationary pressures.

The Directors continue to review the key risk register for the Company

which identifies the risks that the Company is exposed to, the controls 

in place and the actions being taken to mitigate them.

The principal risks identified as most relevant to the assessment of 

the Company’s future prospects and viability are detailed below. 

Principal Risks and Future Prospects 

Principal Risks Mitigation Actions taken on Principal Risks in the year

Market and Political Risks
Macroeconomic and geopolitical risk including rising international 
tensions arising from the war in Ukraine, dispute in the South 
China Sea and recent events in Israel and Gaza.

The Company has a clearly defined and approved strategy which is reviewed and approved on an annual 
basis. The Board can hold additional board meetings at short notice to discuss the impact of significant 
changes in the macroeconomic and geopolitical environment. The Company maintains a portfolio of 
diversified stocks.

Forward looking stress tests ranging from moderate to extreme scenarios are provided by the Manager to the 
Board to support the Five Year Horizon Statement.

At each meeting of the Board, the Directors consider and discuss the investment performance of the Company with Julian Cane, the Company’s Fund Manager. The Board held its 
annual strategy meeting in July 2023. At this meeting, after due consideration, the Board confirmed that the Company’s strategy remained appropriate.
At the November 2023 Audit and Risk Committee meeting, the Directors reviewed updated forward looking stress tests prepared by the Manager providing support for the Five Year 
Horizon Statement disclosed on page 30.

Investment Performance Risks 
Unfavourable markets or asset allocation, sector and stock 
selection and use of gearing and derivatives are inappropriate 
giving rise to investment underperformance as well as impacting 
capacity to pay dividends.

The portfolio of quoted securities is diversified and the Company’s structure enables it to take a long term 
view notwithstanding the current market volatility. Investment policy, performance, revenue and gearing are 
reviewed at each Board meeting. The Manager’s Investment Risk team provides independent oversight on 
investment risk management. The Board regularly considers operating costs along with underlying dividend 
income and the implications for the dividend payment capacity of the Company taking into account revenue 
reserves. The Company had no derivative exposure during the year.

At each meeting of the Board, the Directors consider and discuss the investment performance of the Company with Julian Cane, the Company’s Fund Manager. The Board held a 
strategy meeting in July 2023 which considered, amongst other topics, investment performance and wider economic issues.

Cyber, Legal and Regulatory Risks  
Errors, fraud or control failures at service providers or loss of data 
through increasing cyber threats or business continuity failure could 
damage reputation or investors’ interests or result in losses.

The Board receives regular control reports from the Manager covering risk and compliance including oversight 
of third party service providers. The Board has access to the Manager’s Risk Manager and requires any 
significant issues directly relevant to the Company to be reported immediately. The Depositary is specifically 
liable for loss of any of the Company’s securities and cash held in custody.

The Manager continues to strengthen and develop its Risk, Compliance and Internal Control functions including IT security. Supervision of third party service providers has been 
maintained by the Manager and includes assurances regarding IT security and cyber threat. The Depositary oversees custody of investments and cash and reports to the Company 
in accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”).

Product Strategy Risks  
Inappropriate business or marketing strategy particularly in 
relation to investor needs or sentiment giving rise to a share price 
discount to NAV per share.

To gauge investor sentiment, the Board holds an investor satisfaction survey which is conducted every 
five years ahead of a vote on whether the Company should continue. The Board holds a separate annual 
meeting to consider the Company’s strategy and performance together with opportunities and threats to 
its business. The appointment of the Manager is also reviewed annually in terms of sustainable long term 
growth in capital and income, which includes the growing recognition of the importance of the application of 
high standards of ESG practice. Share buybacks can be employed to help moderate discount volatility, while 
share issues can be made when the shares are trading at a premium. At each Board meeting the Directors 
receive an update on the marketing activities undertaken by the Manager. This includes details of the level of 
maturing Child Trust Funds and the decisions, if any, taken by their holders. The Company’s Broker provides 
periodic updates to the Board relating to the Company’s trading in the wider market.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 9 March 2023, Shareholders voted 99.5% in favour of continuation of the Company. In July 2023, the Board agreed to the continuing appointment 
of the Manager, which has continued to deliver on the Company’s objective. At each Board meeting the marketing activities of the Manager are reported. To encourage the retention of 
maturing CTF funds, the Manager has introduced a Lifetime ISA and undertaken specific marketing targeted at holders of the maturing Child Trust Funds. Further proposals to encourage 
retention are being investigated by the Manager. An external consultancy was appointed to undertake a strategic marketing review for the Company. The outcomes of this process will drive 
the Company’s marketing strategy for future years. During the year 2,445,358 shares were bought back at a small discount to NAV. The Company also re-issued from treasury 75,000 
shares at a small premium to NAV. Since the year end to 28 November 2023, the Company has bought back 600,000 shares to be held in treasury. No shares have been issued. These 
actions moderated share price volatility and enhanced NAV per share for continuing Shareholders.

No change in overall risk during the year.

No change in overall risk during the year.

No change in overall risk during the year.

Increase in overall risk during the year.
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Principal Risks Mitigation Actions taken on Principal Risks in the year

Market and Political Risks
Macroeconomic and geopolitical risk including rising international 
tensions arising from the war in Ukraine, dispute in the South 
China Sea and recent events in Israel and Gaza.

The Company has a clearly defined and approved strategy which is reviewed and approved on an annual 
basis. The Board can hold additional board meetings at short notice to discuss the impact of significant 
changes in the macroeconomic and geopolitical environment. The Company maintains a portfolio of 
diversified stocks.

Forward looking stress tests ranging from moderate to extreme scenarios are provided by the Manager to the 
Board to support the Five Year Horizon Statement.

At each meeting of the Board, the Directors consider and discuss the investment performance of the Company with Julian Cane, the Company’s Fund Manager. The Board held its 
annual strategy meeting in July 2023. At this meeting, after due consideration, the Board confirmed that the Company’s strategy remained appropriate.
At the November 2023 Audit and Risk Committee meeting, the Directors reviewed updated forward looking stress tests prepared by the Manager providing support for the Five Year 
Horizon Statement disclosed on page 30.

Investment Performance Risks 
Unfavourable markets or asset allocation, sector and stock 
selection and use of gearing and derivatives are inappropriate 
giving rise to investment underperformance as well as impacting 
capacity to pay dividends.

The portfolio of quoted securities is diversified and the Company’s structure enables it to take a long term 
view notwithstanding the current market volatility. Investment policy, performance, revenue and gearing are 
reviewed at each Board meeting. The Manager’s Investment Risk team provides independent oversight on 
investment risk management. The Board regularly considers operating costs along with underlying dividend 
income and the implications for the dividend payment capacity of the Company taking into account revenue 
reserves. The Company had no derivative exposure during the year.

At each meeting of the Board, the Directors consider and discuss the investment performance of the Company with Julian Cane, the Company’s Fund Manager. The Board held a 
strategy meeting in July 2023 which considered, amongst other topics, investment performance and wider economic issues.

Cyber, Legal and Regulatory Risks  
Errors, fraud or control failures at service providers or loss of data 
through increasing cyber threats or business continuity failure could 
damage reputation or investors’ interests or result in losses.

The Board receives regular control reports from the Manager covering risk and compliance including oversight 
of third party service providers. The Board has access to the Manager’s Risk Manager and requires any 
significant issues directly relevant to the Company to be reported immediately. The Depositary is specifically 
liable for loss of any of the Company’s securities and cash held in custody.

The Manager continues to strengthen and develop its Risk, Compliance and Internal Control functions including IT security. Supervision of third party service providers has been 
maintained by the Manager and includes assurances regarding IT security and cyber threat. The Depositary oversees custody of investments and cash and reports to the Company 
in accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”).

Product Strategy Risks  
Inappropriate business or marketing strategy particularly in 
relation to investor needs or sentiment giving rise to a share price 
discount to NAV per share.

To gauge investor sentiment, the Board holds an investor satisfaction survey which is conducted every 
five years ahead of a vote on whether the Company should continue. The Board holds a separate annual 
meeting to consider the Company’s strategy and performance together with opportunities and threats to 
its business. The appointment of the Manager is also reviewed annually in terms of sustainable long term 
growth in capital and income, which includes the growing recognition of the importance of the application of 
high standards of ESG practice. Share buybacks can be employed to help moderate discount volatility, while 
share issues can be made when the shares are trading at a premium. At each Board meeting the Directors 
receive an update on the marketing activities undertaken by the Manager. This includes details of the level of 
maturing Child Trust Funds and the decisions, if any, taken by their holders. The Company’s Broker provides 
periodic updates to the Board relating to the Company’s trading in the wider market.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 9 March 2023, Shareholders voted 99.5% in favour of continuation of the Company. In July 2023, the Board agreed to the continuing appointment 
of the Manager, which has continued to deliver on the Company’s objective. At each Board meeting the marketing activities of the Manager are reported. To encourage the retention of 
maturing CTF funds, the Manager has introduced a Lifetime ISA and undertaken specific marketing targeted at holders of the maturing Child Trust Funds. Further proposals to encourage 
retention are being investigated by the Manager. An external consultancy was appointed to undertake a strategic marketing review for the Company. The outcomes of this process will drive 
the Company’s marketing strategy for future years. During the year 2,445,358 shares were bought back at a small discount to NAV. The Company also re-issued from treasury 75,000 
shares at a small premium to NAV. Since the year end to 28 November 2023, the Company has bought back 600,000 shares to be held in treasury. No shares have been issued. These 
actions moderated share price volatility and enhanced NAV per share for continuing Shareholders.

Emerging risks represent new information which could significantly 

change how an existing risk is perceived, but where the impact or 

likelihood remains uncertain.

Through a series of connected stress tests ranging from moderate to 

extreme scenarios and based on historical information, but forward 

looking over the five years commencing 1 October 2023, the Board 

assessed the risks of :

•  potential illiquidity of the Company’s portfolio; 

•  the effects of any substantial future falls in investment values 

and income receipts on the ability to repay and renegotiate 

borrowings; 

•  potential breaches of loan covenants, the maintenance of 

dividend payments and retention of investors; and

•  the potential need for extensive share buybacks in the event of 

share price volatility and a move to a wide discount. 

The Board also took into consideration the perceived viability of its 

principal service providers, potential effects of anticipated regulatory 

changes and the potential threat from competition. The Board’s 

conclusions are set out under the Five Year Horizon Statement on 

page 30. A five year period is considered to be a reasonable time 

frame for measuring and assessing medium to long term investment 

performance. A five year period has also been selected as the shares 

may not be suitable for investors intending to hold them for less than 

that period.
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Viability Statement – Five Year Horizon

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, the Directors 

have assessed the future prospects of the Company over the coming 

five years. Factors that the Board considered were:

• The Company has a long term investment strategy under which 

it invests mainly in readily realisable, UK publicly listed securities 

and which restricts the level of borrowings.

• At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 9 March 

2023, Shareholders voted 99.5% in favour of the continuation 

of the Company. The next continuation vote for the Company is 

scheduled to be held in 2028.

• The Company is inherently structured to generate long term 

returns, with a five year period viewed as a reasonable time frame 

for measuring and assessing medium to longer term investment 

performance.

• The Company is able to take advantage of its closed-end 

investment trust structure, including the ability to use short term 

borrowings by way of loans and overdrafts and the capacity to 

secure additional finance well in excess of five years. 

• There is robust monitoring of the headroom under the Company’s 

bank borrowing covenants.

• Regular and robust review of revenue and expenditure forecasts 

is undertaken throughout the year.

• The Company retains title to all of its assets which are 

safeguarded as described under “Safe custody of assets” and 

“Depositary” on page 40.

The Board gave careful consideration to the impact of the war in 

Ukraine, recent events in Israel and Gaza and inflationary pressures 

and the resulting volatility in stockmarkets and economic disruption 

when making this assessment. 

As discussed in note 20 to the Financial Report on page 75, the 

Company has a number of banking covenants and at present the 

Company’s financial position does not suggest that any of these 

are close to being breached. The primary risk is that there is a very 

substantial decrease in the NAV of the Company in the short to 

medium term. The Directors have considered the remedial measures 

that are open to the Company if such a covenant breach appears 

possible. As at 28 November 2023, the last practicable date before 

publication of this report, borrowings amounted to £25 million. This 

is in comparison to a net asset value of £310 million. In accordance 

with its investment policy the Company is invested mainly in readily 

realisable, FTSE All-Share listed securities. These can be realised, if 

necessary, to repay the loan facility and fund the cash requirements 

for future dividend payments.

The Company operates within a robust regulatory environment. The 

Company retains title to all assets held by the Custodian. Cash is 

held with banks approved and regularly reviewed by the Manager. 

Based on this assessment, and in the context of the Company’s 

business model, strategy and operational arrangements set out 

above, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Company will 

be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall 

due over the five year period ending November 2028. 
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Under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, the Directors have a 

duty to act in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely 

to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its members 

as a whole, and in doing so, have regard, amongst other matters, to:

• the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

• the interests of the Company’s Shareholders;

• the need to foster the Company’s business relationships with 

suppliers, customers and others;

• the impact of the Company’s operations on the community and 

environment;

• the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for 

high standards of business conduct; and

• the need to act fairly as between members of the Company. 

As explained on page 13, the Company is an externally managed 

investment company and has no employees, customers or premises. 

The key stakeholders are the Shareholders, the Manager, suppliers, 

regulators and service providers. 

The Board believes that the optimum basis for meeting its duty to 

promote the success of the Company is by appointing and managing 

third parties with the requisite performance records, resources, 

infrastructure, experience and control environments to deliver the 

services required to achieve the investment objective and successfully 

operate the Company. By developing strong and constructive working 

relationships with these parties, the Board seeks to ensure high 

standards of business conduct are adhered to at all times and service 

levels are enhanced whenever possible. This combined with the careful 

management of costs is for the benefit of all Shareholders who are 

also key stakeholders.

The Company’s primary working relationship is with the Manager. The 

portfolio activities undertaken by the Fund Manager and the impact of 

decisions taken are set out in the Fund Manager’s Review on pages 9 

to 12. On pages 24 to 27 information is provided on the Company’s 

approach towards responsible investment. The Directors are supportive 

of the Manager’s approach, which focuses on engagement with the 

investee companies on ESG issues and how this links with the United 

Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”). Further information 

on the annual evaluation of the Manager, to ensure its continued 

appointment remains in the best interests of Shareholders, is set out 

on page 53.

Service providers such as, JP Morgan Chase Bank (the “Bank” and 

“Custodian”), JP Morgan Europe Limited (the “Depositary”), Cavendish 

(the “Broker”) and Computershare Investor Services PLC (the 

“Registrar”) are also considered key stakeholders. The Board receives 

regular reports from them and evaluates them to ensure expectations 

on service delivery are met.

The Directors value engagement with Shareholders. The Company’s 

website www.ctcapitalandincome.co.uk is available to all Shareholders 

and key decisions are announced to the London Stock Exchange 

through a Regulatory News Service. The Company holds an Annual 

General Meeting. Shareholders are invited to attend, and this provides 

an open forum for them to discuss issues and matters of concern 

with the Board and representatives of the Manager and the Company’s 

advisors.  

At the Annual General Meeting held on 9 March 2023, Shareholders 

voted 99.5% in favour of continuation of the Company. In advance 

of the continuation vote, the Board surveyed Shareholders. The next 

continuation vote is scheduled to be held in 2028.

Shareholders are invited to communicate with the Board through the 

Chair or Company Secretary. Alternatively, issues can be discussed with 

the Company’s Senior Independent Director, who can be contacted at 

the Company’s registered office address detailed on page 55.

The Company’s Shareholders are always considered when the Board 

makes decisions and examples include:

Dividends
The Board is aware that dividend income is important to Shareholders 

and dividend growth is therefore a Key Performance Indicator of the 

Company. Prudent stewardship in prior years combined with careful 

stock selection has given the Company distributable reserves providing 

some resilience to pay dividends in years when there is a shortfall in 

investment income. Therefore, despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the war 

in Ukraine, recent events in Israel and Gaza and inflationary pressures, 

Promoting the Success of the Company  
– Section 172 Statement
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the Company has increased its annual dividends paid to Shareholders, 

and maintained its “AIC Dividend Hero” status. 

As part of the decision making process, the Manager has provided the 

Board with estimates of dividend income for the forthcoming year and 

the estimated impact upon the distributable reserves of the Company.

Share issuance and buy-backs
Ensuring that liquidity is maintained for the Company’s shares is 

important to Shareholders. During the year, the Company bought back 

for treasury 2,445,358 shares at a small discount. The Company also 

reissued from treasury 75,000 shares at a small premium to NAV. 

These actions moderated share price volatility.

Board succession planning
The Board is committed to ensuring that its composition is compliant 

with best corporate governance practice under the revised AIC Code 

including guidance on tenure. Following a thorough selection process 

which included the services of a search company, Dunke Afe was 

appointed to the Board with effect from 1 June 2023. Dunke Afe is an 

accomplished marketing executive with extensive experience in raising 

brand and product awareness.

On 1 July 2023 Jonathan Cartwright retired from the Board. Following 

Board discussion, Jane Lewis, who joined the Board in April 2015 was 

appointed Chair upon his retirement. Jane Lewis has extensive sector 

experience through her career in investment company corporate broking 

at Winterflood and business development at leading investment trust 

houses. She has also been appointed to a number of investment trust 

boards including as Chair.

Tim Scholefield will retire from the Board at the conclusion of the 

Company’s Annual General Meeting to be held on 7 March 2024  

having served nine years. Upon Tim Scholefield’s retirement Nicky 

McCabe will be appointed Senior Independent Director. These changes 

allow for the retirement of the Company’s longest serving Director while 

maintaining an appropriate balance of skills and experience on the 

Board.

As a further part of the Board’s succession planning, another search 

company was commissioned to find a new Director for the Board.  

Following this selection process, the Board is pleased to announce 

that Christopher Metcalfe, will be appointed to the Board and its 

committees with effect from 8 March 2024.

Christopher is Chairman of Martin Currie Global Portfolio Trust plc 

and the Senior Independent Non Executive Director of JP Morgan US 

Smaller Companies Investment Trust plc. He has extensive equity fund 

management and investment trust experience having previously worked 

in senior positions at Newton Investment Management, Schroder 

Investment Management and Henderson Administration Group.

Retail investors
The Company’s Shareholders are predominantly retail investors who 

invest through savings or execution only platforms. A significant 

proportion invest through the CT Savings Plans and the Board remains 

focused with the Manager on the optimal delivery of the Company’s 

investment proposition for the benefit of all Shareholders. The Manager 

remains committed to its savings plans and its relationship with its 

customers and is investing significantly to improve digital capabilities, 

access and information for Shareholders through the savings plans.

An external consultancy was appointed to undertake a strategic 

marketing review of the Company. The objective of the work was to 

differentiate the Company, making clear the benefits of investing with it 

and to inform how to efficiently attract new investors. These outcomes 

from the process will drive the Company’s marketing strategy for future 

years.
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Investment 
The Company is required to have a publicly stated investment 

objective and policy from which Shareholders, prospective investors 

and other stakeholders can understand the scope of its investment 

remit and constraints imposed under it. Any material changes to 

this objective and policy can only be made with the approval of 

Shareholders and the Financial Conduct Authority. 

The Company’s investment objective is to secure long term capital 

and income growth from a portfolio consisting mainly of UK listed 

companies.

The Company seeks to achieve this objective by identifying 

investments in companies which have good long term prospects but 

whose share prices do not reflect their intrinsic value, either because 

of relative short term underperformance giving rise to adverse 

investor sentiment or simply because they are unfashionable. Many 

of the stocks purchased have a higher than average dividend yield.

Investment risk is reduced by investing mainly in FTSE All-Share 

companies. The majority of holdings are in large and mid-

capitalisation companies, although the Company also holds 

investments in smaller companies. At the year end the Company 

was invested in 47 holdings. During the year the Company had no 

exposure to derivatives.

There are no maximum limits across sectors. The Company can 

invest in securities listed on the Alternative Investment Market 

(“AIM”) up to a limit of 10% of gross assets at the time of 

investment. 

No single investment in the portfolio may exceed 10% of the 

Company’s gross assets at the time of purchase and no unquoted 

securities may be purchased without the prior approval of the Board. 

No holding in an unquoted security should exceed 5% of the value 

of gross assets at the time of investment and no more than five 

unquoted securities may be held in the portfolio at any one time.

The total value of its investments held outside the UK must 

not exceed 10% of the Company’s gross assets at the time of 

investment but no individual country limits are imposed. The 

proportion of the portfolio held in FTSE All-Share and AIM listed 

companies as at 30 September 2023 was 96% and 4% respectively. 

Only 1% of the total portfolio was held outside the UK, all in a 

continental European stock. 

No more than 10% of its gross assets can be invested in other listed 

investment companies (including investment trusts) unless they 

themselves have stated they will invest no more than 15% of their 

gross assets in other listed investment companies. Provided they 

have, the Company’s limit becomes 15%. 

The Company may use derivatives principally for the purpose of 

income enhancement and efficient portfolio management. Options 

may only be written on quoted stocks and the total notional exposure 

is limited to a maximum of 5% of gross assets at the time of 

investment for both put and call options. The exposure arising from 

any futures contracts entered by the Company is included within the 

calculation of the 20% limit on cash and gearing.

The Board carries out due diligence with regard to the investment 

policy and underlying policies at each of its Board meetings receiving 

regular reports from the Fund Manager. Confirmation of adherence 

to the investment restrictions and limitations set by the Board are 

required at each meeting. The Fund Manager’s Review on pages 9 to 

12 provides an overview of the outcome from the application of the 

investment policy and the underlying policies during the course of 

the year.

Using its closed-end investment company structure, the Company 

can borrow over short, medium or long term periods within a range of 

0 to 20% of gross assets to enhance Shareholder returns. Gearing 

was a modest contributor to returns for the year under review. As at 

30 September 2023 the Company had borrowings of £25 million. 

The Board monitors borrowing levels and covenant headroom at 

each Board meeting.

Policy Summary 
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Dividend 
The Company’s revenue account is managed with the objective of 

continuing the Company’s record of delivering a stable and growing 

dividend to Shareholders over time. Prudent use of long established 

revenue reserves is made whenever necessary to help meet any 

revenue shortfall. Dividends can also be paid from capital reserves. 

The Board determines payments by taking account of timely income 

forecasts, brought forward distributable reserves, prevailing inflation 

rates, the dividend payment record and Corporation Tax rules 

governing investment trust status. Risks to the dividend policy have 

been considered as part of the Principal Risks and Future Prospects 

reviews noted on pages 28 to 30.  

The consistent application of this policy has enabled the Company to 

pay an increased dividend every year since launch in 1992. 

Premium/Discount
The Company issues shares in order to meet Shareholder demand 

which cannot be satisfied through the market and to moderate any 

premium at which the shares have traded in relation to the NAV per 

share. When the shares revert to trading at a price lower than the 

NAV per share, the Board has the flexibility to buy back shares in 

accordance with the authority given by Shareholders. Shares bought 

back can either be cancelled or held in treasury for potential resale 

at a premium. This policy has the benefit of enhancing NAV per share 

for continuing Shareholders. The Board reviews the discount and 

premium levels at each meeting. The shares traded at an average 

discount of 3.1% throughout the year. The shares ended the year at 

a 1.2% discount. During the year ended 30 September 2023, the 

Company bought back for treasury 2,445,358 shares at a small 

discount. The Company also reissued from treasury 75,000 shares 

at a small premium to NAV. During the year ended 30 September 

2022, the Company bought back for treasury 757,819 shares and 

re-issued 175,000 of them. Since the year end to 28 November 

2023, the Company has bought back 600,000 shares to be held in 

treasury. No shares have been issued. 

Taxation 
The policy towards taxation is one of full commitment to complying 

with applicable legislation and statutory guidelines. It is essential 

that the Company always retains its investment trust tax status 

by complying with Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 

(“Section 1158”) such that it does not suffer UK Corporation Tax 

on capital gains. In applying due diligence towards the retention 

of Section 1158 status and adhering to its tax policies, the 

Board receives regular reports from the Manager. The Company 

has received approval from HMRC as an investment trust under 

Section 1158 and has since continued to comply with the eligibility 

conditions. The Manager also ensures that the Company submits 

correct taxation returns annually to HMRC; settles promptly any 

taxation due; and claims back, where possible, all taxes suffered in 

excess of taxation treaty rates on non UK dividend receipts.

Board diversity
The policy towards the appointment of non-executive Directors is 

based on the Board’s belief in the benefits of having a diverse range 

of experience, skills, length of service and backgrounds, including 

gender. 

The policy is always to appoint the best person for the job and, by 

way of this policy statement it is confirmed that there will be no 

discrimination on the grounds of gender, ethnicity, socioeconomic 

background, religion, sexual orientation, age or physical ability. 

The overriding aim of the policy is to ensure that the Board is 

composed of the best combination of people to deliver the objective. 

The policy is applied for the purpose of appointing individuals that, 

together as a Board, will continue to achieve that aim as well as 

ensuring optimal promotion of the Company’s investment proposition 

in the marketplace.

The Board is conscious of the diversity targets set out in the FCA 

Listing Rules.  

In accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R (9), (10) and (11) the Board 

has provided the following information in relation to its diversity. The 

information has been voluntarily disclosed by each Director and is 

correct as at 30 September 2023.

Board Gender as at 30 September 2023(1)

Number of 
Board Members

Percentage of 
the Board

Number of 
senior positions 
on the Board(2)

Men 2 40% 1

Women 3 60%(3) 1(4)

(1) The Company has opted not to disclose against the number of Directors in executive 
management as this is not applicable for an investment trust. 

(2) Composed of the Chair and the Senior Independent Director.

(3) This meets the Listing Rules target of 40%. 

(4) This meets the Listing Rules target of 1.
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UK Financial Sanctions and Prevention of the Facilitation 
of Tax Evasion 
The Board is fully committed to complying with all legislation, 

regulation and relevant guidelines including those relating to the UK 

financial sanctions regime in the context of the Company’s business 

and also the UK’s Criminal Finances Act 2017, designed to prevent 

tax evasion and the facilitation of tax evasion in the jurisdictions in 

which the Company operates. Professional advice is sought as and 

when deemed necessary.

Jane Lewis 
Chair 
29 November 2023

Board Ethnic Background as at 30 September 2023(1)

Number of 
Board Members

Percentage of 
the Board

Number of 
senior positions 
on the Board(2)

White British 
or other white 
(including 
minority-white 
groups)

4 80% 2

Black/African/
Caribbean/
Black British

1 (3) 20% –

(1) The Company has opted not to disclose against the number of Directors in executive 
management as this is not applicable for an investment trust. 

(2) Composed of the Chair and the Senior Independent Director.

(3) This meets the Listing Rules target of 1.

As evidenced above, the Company has met all the diversity targets 

set out in Listing Rule 9.8.6R (9). The Board will continue to take all 

matters of diversity into account as part of its succession planning. 

The information included in the above tables has been obtained 

following confirmation from the individual Directors. The Board will 

continue to take diversity into account as part of its succession 

planning and recruitment process.

Integrity and business ethics
The Company applies a strict anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy 

insofar as it applies to any Directors or employee of the Manager 

or of any other organisation with which the Company conducts 

business. The Board also ensures that adequate procedures 

are in place and followed in respect of third party appointments, 

acceptance of gifts and hospitality and similar matters.

Prevention of the facilitation of tax evasion
The Company is committed to compliance with the UK’s Criminal 

Finances Act 2017, designed to prevent tax evasion in the 

jurisdictions in which it operates. The policy is based on a risk 

assessment undertaken by the Board and professional advice is 

sought as and when deemed necessary.

Modern Slavery Act 2015 
As an investment company with no employees or customers and 

which does not provide goods or services in the normal course of 

business, the Company considers that it does not fall within the 

scope of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and it is not, therefore, 

obliged to make a human trafficking statement. The Company’s 

own supply chain which consists predominantly of professional 

advisers and service providers in the financial services industry, 

which is highly regulated, is considered to be low risk in relation to 

this matter. A statement by the Manager under the Act has been 

published on its website columbiathreadneedle.co.uk.
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Directors

Jane Lewis, Chair of the Company 
Jane was appointed to the Board on 24 
November 2015 and became Chair on 
1 July 2023. She was last re-elected by 
Shareholders on 9 March 2023. She is a 
non-executive director of BlackRock World 
Mining Trust PLC, Majedie Investments PLC 
and the Senior Independent Director of 
JPMorgan Global Growth and Income PLC. 
She was Chairman of Invesco Perpetual UK 
Smaller Companies Investment Trust PLC 
and until August 2013 was a Director of 
Corporate Finance and Broking at Winterflood 
Investment Trusts. Prior to this she worked 
at Henderson Global Investors and Gartmore 
Investment Management Limited in 
investment trust business development and 
at WestLB Panmure as an investment trust 
broker.

Dunke Afe, Chair of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 
Dunke was appointed to the Board on 1 June 
2023 and became Chair of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee on 20 July 
2023. Dunke is an accomplished global 
marketing and commercial professional 
with extensive experience in raising brand 
and product awareness. She has previously 
worked with top blue chip multinationals 
including Unilever, Kimberly Clark and Estee 
Lauder Companies.

Patrick Firth, Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Committee 
Patrick was appointed to the Board on 21 July 
2022 and became Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Committee on 1 January 2023. He was elected 
by Shareholders on 9 March 2023. Patrick is a 
qualified Chartered Accountant and a member 
of the Chartered Institute for Securities and 
Investment. He worked in the fund industry 
in Guernsey since 1992 and was Managing 
Director of third party fund administration 
businesses and a non-executive director of a 
number of management companies, general 
partners and investment companies. Currently 
he is Chair of the Audit and Risk Committees 
of Riverstone Energy Limited, NextEnergy Solar 
Fund Limited and India Capital Growth Fund. 

Nicky McCabe, Chair of the Management 
Engagement Committee 
Nicky was appointed to the Board on 1 January 
2021 and was last re-elected by Shareholders 
on 9 March 2023. Nicky has extensive sector 
experience as she was formerly Head of 
Product and Investment Trusts at Fidelity 
International as well as a director and Chief 
Operating Officer of a number of Fidelity 
companies. Nicky is currently a non-executive 
director of Aberdeen Asian Income Fund Ltd, 
Artemis Investment Management Limited and 
EFG Asset Management (UK) Limited. 

Tim Scholefield, Senior Independent Director 
Tim was appointed to the Board on 25 November 
2014 and last re-elected by Shareholders on 
9 March 2023. He is Chairman of Invesco 
Bond Income Plus Ltd and Chairman of Allianz 
Technology Trust PLC. He is a non-executive 
director of Abrdn UK Smaller Companies 
Growth Trust PLC and Jupiter Unit Trust 
Managers Limited. Tim has 35 years of 
investment experience, including his role as 
Head of Equities at Baring Asset Management 
until April 2014. Tim will retire from the 
Board at the conclusion of the Company’s 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be 
held on 7 March 2024. 

No Director holds a directorship elsewhere in common with other members of the Board.

All Directors are members of the Management Engagement Committee and the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee. 

All Directors with the exception of Jane Lewis are members of the Audit and Risk Committee.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors submit the Report and Accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 September 
2023. The Directors’ biographies, Corporate Governance Statement; the Report of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee; the Directors’ Remuneration Report; the Report of the Audit and Risk 
Committee Report and the Report of the Management Engagement Committee form part of this 
Directors’ Report.

Statement regarding Report and Accounts
The Directors consider that following advice from the Audit and 

Risk Committee, the Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is 

fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information 

necessary for Shareholders to assess the Company’s position and 

performance, business model and strategy. The Audit and Risk 

Committee has reviewed the draft Report and Accounts for the 

purposes of this assessment. The market outlook for the Company 

can be found on page 12. Principal risks can be found on page 28 

with further information on page 76. 

Shareholders will be asked to approve the adoption of the Report 

and Accounts for the financial year ended 30 September 2023 at 

the AGM (Resolution 1).

Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out in the attached accounts. The 

Company’s dividend payments are set out below. 

Dividends paid in the year ended 30 September 2023

£’000s 

Fourth of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2022  
of 3.85p per share 4,108

First of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023  
of 2.75p per share 2,928

Second of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 
of 2.75p per share 2,907

Third of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023  
of 2.75p per share 2,876

12,819

Further details are provided in note 9 to the financial statements.

As explained in the Chair’s Statement, the Board has announced a 

fourth interim dividend of 3.90 pence per share. This will be paid on 

18 December 2023 to Shareholders on the register on 8 December 

2023. This dividend, together with the other three interim dividends 

paid in respect of the financial year ended 30 September 2023 

makes a total dividend of 12.15 pence per share. This represents an 

increase of 3.0% over the 11.80 pence per share paid in respect of 

the previous financial year.

As dividends are paid quarterly as interim dividends in March, 

June, September and December, the Company does not pay a final 

dividend in February that would require formal Shareholder approval 

at the AGM. However, formal approval of the Company’s dividend 

policy of paying four quarterly interim dividends in each financial 

year will be sought at the AGM.

Company status 
The Company is a public limited company and an investment 

company as defined by section 833 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The Company is limited by shares and is registered in England and 

Wales with company registration number 02732011. It is subject 

to the FCA’s listing rules, UK legislation and regulations including 

company law, financial reporting standards, taxation law and its own 

articles of association. 

The Company is exempt from Streamlined Energy and Carbon 

Reporting Disclosures as it has consumed less than 40,000 Kwh 

of energy in the United Kingdom during the year.

Taxation 
As set out on page 34 and in note 7 to the accounts, as an 

investment trust, the Company is exempt from UK Corporation Tax 

on its worldwide dividend income and from UK Corporation Tax on 

any capital gains arising from its portfolio of investments, provided 

it complies at all times with section 1158 of the Corporation Tax 

Act 2010. Dividends received from investee companies domiciled 

outside the UK are subject to taxation in those countries in 

accordance with relevant double taxation treaties.
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Accounting and going concern
The financial statements, starting on page 61, comply with current 

UK financial reporting standards, supplemented by the Statement 

of Recommended Practice “Financial Statements of Investment 

Trust Companies and Venture Capital Trusts” (“SORP”). The 

significant accounting policies of the Company are set out in note 

2 to the accounts. The unqualified auditor’s opinion on the financial 

statements appears on pages 56 to 60. As discussed in the Five 

Year Horizon Statement on page 30 and note 20 to the financial 

statements on page 75, additional considerations were given to 

assessing the applicability of the going concern basis of accounting 

this year. Recently, the war in Ukraine, events in Israel and Gaza 

and inflationary concerns have resulted in increased volatility in 

financial markets and economic disruption. When assessing going 

concern the Directors have therefore considered these in addition 

to the Company’s objective, strategy and policy, its current cash 

position, the availability of its loan facility and compliance with its 

covenants and the operational resilience of the Company and its 

service providers. 

The Board has considered the impact of falls in the NAV of the 

Company and the ability of it to meet its banking covenants. The 

primary risk is that there is a very substantial decrease in the NAV 

of the Company in the short to medium term. The Board considers 

that the possibility of a fall of this magnitude is remote. In addition, 

the Company has remedial measures if such a covenant breach 

appeared possible.  

Further details on this assessment are provided on pages 29, 30 

and 75.

Based on this assessment, and in light of the controls and 

monitoring processes that are in place, the Directors believe that 

the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational 

existence for the twelve month period from the date of the approval 

of the financial statements. Accordingly, it is reasonable for the 

financial statements to continue to be prepared on a going concern 

basis. The Company’s longer term viability is considered in the 

Future Prospects “Five Year Horizon” Statement on page 30.

Capital structure
As at 30 September 2023 there were 107,289,022 ordinary 

shares of 25 pence each in issue including 2,953,177 shares held 

in treasury. 

As at 28 November 2023 (being the latest practicable date before 

publication of this report) the number of ordinary shares in issue 

was 107,289,022 including 3,553,177 shares held in treasury. 

All ordinary shares rank equally for dividends and distributions 

and carry one vote each. There are no restrictions concerning 

the transfer of securities in the Company, no special rights with 

regard to control attached to securities, no agreements between 

holders of securities regarding their transfer known to the Company 

and no agreement which the Company is party to that affects its 

control following a takeover bid. Details of the capital structure can 

be found in note 15 to the accounts. The revenue profits of the 

Company (including accumulated revenue reserves), together with 

the realised capital profits, are available for distribution by way of 

dividends to the holders of the ordinary shares. Upon a winding 

up, after meeting the liabilities of the Company, the surplus assets 

would be distributed to Shareholders pro rata to their holdings of 

ordinary shares. Full details are set out in the Company’s articles 

of association. 

Issue and buyback of shares
At the AGM held on 9 March 2023 Shareholders renewed the 

Board’s authority to issue ordinary shares up to 10% of the number 

then in issue. To satisfy demand for the Company’s shares, mainly 

from holders through the CT Savings Plans, the Company issued 

shares on one occasion in the year under review. A total of 75,000 

shares with an aggregate nominal value of £18,750 were issued 

at a price of 298.0 pence per share for a total consideration of 

£223,500 before the deduction of issue costs. 

Subject to annual Shareholder approval, the Company may also 

purchase up to 14.99% of its own issued ordinary shares at a 

discount to NAV per share. The shares bought back can either be 

cancelled or held in treasury to be sold as and when the share 

price returns to a premium. At the AGM held on 9 March 2023 

Shareholders gave the Board authority to buy back ordinary shares 

up to 14.99% of the number then in issue. During the year under 

review 2,445,358 shares were purchased, representing 2.3% of the 

number of shares issued and fully paid at 30 September 2022, in 

21 tranches and held in treasury. The price paid ranged from 276.5 

pence per share to 310.0 pence per share. As noted above, the 

Company also re-issued from treasury 75,000 shares at a small 

premium to NAV. 

Since the year end to 28 November 2023, the Company has bought 

back 600,000 shares to be held in treasury. No shares have been 

issued.

Voting rights
As at 28 November 2023 the Company had 107,289,022 ordinary 

shares in issue including 3,553,177 shares held in treasury. Total 

voting rights were therefore 103,735,845. As at 30 September 

2023 and 28 November 2023 no notifications of significant voting 
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rights had been received under the Financial Conduct Authority’s 

Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules. 

Borrowings and financial risk management
The Company has a one year multicurrency revolving facility 

agreement of up to £40 million with The Bank of Nova Scotia, 

London Branch (“Scotiabank”) expiring in March 2024. The 

interest rate margin and the commitment fees on the Scotiabank 

facility have been set at commercial rates. It is anticipated that 

a replacement facility will be entered into upon the expiry of the 

current facility. 

Details of the financial risk management of the Company are 

provided in note 21 beginning on page 76. An ongoing overdraft 

arrangement is available to the Company by the Custodian for 

settlement of investment trades if necessary. 

Remuneration Report 
The Directors’ Remuneration Report, which can be found on pages 

47 to 49, provides detailed information on the remuneration 

arrangements for Directors of the Company including the Directors’ 

Remuneration Policy. Shareholders are asked to approve the policy 

at an AGM every three years. There have been no changes to the 

policy since approval by Shareholders at the Company’s AGM held 

in March 2023. Remuneration is set at a level commensurate with 

the skills and experience necessary for the effective stewardship 

of the Company and the expected contribution of the Board as 

a whole in continuing to achieve the investment objective. It is 

intended that this policy will continue for the three year period 

ending at the AGM in 2026. Shareholders will be asked to approve 

the Remuneration Report in respect of the financial year ended  

30 September 2023 at the upcoming AGM (Resolution 3).

As detailed on page 47, the Directors’ fees are reviewed each 

year. Following this review in respect of the financial year ended 

30 September 2023, the Directors have agreed that the annual 

remuneration of the Chair will increase from £40,500 to £42,750, 

the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee from £32,500 to 

£35,750, the Senior Independent Director from £28,500 to 

£31,500 and other Directors from £27,000 to £28,500. These 

increases were effective from 1 October 2023. The previous 

increase to Directors’ annual remuneration occurred on 1 October 

2022.

The Company’s articles of association limit the aggregate fees 

payable to the Board to a total of £250,000 per annum. 

Director election or re-elections
The names of the current Directors, along with their biographical 

details, are set out on page 36. 

During the year, Sharon Brown retired on 31 December 2022 and 

Jonathan Cartwright on 1 July 2023.

All Directors, with the exception of Tim Scholefield, will seek 

election or re-election at the forthcoming AGM. Tim Scholefield 

will retire from the Board at the conclusion of the Company’s 

forthcoming AGM to be held on 7 March 2024, having served nine 

years. Following a review of their performance, the Board believes 

that each of the Directors standing for election or re-election has 

made a valuable and effective contribution to the Company. The 

skills and experience each Director brings to the Board for the long 

term sustainable success of the Company are set out below. The 

Board recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of the election 

or re-election of the Directors (Resolutions 4 to 7). 

Resolution 4 relates to the re-election of Jane Lewis who has 

served eight years on the Board. She has extensive sector 

experience through her career in investment company corporate 

broking at Winterflood and business development at leading 

investment trust houses. She has held a number of investment 

trust directorships including as Chair. Jane became Chair of the 

Board on 1 July 2023.

Resolution 5 relates to the election of Dunke Afe who was 

appointed to the Board on 1 June 2023 and became Chair of the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee on 20 July 2023. Dunke 

is an accomplished global marketing and commercial professional 

with extensive experience in raising brand and product awareness. 

She has previously worked with top blue chip multinationals 

including Unilever, Kimberly Clark and Estee Lauder Companies.

Resolution 6 relates to re-election of Patrick Firth who was 

appointed to the Board on 21 July 2022 and became Chair of the 

Audit and Risk Committee on 1 January 2023. Patrick is a qualified 

Chartered Accountant and a member of the Chartered Institute 

for Securities and Investment. He worked in the fund industry in 

Guernsey from 1992 and was Managing Director of third party 

fund administration businesses and a non-executive director 

of a number of management companies, general partners and 

investment companies. Currently he is Chair of the Audit and Risk 

Committees of Riverstone Energy Limited, NextEnergy Solar Fund 

Limited and India Capital Growth Fund.

Resolution 7 relates to the re-election of Nicky McCabe who was 

appointed to the Board on 1 January 2021. Nicky has extensive 

sector experience as she was formerly Head of Product and 

Investment Trusts at Fidelity International as well as a director and 

Chief Operating Officer of a number of Fidelity companies. Nicky 

is currently a non-executive director of Aberdeen Asian Income 
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Fund Ltd, Artemis Investment Management Limited and EFG Asset 

Management (UK) Limited. 

Directors’ interests and indemnification 
There were no contracts to which the Company was a party and in 

which a Director is, or was, materially interested during the year. 

There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors 

concerning compensation for loss of office.

The Company has granted a deed of indemnity to the Directors 

in respect of liabilities that may attach to them in their capacity 

as Directors of the Company. This covers any liabilities that may 

arise to a third party for negligence, default or breach of trust or 

duty. This deed of indemnity is a qualifying third party provision 

(as defined by section 234 of the Companies Act 2006) and has 

been in force throughout the period under review and remains in 

place as at the date of this report. It is available for inspection 

at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours 

and will be available for inspection at the AGM. The Company also 

maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

Statement as to disclosure of information to the auditors
Each of the Directors confirms that, to the best of his or her 

knowledge and belief, there is no information relevant to the 

preparation of the Report and Accounts of which BDO LLP are 

unaware and they have taken all the steps a Director might 

reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of relevant 

audit information and to establish that BDO LLP is aware of that 

information.

Appointment of auditor and auditor’s remuneration
The auditor of a company has to be appointed at each Annual 

General Meeting at which accounts are laid before Shareholders. 

BDO LLP has expressed their willingness to continue in office as 

auditor and resolutions proposing their re-appointment and for the 

Audit and Risk Committee to determine their remuneration for the 

financial year ended 30 September 2024 will be proposed at the 

AGM. (Resolutions 8 and 9).

Safe custody of assets
The Company’s listed investments are held in safe custody by JP 

Morgan Chase Bank (the “Custodian”). Operational matters with 

the Custodian are carried out on the Company’s behalf by the 

Manager in accordance with the provisions of the management 

agreement. The Custodian is paid a variable fee dependent on the 

number of trades transacted and location of the securities held.

Depositary
JPMorgan Europe Limited acts as the Company’s Depositary (the 

“Depositary”) in accordance with the AIFMD. The Depositary’s 

responsibilities, which are set out in an Investor Disclosure 

Document on the Company’s website, include: cash monitoring; 

ensuring the proper segregation and safekeeping of the Company’s 

financial instruments that are held by the Custodian; and 

monitoring the Company’s compliance with investment and leverage 

limits requirements. The Depositary receives for its services a fee 

of one basis point per annum on the value of the Company’s net 

assets, payable monthly in arrears.

Although the Depositary has delegated the safekeeping of all 

assets held within the Company’s investment portfolio to the 

Custodian, in the event of loss of those assets that constitute 

financial instruments under the AIFMD, the Depositary will be 

obliged to return to the Company financial instruments of an 

identical type, or the corresponding amount of money, unless it can 

demonstrate that the loss has arisen as a result of an external 

event beyond its reasonable control, the consequences of which 

would have been unavoidable despite all reasonable efforts to the 

contrary. 

The Manager’s fee 
A quarterly fee of 0.1% of funds under management is payable 

in arrears to the Manager in respect of the management, 

administration and ancillary services provided to the Company (see 

note 4 to the accounts). 

AGM 
The Notice of the AGM to be held on 7 March 2024 is set out on 

pages 84 to 87.

As well as the matters set out above, the Board will propose at the 

AGM resolutions in relation to the following matters.

Authority to allot shares and sell shares from treasury 
(resolutions 10 and 11)
Resolutions 10 and 11 are similar in content to the authorities 

and power previously given to the Directors by Shareholders. By 

law, the Directors are not permitted to allot new shares (or to grant 

rights over shares) unless authorised to do so by Shareholders. In 

addition, the Directors require specific authority from Shareholders 

before allotting new shares (or granting rights over shares) or 

selling shares out of treasury for cash without first offering them to 

existing Shareholders in proportion to their holdings. 

Resolution 10 gives the Directors, for the period until the 

conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in 2025 or, if earlier, 

15 months from the passing of the resolution, the necessary 

authority to allot securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of 

£2,593,396 (10,373,584 ordinary shares). This is equivalent to 
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approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as 

at 28 November 2023 excluding shares held in treasury. 

Resolution 11, which will be proposed as a special resolution 

and which is conditional on the passing of Resolution 10, seeks 

authority for the Directors to allot shares or sell shares held in 

treasury on a non pre-emptive basis for cash up to an aggregate 

nominal amount of £2,593,396 (representing 10% of the issued 

ordinary share capital of the Company (excluding shares held in 

treasury) as at 28 November 2023). These authorities and powers 

will provide the Directors with a degree of flexibility to increase the 

assets of the Company by the issue of new shares or the sale of 

treasury shares, in accordance with the policies set out on page 34 

or should any other favourable opportunities arise to the advantage 

of Shareholders. The Directors anticipate that they will principally 

use the authorities granted by Resolutions 10 and 11 to satisfy 

demand from participants in the CT Savings Plans when they 

believe it is advantageous to plan participants and the Company’s 

Shareholders to do so. In no circumstances would the Directors 

use these authorities to issue or sell any shares from treasury 

unless the existing shares in issue are trading at a premium to 

NAV. As at 28 November 2023, 3,553,177 ordinary shares were 

held by the Company in treasury.

Authority for the Company to purchase its own shares 
(resolution 12) 
Resolution 12, which will be proposed as a special resolution, 

authorises the Company to purchase up to a maximum of 

15,550,003 ordinary shares (equivalent to approximately 14.99% 

of the issued share capital excluding shares held in treasury as 

at 28 November 2023) at a minimum price of 25 pence per share 

and a maximum price per share (exclusive of expenses) of the 

higher of (i) 5% above the average of the middle market quotations 

for an ordinary share (as derived from the London Stock Exchange 

Daily Official List) for the five business days immediately before 

the date of purchase and (ii) the higher of the last independent 

trade and the highest current independent bid on the London 

Stock Exchange. The Directors intend to use this authority with the 

objective of enhancing Shareholder value. Purchases would only 

be made, within guidelines established from time to time by the 

Board, through the market for cash at prices below the prevailing 

Net Asset Value per ordinary share which would have the effect 

of enhancing that value for remaining Shareholders. Any ordinary 

shares that are purchased would either be placed into treasury 

or cancelled. The authority will expire at the conclusion of the 

2025 annual general meeting of the Company or, if earlier, on the 

date which is 15 months after the date on which Resolution 12 is 

passed.

Form of proxy 
Registered Shareholders will find enclosed a form of proxy for use 

at the AGM. Shareholders also have the option of lodging their 

proxy votes electronically as set out in Note 4 of the Notice of 

AGM. For shares held through CREST, proxy appointments may be 

submitted via the CREST proxy voting system. Proxy appointments 

should be lodged as soon as possible and, in any event, not later 

than 12.30pm on 5 March 2024. 

Form of direction
If you are an investor in any of the CT Savings Plans you will have 

received a form of direction for use at the AGM and you will also 

have the option of lodging your voting directions electronically as 

set out in Note 4 of the Notice of AGM. 

All voting directions should be submitted as soon as possible in 

accordance with the instructions on the form of direction and, in 

any event, not later than 12:30pm on 29 February 2024.

Recommendation 
The Board considers that the resolutions to be proposed at the 

meeting are in the best interests of the Company and Shareholders 

as a whole. The Directors recommend that Shareholders vote in 

favour of each resolution, as they intend to do in respect of their 

own beneficial holdings.

By order of the Board 

Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited 

Secretary 

29 November 2023
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Company’s strategy, operations and compliance with regulations. 

The Manager is the Company’s AIFM.

Articles of association
The Company’s articles of association may only be amended by 

special resolution at general meetings of Shareholders.

The Board 
The Board’s responsibilities are outlined on page 13. More 

specifically, the Board is responsible for the effective stewardship 

of the Company’s affairs and has adopted a formal schedule 

of matters reserved for its decision. It has responsibility for all 

corporate strategic issues, corporate governance matters, dividend 

policy, share issue and buyback policy, risk and control assessment, 

investment performance monitoring and budget approval. It is also 

responsible for the review and approval of annual and half yearly 

reports and other public documents. 

In order to enable the Directors to discharge their responsibilities, 

they all have full and timely access to relevant information. The 

Board normally meets at least four times a year and also holds a 

strategy meeting. At each meeting, the Board reviews the Company’s 

management information, which includes reports on investment 

performance and strategic matters and financial analyses. 

Income forecasts and costs are reviewed within set budgets. The 

Board monitors compliance with the Company’s objectives and 

is responsible for setting the asset allocation, investment and 

gearing ranges within which the Manager has discretion to act. Key 

representatives of the Manager attend each Board meeting. Board 

meetings are also held on an ad hoc basis to consider particular 

issues as they arise. The following table sets out the Directors’ 

meeting attendance in the year under review. Committees of the 

Board met during the year to undertake business such as the 

approval of the Company’s final results and dividends. 

Each Director has a signed letter of appointment to formalise the 

terms of their engagement as a non-executive Director, copies of 

which are available for inspection at the Company’s registered 

office during normal business hours and are also available at each 

Shareholder meeting. 

Introduction 
The Board adheres to the principles and recommendations of 

the revised AIC Code of Corporate Governance (the “AIC Code”) 

published in 2019. 

The Board believes that the Company has complied with the current 

recommendations of the AIC Code during the year under review and 

up to the date of this report and, except as regards the provisions 

set out below, has thereby complied with the relevant provisions 

of the 2018 revision to the UK Corporate Governance Code (“UK 

Code”):

The UK Code includes provisions relating to:

•  the role of the chief executive;

•  executive directors’ remuneration; and

•  the need for an internal audit function.

 

For the reasons set out in the AIC Corporate Governance Guide for 

Investment Companies, the Board considers these provisions as 

not being relevant to the Company, as it is an externally managed 

investment company. In particular, all of the Company’s day-to-day 

management and administrative functions have been delegated to 

the Manager. As a result, the Company has no executive Directors, 

employees or internal operations. Therefore, with the exception 

of the need for an internal audit function, which is addressed on 

page 51, the Company has not reported further in respect of these 

provisions.

Detailed information on the Directors’ Remuneration can be found in 

the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 47 to 49 and in note 5 

to the accounts. 

Copies of both codes may be found on the respective websites  

theaic.co.uk and frc.org.uk.

AIFMD
The Company is defined as an Alternative Investment Fund (“AIF”) 

under the AIFMD issued by the European Parliament, and which 

has been implemented into UK law. This requires that all AIFs must 

appoint a Depositary and an Alternative Investment Fund Manager 

(“AIFM”). The Board remains fully responsible for all aspects of the 

Corporate Governance Statement 
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way of confidential interviews between the Chair and each Director. 

The appraisal of the Chair was carried out by the Board under 

the leadership of the Senior Independent Director. The Board 

considers that the appraisal process is a constructive means of 

evaluating the contribution of individual Directors and identifying 

ways to improve the functioning and performance of the Board and 

its committees and building on and improving collective strengths, 

including assessing any training needs. The option of using external 

consultants to conduct this evaluation is kept under review. 

Independence of Directors 
The Board, which is composed solely of independent non-executive 

Directors, regularly reviews the independence of the individual 

Directors. All the Directors have been assessed by the Board as 

remaining independent of the Manager and of the Company itself; 

none has a past or current connection with the Manager and 

each remains independent in character and judgement with no 

relationships or circumstances relating to the Company that are likely 

to affect that judgement. 

Conflicts of interest
A company director has a statutory obligation to avoid a situation 

in which he or she has, or potentially could have, a direct or 

indirect interest that conflicts with the interests of the Company (a 

“situational conflict”). The Board therefore has procedures in place 

for the authorisation and review of situational conflicts relating to the 

Company’s Directors. 

Other than the formal authorisation of the Directors’ other 

directorships and appointments, no authorisations have been 

sought. They are reviewed throughout the year at each Board 

meeting and the authorisation of each individual Director’s conflicts 

or potential conflicts annually. These authorisations were reviewed in 

Director attendance – year ended 30 September 2023

Board
Annual General 

Meeting
Audit and Risk 

Committee
Management 

Engagement Committee

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee

No. of meetings

Jane Lewis(4) 6 1 3 2 3

Dunke Afe(1) 2 N/A 1 1 1

Patrick Firth 6 1 3 2 3

Nicky McCabe 6 1 3 2 3

Tim Scholefield 6 1 3 2 3

Sharon Brown(2) 1 N/A 1 1 1

Jonathan Cartwright(3) (4) 4 1 2 1 2

(1) Attended all meetings since appointment on 1 June 2023.
(2) Attended all meetings until retirement on 31 December 2022.
(3) Attended all meetings until retirement on 1 July 2023. 
(4) The Chair of the Company is invited to attend the Audit and Risk Committee although he or she is not a member.

The Board also held three committee meetings during the year.

Directors are able to seek independent professional advice at the 

Company’s expense in relation to their duties. No such professional 

advice was taken by Directors during the year under review. The 

Board has direct access to the company secretarial advice and 

services of the Manager which, through its nominated representative, 

is responsible for ensuring that Board and committee procedures 

are followed and applicable regulations are complied with. The 

proceedings at all Board and other meetings are fully recorded 

through a process that allows any Director’s concerns to be recorded 

in the minutes. The Board has the power to appoint or remove 

the Secretary in accordance with the terms of the management 

agreement. The powers of the Board relating to the buying back or 

issuance of the Company’s shares are explained on pages 40 and 41.

Appointments
Under the articles of association of the Company, the number of 

Directors on the Board cannot exceed ten. An induction process 

takes place for new appointees and all Directors are encouraged 

to attend relevant training courses and seminars. Directors may be 

appointed by the Company by ordinary resolution or by the Board. All 

new appointments by the Board are subject to subsequent election 

by Shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting. All Directors 

will stand for re-election by Shareholders annually. 

Directors must seek Board approval prior to accepting additional 

listed external roles.

Board effectiveness
During the year, in order to review the effectiveness of the Board, 

its Committees and the individual Directors, the Board carried out 

a process of formal annual self appraisal. This was facilitated by 
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July 2023 when it was concluded that in each case these situational 

conflicts had not affected any individual in their role as a Director 

of the Company. Aside from situational conflicts, the Directors must 

also comply with the statutory rules requiring Company Directors 

to declare any interest in an actual or proposed transaction or 

arrangement with the Company. 

In the year under review there have been no instances of a Director 

being required to be excluded from a discussion or abstain from 

voting because of a conflict of interest.

Relations with Shareholders 
The Company welcomes the views of Shareholders and places 

importance on communication with its members. Representatives 

of the Manager hold meetings with the Company’s largest 

Shareholders and report back to the Board on these meetings. 

Each year, the Company will hold an Annual General Meeting to be 

followed by a presentation by the Fund Manager in London. 

In accordance with the UK Code, in the event that votes of 20 per 

cent or more are cast against a resolution at a General Meeting 

the Company will announce the actions it intends to take to consult 

Shareholders to understand the reasons behind the result. A 

further update will be published within six months. No such votes 

were received during 2023. 

Tim Scholefield will be the Senior Independent Director until his 

retirement at the conclusion of the Company’s AGM to be held on 7 

March 2024. Upon his retirement Nicky McCabe will be appointed 

Senior Independent Director. The Senior Independent Director is 

available to Shareholders if they have concerns which initial contact 

through the Chair or Company Secretary has failed to resolve or 

for which such contact is inappropriate. Shareholders wishing to 

communicate with the Chair or other members of the Board may do 

so by writing to CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust PLC, 

Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London, EC4N 6AG.

By order of the Board 
Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited  
Secretary 
29 November 2023
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agreeing the selection criteria and the method of recruitment, selection 

and appointment. 

On 1 July 2023 Jonathan Cartwright retired from the Board. Following 

Board discussion, Jane Lewis, who joined the Board in April 2015 was 

appointed Chair upon his retirement. Jane Lewis has extensive sector 

experience through her career in investment company corporate broking 

at Winterflood and business development at leading investment trust 

houses. She has also been appointed to a number of investment trust 

boards including as Chair.

As part of the Board’s succession planning, Audeliss, a search company 

without connection to the Company or any individual Director, was 

commissioned to find a new Director to join the Board. Following a 

thorough selection process, Dunke Afe was appointed as a Director 

of the Company with effect from 1 June 2023. Dunke Afe is an 

accomplished global marketing and commercial professional with 

extensive experience in raising brand and product awareness. She has 

previously worked with top blue chip multinationals including Unilever, 

Kimberly Clark and Estee Lauder Companies.

Tim Scholefield, the Company’s Senior Independent Director, who joined 

the Board in November 2014, will retire at the conclusion of the 2024 

Annual General Meeting, having served nine years. Upon his retirement 

Nicky McCabe will be appointed Senior Independent Director. 

As a further part of the Board’s succession planning, Fletcher Jones, a 

search company without connection to the Company or any individual 

Director, was commissioned to find a new Director for the Board.  

Following this selection process, the Board is pleased to announce that 

Christopher Metcalfe, will be appointed to the Board and its committees 

with effect from 8 March 2024.

Christopher is Chairman of Martin Currie Global Portfolio Trust plc 

and the Senior Independent Non Executive Director of JP Morgan US 

Smaller Companies Investment Trust plc. He has extensive equity fund 

management and investment trust experience having previously worked 

in senior positions at Newton Investment Management, Schroder 

Investment Management and Henderson Administration Group.

Role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“the 
Committee”)
The Committee met three times during the year. Its primary role is to 

review and make recommendations to the Board with regard to Board 

structure, size and composition, the balance of knowledge, experience, 

skill ranges and diversity, consider succession planning and tenure 

policy and remuneration policy and levels. Its responsibilities include: 

• Board structure and size of the Board and its composition, 

particularly in terms of succession planning and the experience and 

skills of the individual Directors and diversity across the Board as a 

whole;

• tenure policy;  

• the criteria for future Board appointments and the methods of 

recruitment, selection and appointment;

• the reappointment of those Directors standing for re-election at 

Annual General Meetings;

• the attendance and time commitment of the Directors in fulfilling 

their duties, including the extent of their other directorships;

• the question of each Director’s independence prior to publication of 

the Report and Accounts; 

• the authorisation of each Director’s situational conflicts of interests 

in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the policy and 

procedures established by the Board in relation to these provisions; 

• remuneration policy; and

• the periodic review of the level of Directors’ fees, including the Chair 

of the Board and Committees.

Composition of the Committee
All of the Directors are members of the Committee.

In accordance with corporate governance best practice and following 

her appointment as Chair of the Company, Jane Lewis stepped down 

as Chair of the Committee on 20 July 2023. With effect from that date, 

Dunke Afe was appointed Chair of the Committee.

The terms of reference of the Committee can be found on the 

Company’s website at ctcapitalandincome.co.uk.

Directorate change and succession planning
Appointments of all new Directors are made on a formal basis, normally 

using independent, professional search consultants, with the Committee 

Report of the Nomination and  
Remuneration Committee
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Diversity and tenure
The Board’s diversity policy, objective and progress in achieving it are set 

out on page 34. In normal circumstances the Chair and Directors are 

expected to serve for no more than nine years, but this may be adjusted 

for reasons of flexibility and continuity.

Committee evaluation
The activities of the Committee were considered as part of the Board 

appraisal process completed in accordance with standard governance 

arrangements as summarised on page 53. The conclusion from the 

process was that the Committee was operating effectively, with the right 

balance of membership, experience and skills. 

Dunke Afe 

Chair of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

29 November 2023
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The Board is composed solely of non-executive Directors, none of whom 

has a service contract with the Company. Each new Director is provided 

with a letter of appointment. There is no provision for compensation 

upon early termination of appointment. The letters of appointment 

are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during 

business hours and will be available for 15 minutes before and during 

the forthcoming AGM.

The dates on which each Director was appointed to the Board and 

was last elected or re-elected by Shareholders are set out on page 36. 

Each Director’s appointment is subject to election at the first Annual 

General Meeting and continues thereafter subject to re-election at 

each subsequent Annual General Meeting. The appointment can be 

terminated on one month’s notice. All the Directors, with the exception 

of Tim Scholefield, will stand for election or re-election at the AGM on  

7 March 2024.  
 

The fees for specific responsibilities are set out in the table below. 

Annual fees for Board Responsibilities

For the year ending 30 September
2024

£’000s 
2023

£’000s 
2022

£’000s 

Chair 42.8 40.5 38.5

Director 28.5 27.0 25.5

Senior Independent Director 31.5 28.5 27.0

Audit and Risk Committee Chair 35.8 32.5 31.0

Dear Shareholder,
I am pleased to introduce the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the 

year ended 30 September 2023. This report sets out the Company’s 

forward looking Directors’ Remuneration Policy and the Remuneration 

Report which describes how this policy has been applied during the 

year. I would welcome any comments you may have.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The Board’s policy is to set Directors’ remuneration at a level 

commensurate with the skills and experience necessary for the 

effective stewardship of the Company and the expected contribution of 

the Board as a whole in continuing to achieve the investment objective. 

The policy aims to be fair and reasonable in relation to comparable 

investment trusts and other similar sized financial companies. Time 

committed to the Company’s affairs and the role that individual 

Directors fulfil in respect of Board and Committee responsibilities 

are taken into account. The policy also provides for the Company’s 

reimbursement of all reasonable travel and associated expenses 

incurred by the Directors in attending Board and committee meetings, 

including those treated as a benefit in kind subject to tax and national 

insurance. The Directors are not eligible for bonuses, pension benefits, 

share options, long term incentive schemes or other benefits. This 

policy was last approved by Shareholders in March 2023 with 94.5% 

voting in favour and 5.5% against. The policy will next be put to 

Shareholders for renewal at the AGM to be held in 2026. The Board 

has not received any views from Shareholders in respect of the levels 

of Directors’ remuneration. 

The Company’s articles of association limit the aggregate fees payable 

to the Board to a total of £250,000 per annum. Within that limit, it is 

the responsibility of the Board as a whole to determine and approve the 

Directors’ fees, following a recommendation from the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee. 

The fees are fixed and are payable in cash, quarterly in arrears. The 

fees are reviewed each year. Following this review the Board agreed that 

the annual remuneration of the Chair will increase from £40,500 to 

£42,750, the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee from £32,500 to 

£35,750, the Senior Independent Director from £28,500 to £31,500 

and other Directors from £27,000 to £28,500. These increases were 

effective from 1 October 2023. The previous increase to Directors’ 

annual remuneration occurred on 1 October 2022.

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
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Directors’ Shareholdings – Directors’ share interests (audited)

At 30 September 2023 2022
Number of shares held 

(audited)
Number of shares held 

(audited)

Jane Lewis 3,095 3,095

Dunke Afe* – n/a

Patrick Firth – –

Nicky McCabe 3,420 3,420

Tim Scholefield 8,500 8,500

As at 30 September 2023 the shareholding of the Company’s fund manager, Julian Cane, was 
337,329 shares (2022: 324,122 shares).

The Company’s register of Directors’ interests contains full details of Directors’ 
shareholdings.

*Appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 1 June 2023.

 

There have been no changes in any of the Directors’ shareholdings 

detailed above between 30 September 2023 and the date of this 

report. No Director held any interests in the issued shares of the 

Company other than as stated above. There is no requirement for 

the Directors to hold shares in the Company.

Policy implementation 
The Directors’ Remuneration Report is subject to an annual advisory 

vote and therefore an ordinary resolution for its approval will be 

put to Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. At the last meeting, 

Shareholders approved the Directors’ Remuneration Report in 

respect of the year ended 30 September 2022. 95.4% of votes were 

cast in favour of the resolution and 4.6% against.

Directors’ remuneration report
The Directors who served during the year received the following 

amounts for services as non-executive Directors for the years ended 

30 September 2023 and 2022.

Fees for services to the Company (audited)

Fees  
£’000s  

(audited)

Taxable 
Benefits(1)

£’000s 
(audited)

Total
£’000s 

(audited)

Director 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Jonathan Cartwright(2) 30.5 38.5 2.0 0.1 32.5 38.6

Jane Lewis(3) 30.3 25.5 2.4 2.0 32.7 27.5

Sharon Brown(4) 8.1 31.0 1.6 4.8 9.7 35.8

Patrick Firth(5) 31.1 5.0 2.6 0.4 33.7 5.4

Tim Scholefield 28.5 27.0 1.8 0.1 30.3 27.1

Nicky McCabe 27.0 25.5 5.0 1.8 32.0 27.3

Dunke Afe(6) 9.0 n/a – n/a 9.0 n/a

Total 164.5 152.5 15.4 9.2 179.9 161.7

(1) Comprises amounts reimbursed for expenses incurred in carrying out 
business for the Company, which have been grossed up to include PAYE and NI 
contributions.

(2) Retired 1 July 2023.
(3) Appointed Chair with effect from 1 July 2023.
(4) Retired 31 December 2022.
(5) Appointed Audit Committee Chair with effect from 1 January 2023.
(6) Appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 1 June 2023.

The table below sets out the annual percentage change in fees for 

each Director who served in the year under review.

Fees annual percentage change

Director
2023

%
2022

%
2021

%
2020

%

Jonathan Cartwright -20.8(1) +4.1 +37.0(2) n/a

Jane Lewis +18.8(3) +4.1 - +2.1

Sharon Brown -73.9(4) +3.3 - +3.4

Patrick Firth +522.0(5) n/a n/a n/a

Tim Scholefield +5.6 +8.4(6) +1.6 +2.1

Nicky McCabe +5.9 +38.8(7) n/a n/a

Dunke Afe n/a n/a n/a n/a

(1) Retired 1 July 2023.
(2) Appointed as non executive Director on 26 November 2019, became Chair with effect 

from 1 April 2020. Increase reflects the first full year in the role.
(3) Appointed Chair with effect from 1 July 2023, increase reflects the change in position 

held.
(4) Retired 31 December 2022.
(5) Appointed as non executive Director on 21 July 2022, became Audit and Risk 

Committee Chair with effect from 1 January 2023. Increase reflects the first full year 
with the Company and change in position held.

(6) Appointed Senior Independent Director on 14 July 2021.
(7) Appointed as a non executive Director with effect from 1 January 2021, increase 

reflects the first full year with the Company.
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The table below shows the actual expenditure during the year in 

relation to Directors’ remuneration (excluding taxable benefits) and 

Shareholder distributions:

Relative importance of pay

Actual Expenditure
Year ended 30 September

2023
£’000s

2022
£’000s

%
Change

Aggregate Directors’ fees 164.5 152.5 7.9

Management and other expenses(1) 2,129.0 2,109.0 0.9

Dividends paid to Shareholders 12,819.0 12,532.0 2.3

(1) Includes Directors’ remuneration.

Company performance
The Board is responsible for the Company’s investment strategy 

and performance. The management of the investment portfolio is 

delegated to the Manager. An explanation of the performance of the 

Company for the year ended 30 September 2023 is given in the 

Chair’s Statement and Fund Manager’s Review.

A comparison of the Company’s performance over the required 

ten year period is set out in the graph. This shows the total return 

(assuming all dividends are reinvested) to ordinary Shareholders 

against the Benchmark.

Dunke Afe 

Chair of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

29 November 2023
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the impact of the war in Ukraine, recent events in Israel and Gaza and 

inflationary pressures upon the risks, operations and accounting basis  

of the Company.  

Mindful of the guidance issued by the Financial Reporting Council, when 

assessing going concern the Directors have considered this in addition 

to taking note of the Company’s objective, strategy and policy, its cash 

position, availability of the loan facility and the operational resilience 

of its service providers. Further analysis of the application of the going 

concern principle is detailed in note 20 to the Financial Report.

The Board retains ultimate responsibility for all aspects relating to 

external financial statements and other significant published financial 

information as is noted in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 

on page 54. On broader control policy issues, the Committee has 

received confirmation that bribery and corruption are managed by 

the Manager’s Global Code of Conduct and Anti-Corruption Policy and 

Guidelines. The Manager and its employees are subject to both the 

Code and the Policy. The Committee has also received confirmation 

that the Manager has in place a Whistleblowing Policy under which its 

directors and staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 

improprieties in financial reporting or other matters. The necessary 

arrangements are in place for communication to this Committee  

where matters might impact the Company with appropriate follow up 

action. In the year under review, there were no such concerns raised 

with the Committee.

Composition of the Committee
All the Directors of the Company are independent. All Directors, with 

the exception of the Chair of the Company, were members of the 

Committee. This is in accordance with developing Corporate Governance 

best practice. The Chair, however, has been invited to attend. Until 

31 December 2022 Sharon Brown was Chair of the Committee. On 

that date she retired from the Board and the Committee. Upon this 

retirement Patrick Firth was appointed Chair of the Committee. He is a 

qualified Chartered Accountant and a member of the Chartered Institute 

for Securities and Investment. He has worked in the fund industry in 

Guernsey since 1992 and has been, and continues to be a director of 

a number of management companies, general partners and investment 

companies, including Chair of the Audit and Risk Committees.

Role of the Committee 
The Committee met on three occasions during the year, and the 

attendance of each of the members is set out on page 43. The Trust 

Accountant, the Fund Manager and Risk Managers of the Manager 

were invited to attend certain meetings to report on relevant matters. 

The external auditor, BDO LLP, attended two of the committee meetings 

and also met in private session with the Committee Chair. 

The Committee considered, monitored and reviewed the following 

matters:

•  The audited annual results statement and Report and Accounts 

and the unaudited half yearly results statement and Report and 

Accounts;

•  The accounting policies of the Company;

•  The principal risks faced by the Company and the effectiveness of 

the Company’s internal control and risk management environment, 

including consideration of the assumptions underlying the Board’s 

future prospects statement on viability;

•  The effectiveness of the external audit process and the current 

independence and objectivity of BDO LLP;

•  The policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-

audit services and approval of any such services;

•  The need for the Company to have its own internal audit function;

•  The ISAE/AAF and SSAE16 reports or their equivalent from the 

Manager, the Custodian, Depositary and a due diligence report 

from the Company’s share registrar; and

•  The Committee’s terms of reference, which can be found on the 

website at ctcapitalandincome.co.uk.

Comprehensive papers and reports relating to each of these matters 

were considered by the Committee and recommendations were then 

made to the Board as appropriate.

As noted within Principal Risks and Future Prospects on page 28 the 

Directors have reviewed the risk register of the Company. 

Throughout the preparation processes for both the interim report for 

the six month period ended 31 March 2023 and the annual report for 

the year ended 30 September 2023 the Committee has considered 

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee 
The primary responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee (the “Committee”) are to ensure the 
integrity of the financial reporting of the Company and the appropriateness of the internal controls 
and risk management processes.
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control systems. The assessment included a review of the Manager’s 

risk management infrastructure and the report on policies and 

procedures in operation and tests for the year to 31 October 2022 (the 

“ISAE/AAF Report”). The Manager has provided further assurance 

that controls have operated satisfactorily since that date. This had 

been prepared by the Manager for all its investment trust clients to the 

International Standard on Assurance Engagement (“ISAE”) No.3402 

and to the standards of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 

England and Wales Technical Release AAF (01/20). 

The ISAE/AAF Report, containing an unqualified opinion from 

independent reporting accountants KPMG, sets out the Manager’s 

control policies and procedures with respect to the management of its 

clients’ investments and maintenance of their financial records. The 

effectiveness of these controls is monitored by the Manager’s Group 

Audit and Compliance Committee, which receives regular reports from 

its Internal Audit department. Procedures are also in place to capture 

and evaluate any failings and weaknesses within the Manager’s control 

environment and those extending to any outsourced service providers 

to ensure that action would be taken to remedy any significant issues. 

Any errors or breaches relating to the Company are reported at each 

Board meeting by the Manager. No failings or weaknesses material to 

the overall control environment and financial statements were identified 

in the Company’s year under review. The Committee also reviewed 

the control reports of the Custodian, the Depositary and the Share 

Registrar and were satisfied that there were no material exceptions. 

Through the reviews and reporting arrangements set out above and 

by direct enquiry of the Manager and other relevant parties, the 

Committee and the Board have satisfied themselves that there were 

no material control failures or exceptions affecting the Company’s 

operations during the year or to the date of this report. 

Based on review, observation and enquiry by the Committee and Board 

of the processes and controls in place within the Manager, including 

the unqualified opinion of a reputable independent accounting firm that 

those controls operated satisfactorily, the Committee has concluded 

that there is no current need for the Company to have an internal audit 

function and the Board has concurred. 

External audit process and significant issues considered by 
the Committee
In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee has considered the 

planning arrangements, scope, materiality levels and conclusions of 

the 2023 external audit. The table on the next page describes the 

significant judgements and issues considered by the Committee in 

conjunction with BDO LLP in relation to the financial statements for 

the year and how these issues were addressed. The Committee also 

included in their review the areas of judgements and estimates referred 

to in note 2(c)(xv) to the accounts. 

The other members of the Committee have a combination of relevant 

financial, investment and business experience through the senior posts 

held throughout their careers. The Committee considers that collectively 

the members have sufficient recent and relevant sector and financial 

experience to discharge their responsibilities. The performance of the 

Committee was evaluated as part of the Board appraisal process.

Management of risk
The Manager’s Business Risk department provides regular control 

report updates to the Committee covering risk and compliance while 

any significant issues of direct relevance to the Company are required 

to be reported to the Board immediately. During the year the internal 

audit function of the Manager presented to the Board on their recent 

and planned activities within Columbia Threadneedle Investments.

A key risk register is produced by the Manager in consultation with 

the Board to identify the risks to which the Company is exposed, the 

controls in place and the actions being taken to mitigate them. The 

Board has a robust process for considering the resulting risk matrix and 

reviews the significance of the risks and the reasons for any changes. 

The Company’s Principal Risks and their mitigations are set out on 

pages 28 and 29 with additional information given in note 21 to the 

accounts. The integration of these risks into the analyses underpinning 

the “Five Year Horizon” Statement on page 30 was fully considered 

and the Committee concluded that the Board’s statement was soundly 

based. 

Internal controls 
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s systems of 

internal controls, for reviewing their effectiveness and ensuring that 

risk management and control processes are embedded in the day-to-

day operations, which are managed by the Manager. The Committee 

has reviewed and reported to the Board on these controls, which aim 

to ensure that the assets of the Company are safeguarded, proper 

accounting records are maintained, and the financial information used 

within the business and for publication is reliable. Control of the risks 

identified, covering financial, operational, compliance and overall risk 

management, is exercised by the Committee and the Board through 

regular reports provided by the Manager. The reports cover investment 

performance, compliance with agreed and regulatory investment 

restrictions, financial analyses, revenue estimates, performance of the 

third party administrators of the CT Savings Plans and other relevant 

management issues.

The systems of internal controls are designed to manage rather than 

eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only 

provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 

misstatement, loss or fraud. Further to the review by the Committee, 

the Board has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
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Significant judgements and issues considered by the Committee in 2023

Matter Action

Investment Portfolio Valuation

The Company’s portfolio is invested 
in listed securities. Although the 
vast majority of the securities 
are highly liquid and listed on 
recognised stock exchanges, 
errors in the valuation could have a 
material impact on the Company’s 
Net Asset Value per share.

The Board reviews the full portfolio valuation at each Board meeting and receives quarterly 
monitoring and control reports from the AIFM and Depositary. The Committee reviewed the 
Manager’s ISAE/AAF Report for the year ended 31 October 2022, which is reported on by 
independent external accountants and which details the systems, processes and controls 
around the daily pricing of equity and fixed interest securities. The Manager has provided further 
assurance that controls have operated satisfactorily since that date. The valuation and existence 
of investments were tested and reported on by the auditors as set out on page 57.

Misappropriation of Assets

Misappropriation or non-existence 
of the Company’s investments 
or cash balances could have a 
material impact on its Net Asset 
Value per share.

The Committee reviewed the Manager’s ISAE/AAF Report for the year ended 31 October 2022, which 
details the controls around the reconciliation of the Manager’s records to those of the Custodian. The 
Committee also reviewed the Custodian’s annual internal control report to 31 March 2023, which 
is reported on by independent external accountants and which provides details regarding its control 
environment. Regular updates from the Manager, Depositary and Custodian, in respect of controls 
operating in subsequent periods up to 30 September 2023, were also reviewed and agreed as being 
satisfactory. 

Income Recognition

Incomplete or inaccurate income 
recognition could have an adverse 
effect on the Company’s Net Asset 
Value and earnings per share and 
its level of dividend cover.

The Committee reviewed the Manager’s ISAE/AAF Report and subsequent confirmation referred to 
above. It also assessed the final level of income received for the year against the budget which was 
set at the start of the year and discussed the accounting treatment of special dividends with the 
Manager. Investment income was also tested and reported on by the auditors as set out on page 57.

The Committee met in November 2023 to discuss the draft 

Report and Accounts, with representatives of BDO LLP and the 

Manager in attendance. BDO LLP submitted their Year End report 

to the Committee and confirmed that they anticipated issuing an 

unqualified audit opinion in respect of the Report and Accounts. 

The Committee established that there were no material issues 

or findings arising which needed to be brought to the attention of 

the Board and confirmed that the Report and Accounts were in 

their view fair, balanced and understandable in accordance with 

accounting standards, regulatory requirements and best practice. The 

Independent Auditors’ Report, which sets out their unqualified audit 

opinion, the scope of the audit and the areas of focus, in compliance 

with applicable auditing standards, can be found on pages 56 to 60. 

Auditor assessment and independence 
The Committee has been satisfied with the effectiveness of BDO LLP’s 

performance on the audit of the Company’s accounts. BDO LLP has 

confirmed its independence of the Company and has complied with 

relevant auditing standards. In evaluating BDO LLP , the Committee 

took into consideration the standing, skills and experience of the 

firm and the audit team and also took note of BDO LLP’s audit 

performance through the FRC’s Audit Quality Review. The fee for 

the audit was £42,000 (2022: £35,000) as shown in note 5 to the 

accounts. 

Non-audit services
The Committee regards the continued independence of the auditor to be 

a matter of the highest priority. The Company’s policy with regard to the 

provision of non-audit services by the external auditor ensures that no 

engagement will be permitted if:

•  the provision of the services would contravene any regulation or 

ethical standard;

•  the auditors are not considered to be expert providers of the non-

audit services; 

•  the provision of such services by the auditor creates a conflict of 

interest for either the Board or the Manager; and

•  the services are considered to be likely to inhibit the auditor’s 

independence or objectivity as auditors. 

In particular, the Committee has a policy that the costs of all non-audit 

services sought from the auditors in any one year should not exceed 70% 

of the average audit fee paid over the last three consecutive years.

There were no non-audit services for the year ended 30 September 2023.

Patrick Firth 

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee 

29 November 2023
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Governance Report

Role of the Management Engagement Committee (“the 
Committee”)
The primary role of the Committee is to review annually the 

performance of and the fee paid to the Manager for the services it 

provides under the management agreement together with the terms 

of the agreement. As part of this process it receives reports on any 

services delegated by the Manager to outsourced service providers. 

The Committee considers any extra charges and services proposed by 

the Manager in addition to the management fees.

The Committee reviews annually the performance of all service 

providers to the Company and monitors fees payable to them. It will 

make any necessary recommendations to the Board.

Composition of the Committee
All of the Directors are members of the Committee. The Committee is 

chaired by Nicky McCabe. The terms of reference can be found on the 

website at ctcapitalandincome.co.uk.

Manager and supplier evaluation process 
Investment performance is considered by the Board at every meeting, 

with the formal annual evaluation undertaken by the Committee 

including the wider services provided by the Manager. In evaluating the 

performance, the Committee considers a range of factors including 

the investment performance of the portfolio and the skills, experience 

and depth of the team involved in managing the Company’s assets. 

For the purposes of its ongoing monitoring, the Board had received 

detailed reports and views from the Fund Manager on investment 

policy, asset allocation, gearing and risk. The Board had also received 

comprehensive performance and risk management schedules to 

enable it to assess: the success or failure of the management of 

the portfolio against the performance objectives set by the Board; 

the sources of positive and negative contribution to the portfolio in 

terms of gearing, asset allocation and stock selection; and the risk/

return characteristics. The Committee also monitors the level of the 

Manager’s fee, the service provided by the Manager and the service 

and fees of all of the Company’s third party service providers.

Manager reappointment
The annual evaluation that took place in July 2023 included a 

presentation from the Manager’s Head of Investment Trusts. The 

Report of the Management  
Engagement Committee

Manager continued to commit the necessary resources in all areas 

of their responsibilities, including investment, ESG, marketing and 

administrative services towards the achievement of the Company’s 

objective. The Committee met in closed session following the 

presentation and concluded that in its opinion, in the light of longer- 

term investment performance and the quality of the overall service 

provided, the continuing appointment of the Manager on the terms 

agreed was in the interests of Shareholders as a whole. The Board 

ratified this recommendation.

Nicky McCabe 

Chair of the Management Engagement Committee 

29 November 2023
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reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 

other irregularities.

The Report and Accounts is published on the  

ctcapitalandincome.co.uk website, which is maintained by the 

Manager. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 

integrity of the Company’s website. Visitors to the website need 

to be aware that legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 

preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 

from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement under Disclosure Guidance and Transparency 
Rule 4.1.12
Each of the Directors listed on page 36 confirm to the best of their 

knowledge that:

•  the financial statements, prepared in accordance with 

applicable accounting standards give a true and fair view of the 

assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company;

•  the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development 

and performance of the business and the position of the 

Company, together with a description of the principal risks and 

uncertainties that they face; and

•  the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a 

whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide 

the information necessary for Shareholders to assess the 

Company’s position and performance, business model and 

strategy.

On behalf of the Board 
Jane Lewis 
Chair 
29 November 2023

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Report and 

Accounts, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial 

statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements 

for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared 

the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 and applicable law 

(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial 

statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 

view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or 

loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial 

statements, the Directors are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;

•  make judgements and accounting estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent;

•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been 

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 

explained in the financial statements respectively; 

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 

unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 

continue in business; and

• prepare a Directors’ Report, a Strategic Report and a Directors’ 

Remuneration Report which comply with the requirements of 

the Companies Act 2006.

 

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 

requirements in preparing the financial statements. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 

records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 

transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 

financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that 

the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report 

comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible 

for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
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Governance Report

Management and Advisers 

The Manager
CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust 

PLC is managed by Columbia Threadneedle 

Investment Business Limited, a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Columbia Threadneedle 

AM (Holdings) PLC which is ultimately owned 

by Ameriprise Financial, Inc. Columbia 

Threadneedle Investment Business Limited 

is authorised and regulated in the UK by the 

Financial Conduct Authority and is appointed 

under a management agreement with the 

Company setting out its responsibilities for 

investment management, administration and 

marketing.

The Manager also acts as the Alternative 

Investment Fund Manager.

Julian Cane Fund Manager and director of 

UK equities at the Manager, has managed 

the Company’s investments since March 

1997. He joined the Manager in 1993.

Marrack Tonkin Head of Investment Trusts 

at the Manager. He has responsibility for the 

relationship with the Company. He joined the 

Manager in 1989.

Scott McEllen Represents the Manager as 

Company Secretary and is responsible for 

the Company’s statutory compliance. He 

joined the Manager in 2007.

.

The Secretary and the Company’s 
Registered Office
Columbia Threadneedle Investment 

Business Limited 

Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street 

London EC4N 6AG

Telephone: 0131 573 8300  

Website: ctcapitalandincome.co.uk 

Email: invest@columbiathreadneedle.com

The Auditors
BDO LLP  

55 Baker Street  

London W1U 7EU

The Bank
JPMorgan Chase Bank 

25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf 

London E14 5JP

The Custodian
JPMorgan Chase Bank 

25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf  

London E14 5JP

The Depositary
JPMorgan Europe Limited  

25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf  

London E14 5JP

The Registrars
Computershare Investor Services PLC 

The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road 

Bristol BS99 6ZZ

Telephone:  0370 889 4094 

The Legal Counsel
Dickson Minto W.S. 

Broadgate Tower, 20 Primrose Street 

London EC2A 2EW

The Broker
Cavendish (formerly Cenkos Securities plc) 

1 Bartholomew Close 

London EC1A 7BL
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the 

Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 

preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation 

of the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s ability to continue to 

adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

•  Evaluating the appropriateness of the Directors’ method of 

assessing going concern in light of market volatility by reviewing 

the information used by the Directors in completing their 

assessment;

•  Assessing the liquidity of the investment portfolio, which 

underpins the ability to meet the future obligations and operating 

expenses for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of 

these financial statements; 

•  Reviewing the loan agreements to identify relevant covenants and 

assessing the likelihood of them being breached based on the 

Directors’ forecast and sensitivity analysis;

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified 

any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 

at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

In relation to the Company’s reporting on how it has applied the UK 

Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or draw 

attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial 

statements about whether the Directors considered it appropriate to 

adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with 

respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 

this report.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Company 

and its environment, including the Company’s system of internal control, 

and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial 

statements. We also addressed the risk of management override of 

internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence 

of bias by the Directors that may have represented a risk of material 

misstatement.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as 

at 30 September 2023 and of its profit for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of CT UK Capital and 

Income Investment Trust PLC (the “Company”) for the year ended 30 

September 2023 which comprise the income statement, statement 

of changes in equity, the Balance sheet, the statement of cash 

flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 

of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 

United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 

for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is 

consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.

Independence

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were 

appointed by the Board of Directors on 11 February 2020 to audit 

the financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2020 

and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted 

engagement including retenders and reappointments is four years, 

covering the years ended 30 September 2020 to 30 September 

2023. We remain independent of the Company in accordance with 

the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied 

to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit 

services prohibited by that standard were not provided to the Company.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust PLC 
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 

statements of the current period and include the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 

that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: 

the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and 

directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as 

a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation and 
ownership 
quoted of 
investments 

(Note 2c (i) on 
page 68 and 
10 on page 74)

The investment portfolio at the year-end comprised of 
100% of listed equity investments held at fair value 
through profit or loss.

There is a risk that the prices used for the valuation of the 
listed investments held by the Company are not reflective 
of fair value and the risk that errors made in the recording 
of investment holdings result in the incorrect reflection of 
investments owned by the Company. 

Therefore we considered the valuation and ownership 
of quoted investments to be the most significant audit 
area as the quoted investments also represent the most 
significant balance in the financial statements and 
underpin the principal activity of the entity.

For these reasons and the materiality of the balance 
in relation to the financial statements as a whole, we 
considered this to be a key audit matter.

We responded to this matter by testing the valuation and ownership of the whole portfolio of 
quoted investments. We performed the following procedures:
• Confirmed the year-end bid price was used by agreeing to externally quoted prices;

• Assessed if there were contra indicators, such as liquidity considerations, to suggest bid 
price was not the most appropriate indication of fair value by considering the realisation 
period for individual holdings;

• Obtained direct confirmation of the number of shares held per equity investment from the 
custodian regarding all investments held at the balance sheet date; and

• Recalculated the valuation by multiplying the number of shares held per the statement 
obtained from the custodian by the valuation per share.

Key observations:

Based on our procedures performed we did not identify any matters to suggest that the 
valuation and ownership of quoted investments was not appropriate.

Revenue  
recognition 

(Note 2c (v) on 
page 67 and 
Note 3 on page 
68)

Income arises from dividends and is a key factor in 
demonstrating the performance of the portfolio. As 
such there may be an incentive to recognise income as 
revenue where it is more appropriately of a capital nature. 

Additionally, judgement is required by management 
in determining the allocation of dividend income to 
revenue or capital for certain corporate actions or special 
dividends. 

For this reason, we considered revenue recognition to be 
a key audit matter

We assessed the treatment of dividend income from corporate actions and special dividends and 
challenged if these had been appropriately accounted for as income or capital by reviewing the 
underlying reason for issue of the dividend and whether it could be driven by a capital event. 

We analysed the whole population of dividend receipts to identify items for further discussion 
that could indicate a capital distribution, for example where a dividend represents a particularly 
high yield. In these instances we performed a combination of inquiry with management and our 
own independent research, including inspection of financial statements of investee companies, to 
ascertain whether the underlying event was indeed of a capital nature.

We derived our own expectation of income for the whole portfolio during the year using data 
analytics based on the investment holdings and distributions from independent sources and 
traced a sample of dividend income receipts to bank.

Key observations:

Based on our procedures performed we found the judgements made by management in 
determining the allocation of income to revenue or capital to be appropriate.

Overview

2023 2022

Key audit matters Valuation and ownership of quoted investments  
Revenue recognition  

Materiality Company financial statements as a whole 

£3.1m (2022: £2.9m) based on 1% (2022: 1%) of 
Net assets

Specific materiality

£0.71m based on 5% (2022: 5%) of net revenue returns attributable to equity 
Shareholders before tax (2022: £0.60m).
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performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. 

Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily 

be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of 

identified misstatements, and the particular circumstances of their 

occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as 

a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the 

financial statements as a whole and performance materiality as follows:

Our application of materiality 

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing 

our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. We consider 

materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including 

omissions, could influence the economic decisions of reasonable 

users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any 

misstatements exceed materiality, we use a lower materiality level, 

Specific Materiality

We also determined that for items impacting revenue return, a 

misstatement of less than materiality for the financial statements as 

a whole, specific materiality, could influence the economic decisions 

of users. As a result, we determined materiality for these items 

to be £0.71m (2022: £0.64m) based on 5% (2022: 5%) of net 

revenue returns attributable to equity Shareholders before tax. We 

further applied a performance materiality level of 75% (2022:75%) of 

specific materiality to ensure that the risk of errors exceeding specific 

materiality was appropriately mitigated.

Reporting threshold  

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all 

individual audit differences in excess of £62,000 (2022: £60,000) 

for the financial statements as a whole. We also set a separate 

reporting threshold of £35,000 (2022: £30,000) for the transactions 

and balances that impact on the revenue return. We also agreed to 

report differences below these thresholds that, in our view, warranted 

reporting on qualitative grounds.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the information included in the Report and 

Accounts other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 

other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 

our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the 

audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 

material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 

required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement 

in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Corporate governance statement 
The Listing Rules require us to review the Directors’ statement in 

relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the 

Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance 

with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for 

our review. 

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded 

that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance 

Statement is materially consistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained during the audit.

Company financial statements 2023 £m 2022 £m

Materiality 3.1 2.9

Basis for determining materiality 1% of Net assets 1% of Net assets

Rationale for the benchmark applied As an investment trust, the net asset value is the key 
measure of performance for users of the financial 
statements.

As an investment trust, the net asset value is the key 
measure of performance for users of the financial 
statements.

Performance materiality 2.3 2.2

Basis for determining performance 
materiality

75% of materiality 75% of materiality

Rationale for the percentage applied 
for performance materiality 

The level of performance materiality applied was set after 
having considered a number of factors including the 
expected total value of known and likely misstatements 
and the level of transactions in the year. 

The level of performance materiality applied was set after 
having considered a number of factors including the 
expected total value of known and likely misstatements 
and the level of transactions in the year. 
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Other Companies Act 2006 reporting 

Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required by the Companies Act 

2006 and ISAs (UK) to report on certain opinions and matters as described below. 

Going concern and longer-term viability •  The Directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of 
accounting and any material uncertainties identified set out on page 38; and

•  The Directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the Company’s prospects, the period this assessment 
covers and why the period is appropriate set out on page 30.

Other Code provisions •  Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 54; 
•  Board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set 

out on page 28; 
•  The section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and 

internal control systems set out on page 51; and
•  The section describing the work of the audit committee set out on page 50.

Strategic report and Directors’ report In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

•  the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•  the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ report.

Directors’ remuneration In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

•  the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

•  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors 

As explained more fully in the statement of Directors’ 

responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of 

the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 

and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine 

is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible 

for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either 

intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no 

realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, 

including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance 

with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 

responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements 

in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 

procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is 

detailed below:
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Our procedures in respect of the above included:

•  The procedures set out in the Key Audit Matters section above;

•  Recalculating investment management fees in total;

•  Obtaining independent confirmation of bank balances; and

•  Testing material period end journals by agreeing to supporting 

documentation and evaluating whether there was evidence of 

bias by the Investment Manager and Directors that represented 

a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and 

potential fraud risks to all engagement team members who were 

all deemed to have appropriate competence and capabilities and 

remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with 

laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material 

misstatement in the financial statements, recognising that the risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the 

risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations 

or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit 

procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with 

laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in 

the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of 

it.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on 

the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/

auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 

report.

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in 

accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them 

in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for 

our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Peter Smith (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London 
29 November 2023

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and 

Wales (with registered number OC305127).

Non-compliance with laws and regulations

Based on:

•  Our understanding of the Company and the industry in which it 

operates;

•  Discussion with management and those charged with 

governance and Audit Committee; and

•  Obtaining and understanding of the Company’s policies and 

procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We considered the significant laws and regulations to be Companies 

Act 2006, the FCA listing and DTR rules, the principles of the AIC 

Code of Corporate Governance, industry practice represented by the 

AIC SORP, the applicable accounting framework, and qualification as 

an Investment Trust under UK tax legislation as any non-compliance 

of this would lead to the Company losing various deductions and 

exemptions from corporation tax. 

Our procedures in respect of the above included:

•  Agreement of the financial statement disclosures to underlying 

supporting documentation;

•  Enquiries of management and those charged with governance 

relating to the existence of any non-compliance with laws and 

regulations;

•  Reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with 

governance throughout the period for instances of non-

compliance with laws and regulations; and

•  Reviewing the calculation in relation to Investment Trust 

compliance to check that the Company was meeting its 

requirements to retain its Investment Trust Status. 

Fraud

We assessed the susceptibility of the financial statement to material 

misstatement including fraud.

Our risk assessment procedures included:

•  Enquiry with management and those charged with governance 

regarding any known or suspected instances of fraud;

•  Obtaining an understanding of the Company’s policies and 

procedures relating to:

•  Detecting and responding to the risks of fraud; and 

•  Internal controls established to mitigate risks related to 

fraud. 

•  Review of minutes of meeting of those charged with governance 

for any known or suspected instances of fraud; and

•  Discussion amongst the engagement team as to how and 

where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

Based on our risk assessment, we considered the areas most 

susceptible to be revenue recognition and management override of 

controls.
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Income Statement

for the year ended 30 September

Revenue
£’000s

Capital
£’000s 

2023  
Total

£’000s 
Revenue
£’000s

Capital
£’000s 

2022  
Total

 £’000s 

10 Gains/(losses) on investments – 25,619 25,619 – (57,259) (57,259)

Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (4) 4 – (1) – (1)

3 17 Income 16,179 – 16,179 14,495 – 14,495

4 4 Management fee (693) (693) (1,386) (714) (714) (1,428)

5 5 Other expenses (742) (1) (743) (680) (1) (681)

Net return before finance costs and taxation 14,740 24,929 39,669 13,100 (57,974) (44,874)

6 6 Finance costs (662) (662) (1,324) (192) (192) (384)

Net return before taxation 14,078 24,267 38,345 12,908 (58,166) (45,258)

7 7 Taxation (22) – (22) (18) – (18)

Net return attributable to Shareholders 14,056 24,267 38,323 12,890 (58,166) (45,276)

8 8 Return per share – basic and diluted 13.26p 22.89p 36.15p 12.03p (54.29p) (42.26p)

The total column of this statement is the profit and loss account of the Company. The revenue return and capital return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under 

guidance published by the AIC.

All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations. 

A statement of Comprehensive Income is not required as all gains and losses of the Company have been reflected in the above statement.

The notes on pages 65 to 81 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 30 September 2023

No
te

s

Share  
capital
£’000s

Share 
premium 
account 
£’000s 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000s 

Special 
reserve 
£’000s 

Capital 
reserve
£’000s 

Revenue 
reserve
£’000s

Total 
Shareholders’ 

funds
£’000s 

Balance at 30 September 2022 26,822 141,380 4,146 2,642 110,200 11,093 296,283

Movements during the year ended 30 September 2023

9 Dividends paid – – – – – (12,819) (12,819)

16 Ordinary shares issued from treasury – – – 224 – – 224

16,17 Ordinary shares bought back and held in treasury – – – (2,866) (4,380) – (7,246)

16 Costs relating to broker – (13) – – (5) – (18)

Net return attributable to Shareholders – – – – 24,267 14,056 38,323

Balance at 30 September 2023 26,822 141,367 4,146 – 130,082 12,330 314,747

for the year ended 30 September 2022

No
te

s

Share  
capital
£’000s

Share 
premium 
account 
£’000s 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000s 

Special 
reserve 
£’000s 

Capital 
reserve
£’000s 

Revenue 
reserve
£’000s

Total 
Shareholders’ 

funds
£’000s 

Balance at 30 September 2021 26,822 141,374 4,146 4,432 168,366 10,735 355,875

Movements during the year ended 30 September 2022:

9 Dividends paid – – – – – (12,532) (12,532)

16 Ordinary shares issued from treasury – 21 – 568 – – 589

16 Ordinary shares bought back and held in treasury – – – (2,358) – – (2,358)

16 Costs relating to broker – (15) – – – – (15)

Net return attributable to Shareholders – – – – (58,166) 12,890 (45,276)

Balance at 30 September 2022 26,822 141,380 4,146 2,642 110,200 11,093 296,283

The notes on pages 65 to 81 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

at 30 September 

No
te

s

 
2023

£’000s 
2022

£’000s

Fixed assets

10 Investments 336,112 318,796

Current assets

11 Debtors 2,833 5,106

14 Cash and cash equivalents 2,378 906

Total current assets 5,211 6,012

Current liabilities

12 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (1,576) (4,525)

13,14 Bank loan (25,000) (24,000)

Total current liabilities (26,576) (28,525)

Net current liabilities (21,365) (22,513)

Total assets less current liabilities 314,747 296,283

Capital and reserves

15 Share capital 26,822 26,822

16 Share premium account 141,367 141,380

16 Capital redemption reserve 4,146 4,146

16 Special reserve – 2,642

17 Capital reserve 130,082 110,200

17 Revenue reserve 12,330 11,093

Total Shareholders’ funds 314,747 296,283

18 Net Asset Value per ordinary share – pence 301.67 277.66

The notes on pages 65 to 81 form an integral part of the financial statements.

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board on 29 November 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Jane Lewis, Chair
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Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 30 September 

No
te

s

 
2023

£’000s 
2022 

£’000s

19 Cash flows from operating activities before dividends and interest (2,162) (2,241)

Dividends received 15,777 14,133

Interest received 91 9

Interest paid (1,298) (376)

Cash flows from operating activities 12,408 11,525

Investing activities

Purchase of investments (20,000) (22,303)

Sale of investments 27,924 25,189

Other capital charges (1) (1)

Cash flows from investing activities 7,923 2,885

Cash flows before financing activities 20,331 14,410

Financing activities

9 Equity dividends paid (12,819) (12,532)

16 Net proceeds from issuance of shares from treasury 224 589

16 Broker costs associated with share issues and buybacks (18) (15)

16,17 Costs of shares bought back and held in treasury (7,246) (2,358)

13,14 Drawdown/(repayment) of bank loan 1,000 (1,000)

Cash flows from financing activities (18,859) (15,316)

14 Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 1,472 (906)

14 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 906 1,813

14 Effect of movement in foreign exchange – (1)

14 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,378 906

Represented by:

Cash at bank 88 36

Short term deposits 2,290 870

2,378 906

The notes on pages 65 to 81 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. General information

CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust PLC is an investment company incorporated in England (UK) with a premium listing on the London 

Stock Exchange. The Company registration number is 02732011 and the registered office is Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London, EC4N 

6AG, United Kingdom.

The Company has conducted its affairs so as to qualify as an investment trust under the provisions of Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax 

Act 2010. Approval of the Company under Section 1158 has been received. The Company intends to conduct its affairs so as to enable it to 

continue to comply with the requirements. Such approval exempts the Company from UK Corporation Tax on gains realised in the relevant year 

on its portfolio of fixed asset investments.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the year ended 30 September 2023 with no significant changes, as set out in 

note 2 below.

2. Significant accounting policies

(a)  Going concern 

As referred to on page 38 and note 20 to the accounts, the Directors believe that it is appropriate for the accounts to be prepared on 

a going concern basis.

(b) Basis of accounting

The accounts of the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, modified to include 

fixed asset investments, and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) 102 applicable in the 

United Kingdom and with the Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies and Venture 

Capital Trusts’ (“SORP”) issued by the Association of Investment Companies. 

All of the Company’s operations are of a continuing nature. The functional and reporting currency of the Company is pounds sterling 

because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company’s activities comprise a single operating segment, which is investing in the UK and 

Europe in equities to secure long term growth in income and capital.

In accordance with the SORP, the Income Statement has been analysed between a revenue account (dealing with items of a revenue 

nature) and a capital account (relating to items of a capital nature). Revenue returns include, but are not limited to, dividend income, 

operating expenses and tax (insofar as the expenses and tax are not allocated to capital, as described in note 2(c)). Net revenue 

returns are allocated via the revenue account to the revenue reserve, out of which four interim dividend payments are made. Capital 

returns include, but are not limited to, realised and unrealised profits and losses on investments, income identified as being capital 

in nature, expenses allocated to capital and currency profits and losses on cash and borrowings. Net capital returns are allocated via 

the capital account to the capital reserve. Dividends paid to Shareholders are shown in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

(c) Principal accounting policies 

The policies set out below have been applied consistently throughout the year ended 30 September 2023 and the prior year.    

Notes to the Accounts
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(i) Financial instruments

Financial instruments include fixed asset investments, cash and short term deposits, debtors and creditors. Accounting standards 

recognise a hierarchy of fair value measurements for financial instruments which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices 

in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3). The classification of 

financial instruments depends on the lowest significant applicable input, as follows:

Level 1 – The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the Company can access at the 

measurement date.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using market data) for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 – External inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability. Value is the Directors’ best estimate, based on advice from relevant 

knowledgeable experts, use of recognised valuation techniques and on assumptions as to what inputs other market participants would 

apply in pricing the same or similar instrument. Included within this category are unquoted investments. 

All of the Company’s investments held during the year have been classified as Level 1.

(ii) Fixed asset investments and derivative financial instruments

As an investment trust, the Company measures its fixed asset investments at “fair value through profit or loss” and treats all 

transactions on the realisation and revaluation of investments as transactions on the Capital Account. Purchases and sales are 

recognised on a trade date basis.

Quoted investments are valued at bid value at the close of business on the relevant date on the exchange on which the investment 

is quoted. Investments which are not quoted or which are not frequently traded are stated at Directors’ best estimate of fair value. 

In arriving at their estimate, the Directors make use of recognised valuation techniques and may take account of recent arms’ length 

transactions in the same or similar instruments. Where no reliable fair value can be estimated, investments are carried at cost or, 

where subsequently revalued, at their previous carrying amount less any provision for impairment.

(iii) Debt Instruments 

Loans and overdrafts are recorded initially at proceeds received, less direct issue costs, and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method.

Finance charges, including interest, are accrued using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the 

instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period. See 2(c)(vi) on page 67 for allocation of finance charges within the 

Income Statement.

(iv) Foreign currency

Monetary assets, monetary liabilities and equity investments denominated in a foreign currency are expressed in sterling at rates 

of exchange ruling at the Balance Sheet date. Purchases and sales of investment securities, dividend income, interest income and 

expenses are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the respective dates of such transactions.

Foreign exchange profits and losses on fixed asset investments are included within the changes in fair value in the capital account. 

Foreign exchange profits and losses on other currency balances are separately credited or charged to the capital account except 

where they relate to revenue items when they are credited or charged to the revenue account.

(v) Income 

Income from equity shares is brought into the revenue account (except where, in the opinion of the Directors, its nature indicates it should 

be recognised within the capital account) on the ex-dividend date or, where no ex-dividend date is quoted, when the Company’s right to 

receive payment is established. Fixed returns on non-equity shares and debt securities are recognised on a time apportionment basis so 

as to reflect the effective yield on the investment. 

 

Dividends are accounted for in accordance with FRS 102 on the basis of income actually receivable. Dividends from overseas companies 

are shown gross of withholding tax.  
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Where the Company has elected to receive its dividends in the form of additional shares rather than in cash (scrip dividends), the amount 

of the cash dividend foregone is recognised as income. Any excess in the value of the shares received over the amount of the cash 

dividend foregone is recognised in the capital account. 

 

Underwriting commission is recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment is established. Deposit interest is accounted for on 

an accruals basis. 

(vi) Expenses, including finance charges

Expenses, inclusive of associated value added tax (VAT), are charged to the revenue account of the Income Statement, except as 

noted below:

 – expenses incidental to the acquisition or disposal of fixed asset investments which are recognised immediately in the capital 

return of the Income Statement and are thus charged to capital reserve – realised; and

 – 50% of management fees and 50% of finance costs are allocated to capital reserve – realised, in accordance with the Board’s 

long term expected split of returns from the investment portfolio of the Company.

All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

(vii) Taxation

Deferred tax is provided for in accordance with FRS102 on all timing differences that have been enacted at the Balance Sheet date 

and are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax assets are only recognised 

if it is considered more likely than not that there will be suitable profits from which the future reversal of timing differences can be 

deducted. In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate the tax relief on expenses charged 

to capital is the “marginal” basis. Under this basis, if taxable income is capable of being offset entirely by expenses charged through 

the revenue account, then no tax relief is transferred to the capital account.

(viii)  Dividends payable 

Dividends are included in the financial statements on the date on which they are declared. 

 

Dividends paid and payable in respect of the year are set out in note 9. The amount estimated to be transferred to revenue reserves 

is less than the maximum allowed under rules in the Corporation Tax Act 2010. The Board assesses the minimum level of dividend 

payable in respect of any period in accordance with section 1158 rules, after taking into account the audited annual net revenue 

available for distribution, and ensures that payments for each period comfortably exceed that minimum level.

(ix) Share capital 

Share capital represents the nominal value of ordinary shares in issue. 

(x) Share premium account (non-distributable reserve) 

The following is accounted for in this reserve:

 – proceeds of shares issued, net of the 25p nominal value of the shares and after deducting any associated costs of issuance.

 – proceeds less cost of purchasing and selling shares from treasury.

(xi) Capital Redemption Reserve 

The nominal value of ordinary share capital purchased and cancelled is transferred out of called-up share capital and into the capital 

redemption reserve on the trade date.

(xii) Special reserve (distributable reserve)

The following are accounted for in this reserve:

 – costs of purchasing shares for cancellation; and

 – costs of purchasing or selling shares to be held in, or sold out of, treasury.

(xiii) Capital reserves (distributable reserves)

Capital reserve – arising on investments sold

The following are accounted for in this reserve:
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 – gains and losses on the disposal of fixed asset investments and derivatives;

 – settled foreign exchange differences of a capital nature;

 – costs of professional advice, including related irrecoverable VAT, relating to the capital structure of the Company; 

 – other capital charges and credits charged or credited to this account in accordance with the above policies.

 – costs of purchasing shares for cancellation; and

 – costs of purchasing or selling shares to be held in, or sold out of, treasury.

Capital reserve – arising on investments held

The following are accounted for in this reserve:

 – increases and decreases in the valuation of fixed asset investments and derivatives held at the year end; and

 – unsettled foreign exchange valuation differences of a capital nature.

(xiv) Revenue reserve

The revenue reserve represents accumulated revenue profits retained by the Company that have not currently been distributed to 

Shareholders as a dividend.

(xv) Use of judgements and estimates

The presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting standards requires the Board to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on perceived risks, historical experience, expectations of 

plausible future events and other factors. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The areas requiring the most significant judgement and estimation in preparation of the financial statements include: accounting for 

the value of unquoted investments and recognising and classifying unusual or special dividends received as either revenue or capital 

in nature. 

 

The policy for valuation of unquoted securities is set out in note 2(c)(ii).

Dividends received which appear to be unusual in size or circumstance are assessed on a case-by-case basis, based on 

interpretation of the investee companies’ relevant statements, to determine their allocation in accordance with the SORP to either 

the Revenue or Capital accounts. Dividends which have clearly arisen out of the investee company’s reconstruction or reorganisation 

are usually considered to be capital in nature and allocated to Capital Reserves. Investee company dividends which appear to be 

paid in excess of current year profits may nevertheless still be considered to be wholly revenue in nature unless evidence suggests 

otherwise. The value of dividends received in the year treated as capital in nature is disclosed in note 17 to the accounts. The value 

of special dividends receivable in any period cannot be foreseen as such dividends are declared and paid by investee companies 

without prior reference to the Company.

3. Income

2023  
£’000s 

2022  
£’000s 

Income from investments:

UK dividend income 14,270 13,742

UK dividend income – special dividends (1) 527 114

Overseas dividend income 390 364

Property income distributions 901 266

16,088 14,486

Other income:

Interest on cash and cash equivalents 91 9

Total income 16,179 14,495
 
(1) Special dividends classified as revenue in nature in accordance with note 2(c)(xv). 

There were no dividends recognised as capital in nature, per judgements & estimates note 2(c)(xv), during the year (2022: none).
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4. Management fee 

2023 2022

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total 
£’000s

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total  
£’000s

Management fee 693 693 1,386 714 714 1,428

The Manager provides investment management and general administrative services to the Company for a quarterly management fee payable 

in arrears equal to 0.1% of the funds under management. Funds under management represents total assets less current liabilities excluding 

borrowings and adjusted for the proceeds of recent share issues and buybacks. The management agreement may be terminated upon six months’ 

notice given by either party. The Company may terminate this agreement upon 60 days’ written notice to the Manager if there is a change of control 

of the Manager, provided such notice is served within six months of the said change of control. Management fees have been allocated 50% to 

capital reserve in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy.

5. Other expenses

2023 2022

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total 
£’000s

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total  
£’000s

Auditors’ remuneration:

– for audit services(1) 50 – 50 43 – 43

Directors’ fees for services to the Company(2) 165 – 165 153 – 153

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance 12 – 12 10 – 10

Loan commitment fee 10 – 10 11 – 11

Marketing(3) 88 – 88 126 – 126

Professional fees 117 – 117 98 – 98

Printing and postage 85 – 85 75 – 75

Registrars’ fees 31 – 31 28 – 28

Subscriptions and listing fees 58 – 58 55 – 55

Sundry expenses(4) 126 1 127 81 1 82

Total other expenses 742 1 743 680 1 681

All expenses are stated gross of irrecoverable VAT, where applicable.
(1) Total Auditors’ remuneration for 2023 audit services, exclusive of VAT amounts to £42,000 (2022: £35,000).
(2) See the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 47 to 49.
(3) 2022 marketing figure included an under accrual brought forward from the prior year.
(4) Sundry expenses have increased primarily as a result of additional one-off consultancy fees related to the marketing of the Company. 

6. Finance costs

2023 2022

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total 
£’000s

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total  
£’000s

Loan interest 661 661 1,322 190 190 380

Overdraft interest 1 1 2 2 2 4

Total finance cost 662 662 1,324 192 192 384

Finance costs have been allocated 50% to capital reserve in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy.
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7. Taxation on ordinary activities

(a) Analysis of tax charge for the year

2023 2022

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total 
£’000s

Revenue 
£’000s

Capital 
£’000s

Total  
£’000s

Overseas taxation 22 – 22 18 – 18

Total taxation charge (see note 7(b)) 22 – 22 18 – 18

The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (25%) (2022: 19%). Factors affecting the 

taxation charge are set out below.  

(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year

 2023  2022

Revenue 
£’000s 

Capital  
£’000s 

Total  
£’000s 

Revenue  
£’000s 

Capital  
£’000s 

Total  
£’000s 

Net return on ordinary activities before taxation 14,078 24,267 38,345 12,908 (58,166) (45,258)

Return on ordinary activities multiplied by the pro rata effective rate of corporation tax of 
22% (2022: 19%) 3,097 5,339 8,436 2,452 (11,052) (8,600)

Effects of:

Dividends (3,341) – (3,341) (2,752) – (2,752)

Excess expenses not utilised in the year 244 298 542 300 172 472

Overseas taxation not relieved 22 – 22 18 – 18

Capital returns – (5,637) (5,637) – 10,880 10,880

Total taxation (see note 7(a)) 22 – 22 18 – 18

The potential deferred tax asset of £7.7 million based on the 25% Corporation Tax rate in respect of unutilised expenses and unrelieved 

overseas taxation at 30 September 2023 (2022: £6.6 million) has not been recognised as it is unlikely that these expenses will be utilised.

8. Return per share 

2023 2022

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total 

Net return attributable to equity Shareholders – £’000s 14,056 24,267 38,323 12,890 (58,166) (45,276)

Return per share – pence 13.26 22.89 36.15 12.03 (54.29) (42.26)

Both the revenue and capital returns per share are based on a weighted average of 106,023,426 ordinary shares in issue during the year 

(2022: 107,131,967).
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9. Dividends 

Dividends on ordinary shares Register date Payment date 
2023  

£’000s 
2022  

£’000s 

Fourth of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2021 of 3.75p per share 03-Dec-21 17-Dec-21 – 4,019

First of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2022 of 2.65p per share 11-Mar-22 31-Mar-22 – 2,841

Second of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2022 of 2.65p per share 10-Jun-22 30-Jun-22 – 2,839

Third of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2022 of 2.65p per share 02-Sep-22 30-Sep-22 – 2,833

Fourth of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2022 of 3.85p per share 09-Dec-22 19-Dec-22 4,108 –

First of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 of 2.75p per share 10-Mar-23 31-Mar-23 2,928 –

Second of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 of 2.75p per share 16-Jun-23 30-Jun-23 2,907 –

Third of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 of 2.75p per share 08-Sep-23 30-Sep-23 2,876 –

12,819 12,532

The Directors have declared a fourth interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 September 2023 of 3.90 pence per share, payable 

on 18 December 2023 to all Shareholders on the register at close of business on 8 December 2023. The fourth interim dividend has not 

been included as a liability in these financial statements. The dividends paid and payable in respect of the financial year ended  

30 September 2023, which form the basis of the retention test for section 1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010, are set out below:

2023  
£’000s

Net revenue return attributable to Shareholders 14,056

First of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 of 2.75p per share (2,928)

Second of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 of 2.75p per share (2,907)

Third of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 of 2.75p per share (2,876)

Fourth of four interims for the year ended 30 September 2023 of 3.90p per share (1) (4,046)

Transferred to revenue reserve 1,299

(1) Based on shares in issue and their entitlement to the dividend at 28 November 2023.
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10. Investments

2023 
Total  

(Level 1) 
£’000s

2022 
Total

(Level 1) 
£’000

Cost brought forward 260,060 256,643

Gains brought forward 58,736 121,777

Fair value of investments brought forward 318,796 378,420

Purchases at cost 16,946 26,398

Sales proceeds (25,353) (28,876)

Gains on investments sold in year 4,771 5,781

Gains/(losses) on investments held at year end 20,952 (62,927)

Fair value of investments at 30 September 336,112 318,796

Cost at 30 September 256,528 260,060

Gains at 30 September 79,584 58,736

Fair value of investments at 30 September 336,112 318,796

2023 
£’000s

2022 
£’000s

Gains on investments sold in year 4,771 5,781

Gains/(losses) on investments held at year end 20,952 (62,927)

Investment transaction costs (104) (113)

Total gains/(losses) in year 25,619 (57,259)

All investments held by the Company were classified as Level 1 in nature as described in note 2(c)(i) and are listed on recognised stock 

exchanges.

Investments sold during the year have been revalued over time since their original purchase, and until they were sold any unrealised gains 

or losses were included in the fair value of the investments.

The investment portfolio is set out on page 21.

11. Debtors 

2023  
£’000s

2022  
£’000s

Accrued income 1,607 1,318

Investments sold awaiting settlement 1,116 3,687

Prepayments 24 16

Overseas taxation recoverable 86 85

2,833 5,106

12. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

2023  
£’000s 

2022  
£’000s 

Management fee 339 318

Investments purchased awaiting settlement 1,041 4,095

Loan interest 35 9

Accruals 161 103

1,576 4,525
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13. Loans

2023  
£’000s 

2022  
£’000s 

Sterling loans: falling due within one year 25,000 24,000

In March 2018 the Company entered into a £30 million multi-currency revolving loan facility with The Bank of Nova Scotia. This was 

increased to £40 million in March 2022 and extended on revised terms in March 2023 for a further one year period. The loan is subject to 

compliance with the loan covenants which have all been met during the period. The amount utilised and the interest rate thereon are set 

on a short term basis. Interest rates and commitment fees payable on non-utilised amounts are based on the commercial terms agreed 

with The Bank of Nova Scotia.

As at 30 September 2023 the Company had drawn down £25 million of the loan facility.

14. Analysis of changes in net debt

Cash  
£’000s 

Bank loans  
£’000s 

2023
Total  

£’000s 
Cash  

£’000s 
Bank loans  

£’000s 

2022
Total  

£’000s 

Net debt brought forward 906 (24,000) (23,094) 1,813 (25,000) (23,187)

Cash flows:

Drawdown of bank loan – (7,000) (7,000) – (2,500) (2,500)

Repayment of bank loan – 6,000 6,000 – 3,500 3,500

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 1,472 – 1,472 (906) – (906)

Non-cash:

Effect of movement in foreign exchange – – – (1) – (1)

Net debt carried forward as at 30 September 2,378 (25,000) (22,622) 906 (24,000) (23,094)

15. Share capital 

Total Listed Held in Treasury
2023 

Issued and fully paid
2022 

Issued and fully paid
Number £’000s Number £’000s Number £’000s Number £’000s 

Ordinary shares of 25 pence each

Balance brought forward 107,289,022 26,822 582,819 145 106,706,203 26,677 107,289,022 26,822

Ordinary shares issued from 
treasury

– – (75,000) (19) 75,000 19 175,000 44

Ordinary shares bought back & 
held in treasury

– – 2,445,358 611 (2,445,358) (611) (757,819) (189)

Balance at 30 September 107,289,022 26,822 2,953,177 737 104,335,845 26,085 106,706,203 26,677

During the year ended 30 September 2023, 75,000 (2022: 175,000) ordinary shares of 25p each in nominal value were issued from 

treasury with a total consideration of £223,000 (2022: £589,000) and 2,445,358 (2022: 757,819) ordinary shares were bought back 

and held in treasury at a cost of £7,245,000 (2022: £2,358,000).

From 30 September 2023 until 28 November 2023, the last practicable date prior to publication, the Company has bought back 600,000 

shares to be held in treasury. No shares have been issued.
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16. Reserves

Share  
Premium 
account 
 £’000s

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve  
£’000s

Special  
Reserve  
£’000s 

Balance brought forward as at 1 October 2022 141,380 4,146 2,642

Ordinary shares issued from treasury – – 224

Ordinary shares bought back and cancelled or held in treasury – – (2,851)

Stamp duty on shares bought back – – (15)

Broker costs associated with the issue of new issues (13) – –

Balance carried forward as at 30 September 2023 141,367 4,146 –

Balance brought forward as at 1 October 2021 141,374 4,146 4,432

Ordinary shares issued from treasury – – 568

Ordinary shares bought back and cancelled or held in treasury – – (2,346)

Stamp duty on shares bought back – – (12)

Premium on issue of shares from treasury 21 – –

Broker costs associated with the issue of new issues (15) – –

Balance carried forward as at 30 September 2022 141,380 4,146 2,642

17. Other reserves 

Capital reserve 
 – realised  

£’000s

Capital reserve 
 – unrealised

£’000s

Capital reserve 
 – total
£’000s

Revenue 
reserve
£’000s

Movements during the year ended 30 September 2023:

Gains on investments sold in year (see note 10) 4,771 – 4,771 –

Gains on investments held at year end (see note 10) – 20,952 20,952 –

Transaction costs – (104) (104) –

Foreign exchange gains 4 – 4 –

Management fee (see note 4) (693) – (693) –

Finance costs (see note 6) (662) – (662) –

Ordinary shares bought back and held in treasury (4,359) – (4,359) –

Stamp duty on shares bought back (21) – (21) –

Broker costs associated with share buybacks (5) – (5) –

Other capital charges (see note 5) (1) – (1) –

Revenue return – – – 14,056

Return attributable to Shareholders (966) 20,848 19,882 14,056

Dividends paid in year (see note 9) – – – (12,819)

Balance at 30 September 2022 51,463 58,737 110,200 11,093

Balance at 30 September 2023 50,497 79,585 130,082 12,330

Included within the capital reserve movement for the year are £91,000 of transaction costs including stamp duty on purchases of 

investments (2022: £97,000) and £13,000 of transaction costs on sales of investments (2022: £16,000).

There were no dividends recognised as capital during the year (2022: none).
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18. Net Asset Value per ordinary share

2023 2022

Net asset value per share – pence 301.67 277.66

Net assets attributable at the year end – (£'000s) 314,747 296,283

Number of ordinary shares in issue at the year end 104,335,845 106,706,203

19. Reconciliation of total return before taxation to net cash flows from operating activities

2023  
£’000s

2022  
£’000s

Net return on ordinary activities before taxation 38,345 (45,258)

Adjustments for non-cash flow items, dividend income and interest:

(Gains)/losses on investments (note 10) (25,619) 57,259

Transaction costs on investments (note 10) (104) (113)

Foreign exchange movements – 1

Non-operating expenses of a capital nature (note 5) 1 1

Dividend income receivable (note 3) (16,088) (14,486)

Interest receivable (note 3) (91) (9)

Interest payable (note 6) 1,324 384

(Increase)/decrease in other debtors (9) 3

Increase/(decrease) in other creditors 79 (23)

(40,507) 43,017

Cash outflows from operating activities before dividends and interest (2,162) (2,241)

20. Going concern

In assessing the going concern basis of accounting the Directors have had regard to the guidance issued by the Financial Reporting 

Council. They have also considered the Company’s objective, strategy and policy, the current cash position of the Company, the availability 

of the loan facility and compliance with its covenants and the operational resilience of the Company and its service providers. 

 

At present the global economy continues to suffer disruption due to the effects of the war in Ukraine, recent events in Israel and Gaza 

and inflationary pressures and the Directors have given serious consideration to the consequences for this Company. The Company has 

a number of banking covenants and at present the Company’s financial position does not suggest that any of these are close to being 

breached.  

 

The primary risk is that there is a very substantial decrease in the Net Asset Value of the Company in the short to medium term. The 

Directors have considered the remedial measures that are open to the Company if such a covenant breach appears possible. As at  

28 November 2023, the last practicable date before publication of this report, borrowings amounted to £25 million. This is in comparison 

to a Net Asset Value of £310 million. In accordance with its investment policy the Company is invested mainly in readily realisable, FTSE 

All-Share listed securities. These can be realised, if necessary, to repay the loan facility and fund future dividend payments. 

 

The Company operates within a robust regulatory environment. The Company retains title to all assets held by the Custodian. Cash is held 

with banks approved and regularly reviewed by the Manager and the Board.  

 

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 9 March 2023, Shareholders voted 99.5% in favour of the continuation of the 

Company. The next continuation vote for the Company is scheduled to be held in 2028. 

 

Accordingly, based on this information the Directors believe that the Company has the ability to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due for a period of twelve months from the date of approval of these financial statements. Accordingly, these financial statements have 

been prepared on a going concern basis.
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21. Financial Risk Management 

The Company is an investment company, listed on the London Stock Exchange, and conducts its affairs so as to qualify in the United 

Kingdom (“UK”) as an investment trust under the provisions of section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act. In so qualifying, the Company is 

exempted in the UK from Corporation Tax on capital gains on its portfolio of investments.  

 

The Company’s investment objective is to secure long term capital and income growth from a portfolio consisting mainly of FTSE All-Share 

companies. The Company can also have exposure to overseas companies, with the value of the non-UK portfolio not exceeding 10% of the 

Company’s gross assets. In pursuing this objective, the Company is exposed to financial risks which could result in a reduction of either or 

both of the value of the net assets and the profits available for distribution by way of dividend. These financial risks are principally related 

to the market (currency movements, interest rate changes and security price movements), liquidity and credit. The Board, together with 

the Manager, is responsible for the Company’s risk management, as set out in detail in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. The 

Directors’ policies and processes for managing the financial risks are set out in (a), (b) and (c) on the following pages. 

 

The accounting policies which govern the reported Balance Sheet carrying values of the underlying financial assets and liabilities, as well 

as the related income and expenditure, are set out in note 2 to the accounts. The policies are in compliance with UK accounting standards 

and best practice. The Company does not make use of hedge accounting rules. 

 

Sensitivity analysis tables presented in the following sections relating to currency, interest and market exposures have been calculated on 

the level of change considered to be a reasonable illustration based on observation of current market and economic conditions.

(a) Market risks 

The fair value of equity and other financial securities including derivatives held in the Company’s portfolio fluctuates with changes in 

market prices. Prices are themselves affected by movements in currencies and interest rates and by other financial issues, including the 

market perception of future risks. The Board sets policies for managing these risks within the Company’s objective and meets regularly to 

review full, timely and relevant information on investment performance and financial results. The Manager assesses exposure to market 

risks when making each investment decision and monitors ongoing market risk within the portfolio. 

 

As up to 10% of the Company’s gross assets can be invested in non-UK assets, other assets and liabilities may be denominated in 

currencies other than sterling and may also be exposed to interest rate risks. The Manager and the Board regularly monitor these risks. 

The Company does not normally hold significant cash balances. Whilst it is not the Board’s general policy to borrow in currencies other 

than sterling and euros, any such borrowings would be limited to amounts and currencies commensurate with the portfolio’s exposure to 

those currencies, thereby limiting the Company’s exposure to future changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 

Gearing may be short or long term in foreign currencies and enables the Company to take a long term view of the countries and markets in 

which it is invested without having to be concerned about short term volatility. 

 

Income earned in foreign currencies is converted to sterling on receipt. The Board regularly monitors the effects on net revenue of interest 

earned on deposits and paid on gearing.

Currency Exposure

The principal foreign currencies to which the Company was exposed during the year were the euro and US dollar. As stated above, the 

exposure to investments listed in currencies other than sterling cannot exceed 10% of the Company’s gross assets. 

 

The exchange rates for the euro and US dollar applying against sterling at 30 September and the average rates during the year ended  

30 September were as follows:

 
At 30 September 

2023 

2023 
Average for  

the year
At 30 September 

2022 

2022 
Average for  

the year

Euro 0.867 0.870 0.877 0.847

US dollar 0.819 0.815 0.895 0.781
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The following calculations demonstrate the approximate effect of a weakening or strengthening of sterling against other currencies and are 

based on the following: 

 – applicable balance sheet date exchange rates;

 – for capital returns the financial assets and liabilities held at the year end date, including investments, cash, debtors and creditors;

 – for revenue returns the current year income received in currencies other than sterling as a best estimate of future receipts; and

 – for both capital and revenue, the management fee adjusted for changes in the funds under management as a result of changes in 

investment values when applying different exchange rates. 

A 10% change in the sterling exchange rate would have the following approximate effect on returns attributable to Shareholders and 

on the NAV per share:

Weakening of sterling by 10% against other currencies

Local currency Return Local currency

Sterling  
equivalent 

£’000s
10% weakened 
sterling fx rate

Adjusted  
income, assets  
and liabilities 

£’000s

Impact on 
management fee 

£’000s

2023
Movement in  

net return  
£’000s

2022 
Movement in  

net return  
£’000s

Euro Revenue 883 766 0.7807 689 – (77) 81

Euro Capital 4,582 3,975 0.7807 3,577 – (398) 443

US Dollar Revenue 302 247 0.7373 223 – (24) 23

US Dollar Capital 7,776 6,370 0.7373 5,733 – (637) 567

Movement in net return attributable to Shareholders (1,136) 1,114

Shares in issue 104,335,845 106,706,203

Effect on NAV per share - pence (1.09) 1.04

Strengthening of sterling by 10% against other currencies

Local currency Return Local currency

Sterling  
equivalent 

£’000s

10% 
strengthened 

sterling fx rate

Adjusted  
income, assets  
and liabilities 

£’000s

Impact on 
management fee 

£’000s

2023
Movement in  

net return  
£’000s

2022 
Movement in  

net return  
£’000s

Euro Revenue 883 766 0.9542 843 – 77 (66)

Euro Capital 4,582 3,975 0.9542 4,372 – 398 (362)

US Dollar Revenue 302 247 0.9011 272 – 24 (19)

US Dollar Capital 7,776 6,370 0.9011 7,007 – 637 (463)

Movement in net return attributable to Shareholders 1,136 (910)

Shares in issue 104,335,845 106,706,203

Effect on NAV per share - pence 1.09 (0.85)

These effects are representative of the exposure to currencies other than sterling by the Company as at 30 September 2023 

although the level of exposure will fluctuate in accordance with the investment and risk management process.  
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21.  Financial Risk Management (continued) 

The fair values of the Company’s assets and liabilities at 30 September by currency are shown below:

2023

Short term  
debtors 
£’000s

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

£’000s

Short term
creditors – other 

£’000s

Short term  
creditors – loans  

£’000s

Net monetary 
(liabilities)/assets 

£’000s
Investments 

£’000s

Net  
exposure 

£’000s 

Sterling 2,747 2,315 (1,576) (25,000) (21,514) 325,916 304,402

Other 86 63 – – 149 10,196 10,345

Total 2,833 2,378 (1,576) (25,000) (21,365) 336,112 314,747

 

2022

Short term  
debtors 
£’000s

Cash and cash  
equivalents 

£’000s

Short term  
creditors – other 

£’000s

Short term 
creditors – loans 

£’000s

Net monetary  
(liabilities)/assets 

£’000s
Investments 

£’000s

Net  
exposure 

£’000s 

Sterling 5,021 906 (4,525) (24,000) (22,598) 309,802 287,204

Other 85 – – – 85 8,994 9,079

Total 5,106 906 (4,525) (24,000) (22,513) 318,796 296,283

 

Interest rate exposure

The exposure of the financial assets and liabilities to interest rate movements at 30 September was:

Within  
one year 

£’000s

More than  
one year 

£’000s

2023 
Total 

£’000s

Within  
one year 
£’000s

More than  
one year 
£’000s

2022 
Total 

£’000s

Exposure to floating rates:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,378 – 2,378 906 – 906

Loans (25,000) – (25,000) (24,000) – (24,000)

Net exposure (22,622) – (22,622) (23,094) – (23,094)

The Company had no exposure to fixed interest rates at the year end.

Exposures vary throughout the year as a consequence of changes in the composition of the net assets of the Company arising out of the 

investment and risk management processes.

Interest received on cash balances, or paid on bank overdrafts and borrowings, is at ruling market rates.

The Company’s total returns and net assets are sensitive to changes in interest rates on cash and borrowings.

Based on the financial assets and liabilities held that are affected by changes in interest rates, such as cash and bank loans, and the 

interest rates ruling at each balance sheet date, an increase or decrease in interest rates of 2% (2022: 2%) would have the following 

approximate effects on the Income Statement revenue and capital returns after tax and on the NAV per share:

Increase  
in rate 
£’000s

2023 
Decrease  

in rate 
£’000s

Increase  
in rate 

£’000s

2022 
Decrease  

in rate 
£’000s

Revenue return (202) 202 (222) 222

Capital return (250) 250 (240) 240

Total return (452) 452 (462) 462

NAV per share – pence (0.43) 0.43 (0.43) 0.43
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Other market risk exposures

The portfolio of investments, valued at £336,112,000 at 30 September 2023 (2022: £318,796,000) is exposed to market price changes. 

The Manager assesses these exposures at the time of making each investment decision. The Board reviews overall exposures at each meeting 

against indices and other relevant information. An analysis of the portfolio by country and major industrial sector is set out in the investment 

portfolio by sector and list of investments on pages 18 to 21.

Based on the portfolio of investments held at each Balance Sheet date, and assuming other factors, including the management charge, remain 

constant, an increase or decrease in the fair value of the portfolio in sterling terms by 20% would have had the following approximate effects on 

the net capital return attributable to Shareholders and on the NAV per share:

Increase  
in value 
£’000s

2023 
Decrease  

in value 
£’000s

Increase  
in value 
£’000s

2022 
Decrease  

in value 
£’000s

Capital return 67,222 (67,222) 63,759 (63,759)

NAV per share – pence 64.43 (64.43) 59.75 (59.75)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Company is required to raise funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments and share buybacks. These funds 

may be raised either through the realisation of assets or through increased borrowing. The risk of the Company not having sufficient 

liquidity at any time is not considered by the Board to be significant, given: the number of quoted investments held in the Company’s 

portfolio (100% at 30 September 2023 and 100% at 30 September 2022); the liquid nature of the portfolio of investments; the industrial 

and geographical diversity of the portfolio (see pages 18 to 21); and the existence of an ongoing loan and overdraft facility agreement. 

Cash balances are held with approved banks, usually on overnight deposit. The Manager reviews liquidity at the time of making each 

investment decision. The Board reviews liquidity exposure at each meeting.

The Company has a £40 million unsecured revolving floating rate credit facility available until March 2024. 

As at 30 September 2023 the Company had drawn down £25 million of the loan facility and bank overdrafts of £nil.

The contractual maturities of the financial liabilities at each Balance Sheet date, based on the earliest date on which payment can be 

required, were as follows:

 2023

Three  
months 
or less 
£’000s

More than three 
months but less 

than one year 
£’000s

More than 
one year 

£’000s
Total 

£’000s

Current liabilities – others 1,576 – – 1,576

Loans 25,000 – – 25,000

26,576 – – 26,576

 

 2022

Three  
months 
or less 
£’000s

More than three 
months but less 

than one year 
£’000s

More than 
one year 
£’000s

Total 
£’000s

Current liabilities – others 4,525 – – 4,525

Loans 24,000 – – 24,000

28,525 – – 28,525
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21. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

(c) Credit risk and counterparty exposure

The Company is exposed to potential failure by counterparties to deliver securities for which the Company has paid, or to pay for securities 

which the Company has delivered. Such transactions must be settled on the basis of delivery against payment (except where local market 

conditions do not permit).

Responsibility for the approval, limit setting and monitoring of counterparties is delegated to the Manager. Counterparties are selected 

based on a combination of criteria, including credit rating, balance sheet strength and membership of a relevant regulatory body. The rate 

of default in the past has been negligible. Cash and deposits are held with approved banks.

The Company has an ongoing contract with its custodian for the provision of custody services. The contract is reviewed periodically. Details 

of securities held in custody on behalf of the Company are received and reconciled monthly. The Company’s Depositary, JP Morgan Europe 

Limited, has regulatory responsibilities relating to segregation and safe keeping of the Company’s financial assets, amongst other duties, 

as set out in the Directors’ Report. The Board has direct access to the Depositary and receives regular reports from it via the Manager.

To the extent that the Manager carries out management and administrative duties (or causes similar duties to be carried out by third 

parties) on the Company’s behalf, the Company is exposed to counterparty risk. The Board assesses this risk through regular meetings 

with the management of Columbia Threadneedle Investments (including the Fund Manager) and with Columbia Threadneedle Investments’ 

Risk Management function. In reaching its conclusions, the Board also reviews the Manager’s parent group’s annual audit and assurance 

faculty report.

None of the Company’s financial liabilities is past their due date or impaired.

(d) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The assets and liabilities of the Company are, in the opinion of the Directors, reflected in the Balance Sheet at fair value, or at a reasonable 

approximation thereof. Borrowings under loan and overdraft facilities do not have a value materially different from their capital repayment 

amount.

(e) Capital risk management

The objective of the Company is stated as being to secure long term capital and income growth from a portfolio consisting mainly of FTSE 

All-Share companies. In pursuing this long term objective, the Board has a responsibility for ensuring the Company’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. It must therefore maintain an optimal capital structure through varying market conditions. This involves the ability to: 

issue and buy back share capital within limits set by the Shareholders in general meeting; borrow monies in the short and long term; and 

pay dividends to Shareholders out of current year revenue earnings as well as out of brought forward revenue reserves.

Changes to ordinary share capital are set out in note 15, dividend payments in note 9 and details of loans in note 13.

22. Transactions with related parties and Manager

The following are considered related parties: the Board, including their spouses and dependents, and the Manager (Columbia 

Threadneedle Investment Business Limited). 

There are no transactions with the Board other than: aggregated remuneration for services as Directors as disclosed in the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report on page 48 and as set out in note 5; and the beneficial interests of the Directors in the ordinary shares of the 

Company as disclosed on page 48. There are no outstanding balances with the Board at the year end. Transactions between the Company 

and the Manager are detailed in note 4 on management fees and the outstanding balance is detailed in note 12.
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23. AIFMD

In accordance with the AIFM Directive, information in relation to the Company’s leverage and the remuneration of the Company’s AIFM, 

Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited, is required to be made available to investors. Detailed regulatory disclosures 

including those on the AIFM’s remuneration policy and costs are available on the Company’s website or from Columbia Threadneedle 

Investments on request.

The Company’s maximum and average actual leverage levels at 30 September 2023 are shown below:

Leverage exposure
Gross  

method
Commitment 

method

Maximum limit 200% 200%

Actual 107% 107%

The leverage limits are set by the AIFM and approved by the Board and are in line with the maximum leverage levels permitted in the 

Company’s articles of association. The AIFM is also required to comply with the gearing parameters set by the Board in relation to 

borrowings.

24. Securities financing transactions (“SFR”)

The Company has not, in the year to 30 September 2023 (2022: same), participated in any: repurchase transactions; securities lending 

or borrowing; buy-sell back transactions; margin lending transactions; or total return swap transactions (collectively called SFT). As such, it 

has no disclosure to make in satisfaction of the EU regulations on transparency of SFT, issued in November 2015.
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Ten Year Record (Unaudited)

All Company data are based on assets, liabilities, earnings and expenses as reported in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies 

and is unaudited but derived from the audited Accounts or specified third party data providers.

Assets 
at 30 September 

£'000s 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Total assets (before debt) 244,708 251,387 256,876 297,027 332,463 347,472 348,149 286,395 380,875 320,283 339,747

Loans 20,000 20,000 20,000 25,000 20,000 20,000 10,000 20,000 25,000 24,000 25,000

Net assets 224,708 231,387 236,876 272,027 312,463 327,472 338,149 266,395 355,875 296,283 314,747

Net Asset Value (NAV)
at 30 September 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

NAV per share – pence 251.4 251.8 250.5 281.1 317.1 324.0 329.0 249.7 331.7 277.7 301.7

Total Returns(1) 

(rebased to 100 at 30 September 2013) 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

NAV per share 100.0 103.9 107.5 125.5 146.6 154.7 163.0 128.7 177.4 154.1 174.4

Middle market price per share 100.0 106.0 109.3 127.4 147.5 155.3 160.2 127.6 172.9 154.8 171.6

FTSE All-Share Index 100.0 106.1 103.6 121.1 135.5 143.5 147.3 122.9 157.2 150.9 171.8

Returns excluding dividends(1) 

(rebased to 100 at 30 September 2013) 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

NAV per share 100.0 100.2 99.6 111.8 126.1 128.9 130.9 99.3 131.9 110.5 120.0

Middle market price per share 100.0 102.2 101.4 113.7 127.1 129.5 128.7 98.6 128.7 110.9 118.0

FTSE All-Share Index 100.0 102.6 96.9 109.0 117.6 119.9 117.9 95.3 117.9 109.3 119.8

(1)  See Alternative Performance Measures on pages 91 and 92 for explanation. 
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Financial Report

Share Price 
at 30 September 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Middle market price per share – pence 252.5 258.0 256.0 287.0 321.0 327.0 325.0 249.0 325.0 280.0 298.0

Premium/(discount)to NAV – % 0.4 2.5 2.2 2.1 1.2 0.9 (1.2) (0.3) (2.0) 0.8 (1.2)

Share price high – pence 269.0 271.8 277.0 289.8 327.5 350.0 337.0 358.0 339.0 343.5 317.0

Share price low – pence 222.8 248.0 233.8 234.8 274.0 309.5 276.5 193.8 237.5 273.0 259.0

Revenue 
for the year ended 30 September 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Available for ordinary shares (£’000s) 9,941 9,575 9,475 10,785 11,459 11,710 13,426 8,758 11,310 12,890 14,056

Return per share – pence 11.26 10.56 10.10 11.26 11.71 11.70 13.12 8.34 10.56 12.03 13.26

Dividends per share – pence 9.45 9.85 10.10 10.30 10.65 10.95 11.40 11.50 11.60 11.80 12.15

Revenue Performance 

(rebased to 100 at 30 September 2013) 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Return per share 100.0 93.8 89.7 100.0 104.0 103.9 116.5 74.1 93.8 106.8 117.8

Dividends per share 100.0 104.2 106.9 109.0 112.7 115.9 120.6 121.7 122.8 124.9 128.6

CPI 100.0 101.2 101.1 102.1 105.1 107.7 109.5 110.1 113.5 124.9 133.2

Cost of running the Company (Ongoing charges)(1) 

for the year ended 30 September

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Expressed as a percentage of average net assets:

Ongoing charges 0.62 0.66 0.64 0.64 0.59 0.58 0.58 0.58 0.59 0.59 0.66

Gearing(1) 

at 30 September 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Net gearing % 3.81 4.43 10.32 9.32 4.81 4.51 1.71 7.06 6.52 7.79 7.19

(1) See Alternative Performance Measures pages 91 and 92 for explanation 

Analysis of Ordinary Shareholders (Unaudited) 
 
Category Holding % at 30 September 2023 Holding % at 30 September 2022

CT Savings Plans 80.3 79.5

Retail Investors (excluding those investing through CT Savings Plans) 9.9 9.6

Institutions 5.0 6.1

Intermediaries 4.8 4.8

100.0 100.0

Source: Columbia Threadneedle Investments
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Company in general meeting) save that the Company may at 

any time prior to the expiry of this authority make offers or 

enter into agreements which would or might require shares 

in the Company to be allotted or Rights to be granted after 

such expiry and notwithstanding such expiry the Directors may 

allot shares in the Company or grant Rights in pursuance of 

such offers or agreements as if the authority conferred by this 

resolution had not expired.

Special Resolutions:
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as special 

resolutions: 

11.  THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 10 set out in the 

notice of the annual general meeting to be held on 7 March 

2024 (“Resolution 10”) and in substitution for any existing 

power, but without prejudice to the exercise of any such power 

prior to the passing of this resolution, the directors of the 

Company (the “Directors”) be and are hereby generally and 

unconditionally empowered, pursuant to sections 570 and 573 

of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”), to allot or make offers 

or agreements to allot, equity securities (within the meaning 

of section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority 

conferred by Resolution 10, and/or by way of a sale of treasury 

shares for cash, as if section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to 

any such allotment or sale, provided that this power:

(i)    shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities and the 

sale of treasury shares up to an aggregate nominal amount 

of £2,593,396 (representing approximately 10 per cent. of 

the issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury 

shares) as at 28 November 2023); and

(ii)  shall expire at the conclusion of the next annual general 

meeting of the Company held after the passing of this 

resolution or, if earlier, on the date which is 15 months 

after the date on which this resolution is passed (unless 

previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in 

general meeting), save that the Company may before such 

expiry make offers and enter into agreements which would 

or might require equity securities to be allotted or treasury 

shares to be sold after such expiry and the Directors may 

allot equity securities or sell treasury shares in pursuance 

Notice is hereby given that the thirty-first Annual General Meeting of the 

Company will be held at Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London EC4N 

6AG on Thursday 7 March 2024 at 12.30pm for the following purposes:

Ordinary Resolutions:
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as ordinary 

resolutions:

1. To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the 

Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2023 

together with the reports of the directors and the auditor on 

those financial statements.

2.  To approve the Company’s dividend policy as set out on page 

37 of the Annual Report and Accounts for the financial period 

ended 30 September 2023. 

3. To receive, adopt and approve the Directors’ Remuneration 

Report for the financial year ended 30 September 2023.

4.  To re-elect Jane Lewis as a director of the Company.

5.  To elect Dunke Afe as a director of the Company.

6.  To re-elect Patrick Firth as a director of the Company.

7. To re-elect Nicky McCabe as a director of the Company.

8.  To re-appoint BDO LLP as auditors to the Company to hold 

office from the conclusion of the annual general meeting until 

the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 

Company. 

9.  To authorise the Audit and Risk Committee to determine the 

remuneration of the Company’s auditors. 

10.  THAT, in substitution for any existing authority, but without 

prejudice to the exercise of any such authority prior to the 

passing of this resolution, the directors of the Company (the 

“Directors”) be and are hereby generally and unconditionally 

authorised, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies 

Act 2006 (the “Act”), to exercise all the powers of the 

Company to allot shares in the Company and to grant rights 

to subscribe for, or convert any security into, shares in the 

Company (“Rights”) up to an aggregate nominal amount 

of £2,593,396 (being equal to approximately 10 per cent 

of the Company’s issued share capital (excluding treasury 

shares) as at 28 November 2023) generally from time to 

time on such terms as the Directors may determine, such 

authority to expire at the conclusion of the Annual General 

Meeting of the Company in 2025 or, if earlier, on the date 

which is 15 months after the date on which this resolution is 

passed (unless previously revoked, varied or extended by the 

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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of such an offer or agreement as if the power conferred by 

this resolution had not expired.

This power applies in relation to the sale of treasury shares 

as if in the opening sentence of this resolution the words 

“subject to the passing of Resolution 10 set out in the notice 

of the annual general meeting to be held on 7 March 2024 

(“Resolution 10”) and” were omitted.

12.  THAT, in substitution for any existing authority but without 

prejudice to the exercise of any such authority prior to the 

passing of this resolution, the Company be and is hereby 

generally and unconditionally authorised, pursuant to and 

in accordance with section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 

(the “Act”), to make market purchases (within the meaning of 

section 693(4) of the Act) of fully paid ordinary shares of 25 

pence each in the capital of the Company (“ordinary shares”) 

on such terms and in such manner as the directors of the 

Company (the “Directors”) may from time to time determine 

(either for retention as treasury shares for future reissue, 

resale or transfer, or cancellation), provided that: 

(a)   the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares hereby 

authorised to be purchased is 15,550,003 or, if less, the 

number being 14.99 per cent. of the issued ordinary share 

capital of the Company (excluding ordinary shares held in 

treasury) immediately prior to the passing of this resolution; 

(b)   the minimum price which may be paid for an ordinary share 

purchased pursuant to this authority shall be 25 pence; 

(c)   the maximum price which may be paid for an ordinary share 

purchased pursuant to this authority shall be the higher of (i) 

an amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle market 

quotations for an ordinary share (as derived from the London 

Stock Exchange Daily Official List) over the five business days 

immediately preceding the date on which the ordinary share is 

contracted to be purchased; and (ii) the higher of the price of 

the last independent trade of an ordinary share and the highest 

current independent bid for such a share on the London Stock 

Exchange at the time the purchase is carried out; 

(d)   the minimum and maximum prices per ordinary share referred 

to in sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) of this resolution are in each 

case exclusive of any expenses payable by the Company; 

(e)   the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion 

of the next annual general meeting of the Company held after 

the passing of this resolution or, if earlier, on the date which is 

15 months after the date on which this resolution is passed, 

unless such authority is varied, revoked or renewed prior to 

such time by the Company in general meeting;

(f)    the Company may, prior to the expiry of the authority hereby 

conferred, enter into a contract to purchase ordinary shares 

under such authority which will or may be completed or 

executed wholly or partly after such expiry and may make a 

purchase of ordinary shares pursuant to any such contract.

By Order of the Board 

Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited,  

Secretary 

29 November 2023

Registered office: 

Cannon Place 

78 Cannon Street 

London EC4N 6AG 

Registered number: 02732011

Notes:
1. A member is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to exercise 

all or any of the member’s rights to attend, speak and vote at 
the meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but 
must attend the meeting for the member’s vote to be counted. If 
a member appoints more than one proxy to attend the meeting, 
each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a 
different share or shares held by that member. 

2.  Any person holding 3% or more of the voting rights in the Company 
who appoints a person other than the Chair of the meeting as his/
her proxy will need to ensure that both he/she and such person 
complies with their respective disclosure obligations under the 
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules. 

3.  A Form of Proxy is provided with this notice for members. If a 
member wishes to appoint more than one proxy and so requires 
additional proxy forms, the member should contact Computershare 
Investor Services PLC on 0370 889 4094. To be valid, the Form of 
Proxy and any power of attorney or other authority under which it 
is signed (or a notarially certified copy of such authority) must be 
received by post or (during normal business hours only) by hand 
at the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Investor Services PLC, 
The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZZ, not less than 48 
hours excluding non-working days before the time of the holding of 
the meeting or any adjourned meeting. Amended instructions must 
also be received by the Company’s Registrar by the deadline for 
receipt of Forms of Proxy.

4. Alternatively, members may register the appointment of a proxy  
for the meeting electronically, by accessing the website  
www.eproxyappointment.com where full instructions for the 
procedure are given. The Control Number, Shareholder Reference 
and PIN as printed on the Form of Proxy will be required in order 
to use the electronic proxy appointment system. This website 
is operated by Computershare Investor Services PLC. The proxy 
appointment and any power of attorney or other authority under 
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as you will be bound by them and they will govern the electronic 
appointment of your proxy.

9. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through 
the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the 
meeting and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures 
described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other 
CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have 
appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST 
sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the 
appropriate action on their behalf.

10.  In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the 
CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message 
(a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated 
in accordance with Euroclear UK & International Limited’s 
specifications and must contain the information required for such 
instruction, as described in the CREST Manual (available via www.
euroclear.com/CREST). The message, regardless of whether it 
constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the 
instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order 
to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s 
agent (ID number 3RA50) by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy 
appointments specified in notes 3 and 4. For this purpose, the time 
of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time 
stamp applied to the message by the CREST Application Host) from 
which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry 
to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any 
change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should 
be communicated to the appointee through other means.

11.  CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors 
or voting service provider(s) should note that Euroclear UK & 
International Limited does not make available special procedures 
in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and 
limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST 
Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member 
concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal 
member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service 
provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure 
that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by 
any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where 
applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) 
are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual 
concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings 
(www.euroclear.com/CREST).

12.  The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the 
circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended).

13.  Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more 
corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its 
powers as a member provided that, if it is appointing more than one 
corporate representative, it does not do so in relation to the same 
shares. 

14.  Under section 527 of the Act, members meeting the threshold 
requirements set out in that section have the right to require the 
Company to publish on a website a statement setting out any 
matter relating to:

which the proxy appointment is made must be received by 
Computershare Investor Services PLC not less than 48 hours 
excluding non-working days before the time for holding the meeting 
or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than 
at or on the same day as the meeting or adjourned meeting) for the 
taking of the poll at which it is to be used. If you want to appoint 
more than one proxy electronically please contact Computershare 
Investor Services PLC on 0370 889 4094.

5. Investors holding shares in the Company through the CT Investment 
Trust ISA, Junior ISA, Child Trust Fund, General Investment 
Account and/or Junior Investment Account should ensure that 
forms of direction are returned to Computershare Investor 
Services PLC not later than 12.30pm on 29 February 2024. 
Alternatively, voting directions can be submitted electronically 
at www.eproxyappointment.com by entering the Control Number, 
Shareholder Reference Number and PIN as printed on the form of 
direction. Voting directions must be submitted electronically no 
later than 12.30pm on 29 February 2024. 

6.  Any person receiving a copy of this notice as a person nominated 
by a member to enjoy information rights under section 146 of 
the Act (a “Nominated Person”) should note that the provisions 
in notes 1 to 4 above concerning the appointment of a proxy or 
proxies to attend the meeting in place of a member do not apply 
to a Nominated Person as only Shareholders have the right to 
appoint a proxy. However, a Nominated Person may have a right 
under an agreement between the Nominated Person and the 
member by whom he or she was nominated to be appointed, or 
to have someone else appointed, as a proxy for the meeting. If a 
Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does 
not wish to exercise it, he/she may have a right under such an 
agreement to give instructions to the member as to the exercise of 
voting rights at the meeting.

7.  Pursuant to Regulation 41(1) of the Uncertificated Securities 
Regulations 2001 (as amended) and for the purposes of section 
360B of the Act, the Company has specified that only those 
members registered on the register of members of the Company 
as at close of business on 5 March 2024 (the “Specified Time”) 
(or, if the meeting is adjourned to a time more than 48 hours 
after the Specified Time, by close of business on the day which 
is two working days prior to the time of the adjourned meeting) 
shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting in respect of 
the number of shares registered in their name at that time. If the 
meeting is adjourned to a time not more than 48 hours after the 
Specified Time, the Specified Time will also apply for the purpose of 
determining the entitlement of members to attend and vote (and for 
the purposes of determining the number of votes they may cast) at 
the adjourned meeting. Changes to the register of members after 
the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in determining the rights 
of any person to attend and vote at the meeting.

8. If you are an institutional investor you may be able to appoint a 
proxy electronically via the Proxymity platform, a process which has 
been agreed by the Company and approved by the Registrar. For 
further information regarding Proxymity, please go to www.proxymity.
io. Your proxy must be lodged by 12.30pm on 5 March 2024 in 
order to be considered valid. Before you can appoint a proxy via 
this process you will need to have agreed to Proxymity’s associated 
terms and conditions. It is important that you read these carefully 
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  (a)  the audit of the Company’s Accounts (including the auditors’ 
report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before 
the meeting; or

  (b)  any circumstances connected with an auditor of the Company 
ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at which 
annual Accounts and Reports were laid in accordance with 
section 437 of the Act.

15.  The Company may not require the members requesting any such 
website publication to pay its expenses in complying with sections 
527 or 528 of the Act. Where the Company is required to place 
a statement on a website under section 527 of the Act, it must 
forward the statement to the Company’s auditor not later than the 
time when it makes the statement available on the website. The 
business which may be dealt with at the meeting includes any 
statement that the Company has been required under section 527 
of the Act to publish on a website.

16.  Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask questions. 
The Company must cause to be answered any question relating 
to the business being dealt with at the meeting put by a member 
attending the meeting. However, members should note that no 
answer need be given in the following circumstances:

 (a)  if to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation of 
the meeting or would involve a disclosure of confidential 
information; or

 (b)  if the answer has already been given on a website in the form 
of an answer to a question; or

 (c)  if it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the 
good order of the meeting that the question be answered.

17.  As at 28 November 2023, being the latest practicable date 
before the publication of this notice, the Company’s issued capital 
consisted of 107,289,022 ordinary shares of 25p each including 
3,553,177 shares held in treasury. Therefore, the total voting rights 
in the Company as at 28 November 2023 were 103,735,845.

18.  This notice, together with the information required by Section 311A 
of the Act, will be available at ctcapitalandincome.co.uk.

19.  Copies of the letters of appointment between the Company and its 
Directors; a copy of the Articles of Association of the Company; the 
register of Directors’ holdings; and a deed relating to the Directors’ 
deeds of indemnity will be available for inspection at the registered 
office of the Company during usual business hours on any weekday 
(Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays excluded) until the date of 
the meeting and also at the place of the meeting from 15 minutes 
prior to the commencement of the meeting until the conclusion 
thereof.

20.  No Director has a service agreement with the Company.

21.  Under section 338 of the Act, a member or members meeting 
the qualification criteria set out at note 23 below, may, subject to 
certain conditions, require the Company to circulate to members 
notice of a resolution which may properly be moved and is intended 
to be moved at that meeting. The conditions are that: (i) the 
resolution must not, if passed, be ineffective (whether by reason 
of inconsistency with any enactment or the Company’s constitution 
or otherwise); (ii) the resolution must not be defamatory of any 
person, frivolous or vexatious; and (iii) the request: (a) may be in 
hard copy form or in electronic form; (b) must identify the resolution 

of which notice is to be given by either setting out the resolution in 
full or, if supporting a resolution sent by another member, clearly 
identifying the resolution which is being supported; (c) must be 
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must 
be received by the Company not later than six weeks before the 
meeting to which the requests relate.

22. Under Section 338A of the Act, a member or members meeting 
the qualification criteria set out at note 23 below, may, subject to 
certain conditions, require the Company to include in the business 
to be dealt with at the meeting a matter (other than a proposed 
resolution) which may properly be included in the business (a 
matter of business). The conditions are that: (i) the matter of 
business must not be defamatory of any person, frivolous or 
vexatious; and (ii) the request: (a) may be in hard copy form or in 
electronic form; (b) must identify the matter of business by either 
setting it out in full or, if supporting a statement sent by another 
member, clearly identify the matter of business which is being 
supported; (c) must be accompanied by a statement setting out the 
grounds for the request; (d) must be authenticated by the person 
or persons making it; and (e) must be received by the Company not 
later than 6 weeks before the meeting to which the requests relate.

23. In order to be able to exercise the members’ right to require: (i) 
circulation of a resolution to be proposed at the meeting (see note 
21); or (ii) a matter of business to be dealt with at the meeting 
(see note 22), the relevant request must be made by: (a) a member 
or members having a right to vote at the meeting and holding at 
least 5% of total voting rights of the Company; or (b) at least 100 
members having a right to vote at the meeting and holding, on 
average, at least £100 of paid up share capital.
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Information for Shareholders

Share dealing  
Investors wishing to purchase more shares in the Company or sell 

all or part of their existing holding may do so through a stockbroker. 

Most banks also offer this service. Alternatively, please go to 

www.computershare.com/dealing/uk for a range of dealing 

services made available by Computershare.

Common reporting standards
Tax legislation requires investment fund companies to provide 

information annually to the local tax authority on the tax 

residencies of a number of non-UK based certificated Shareholders 

and corporate entities who have purchased shares in investment 

trusts. All new Shareholders, excluding those whose shares are 

held in CREST, who are entered onto the share register are sent a 

certification form for the purpose of collecting this information.

For further information, please see HMRC’s Quick Guide: Automatic 

Exchange of Information – information for account holders gov.uk/

government/publications/exchange-of-information-account-holders.

Registered in England and Wales with Company Registration No 
02732011.

Net Asset Value and share price
The Company’s NAV, or Net Asset Value, per share is released 

daily to the London Stock Exchange on the working day following 

the calculation date. The current share price of CT UK Capital and 

Income Investment Trust PLC is shown in the investment trust 

section of the stock market page in most leading newspapers, 

under “CT UK Capital and Income” and on the London Stock 

Exchange website.

Performance information
Information on the Company’s performance is provided in the half-

yearly and final reports which are sent to Shareholders in June and 

December respectively. More up-to-date performance information is 

available on the Internet at ctcapitalandincome.co.uk. This website 

also provides a monthly update on the Company’s geographic spread 

and largest holdings, along with comments from the Fund Manager.

AIC
The Company is a member of the AIC, which publishes a monthly 

statistical information service in respect of member companies. 

The publication also has details of ISA and other investment plans 

available. For further details, please contact the AIC on 020 7282 

5555, or visit the website: theaic.co.uk

Electronic communications
Computershare provides a service to enable Shareholders to 

receive Shareholder correspondence electronically (including annual 

and half yearly financial reports) if they wish. If a Shareholder opts 

to receive documents in this way, paper documents will only be 

available on request. Shareholders who opt for this service will 

receive a Notice of Availability via e-mail from Computershare with 

a link to the relevant section of the Company’s website where the 

documents can be viewed or printed. For more information, to view 

the terms and conditions and to register for this service, please 

visit Computershare’s internet site at investorcentre.co.uk (you will 

need your Shareholder reference number which can be found on 

your share certificate or dividend confirmation). 
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How to Invest

Charges
Annual management charges and other charges apply 
according to the type of plan.

Annual account charge 
ISA/LISA: £60+VAT 
GIA: £40+VAT 
JISA/JIA/CTF: £25+VAT 
You can pay the annual charge from your account, or by 
direct debit (in addition to any annual subscription limits).

Dealing charges
£12 per fund (reduced to £0 for deals placed through the 
online Columbia Threadneedle Investor Portal) for ISA/
GIA/LISA/JIA and JISA. There are no dealing charges on a 
CTF. 
Dealing charges apply when shares are bought or sold but 
not on the reinvestment of dividends or the investment 
of monthly direct debits. Government stamp duty of 0.5% 
also applies on the purchase of shares (where applicable).
The value of investments can go down as well as up 
and you may not get back your original investment. Tax 
benefits depend on your individual circumstances and 
tax allowances and rules may change. Please ensure 
you have read the full Terms and Conditions, Privacy 
Policy and relevant Key Features documents before 
investing. For regulatory purposes, please ensure you 
have read the Pre-sales Cost & Charges disclosure related 
to the product you are applying for, and the relevant Key 
Information Documents (KIDs) for the investment trusts 
you want to invest in, these can be found at ctinvest.
co.uk/documents.

How to Invest
To open a new Columbia Threadneedle Savings Plan, apply 
online at ctinvest.co.uk. Online applications are not available 
if you are transferring an existing Savings Plan with another 
provider to Columbia Threadneedle Investments, or if you are 
applying for a new Savings Plan in more than one name but 
paper applications are available at ctinvest.co.uk/documents 
or by contacting Columbia Threadneedle Investments.

One of the most convenient ways to invest in CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust PLC is through one of the savings plans run by Columbia 

Threadneedle Investments.

CT Individual Savings Account (ISA)
You can use your ISA allowance to make an annual tax efficient 
investment of up to £20,000 for the current tax year with a lump 
sum from £100 or regular savings from £25 a month. You can 
also transfer any existing ISAs to us whilst maintaining the tax 
benefits.

CT Junior Individual Savings Account (JISA)*
A tax efficient way to invest up to £9,000 per tax year for 
a child. Contributions start from £100 lump sum or £25 a 
month. JISAs or CTFs with other providers can be transferred to 
Columbia Threadneedle Investments.

CT Lifetime Individual Savings Account (LISA)
For those aged 18-39, a LISA could help towards purchasing 
your first home or retirement in later life. Invest up to £4,000 for 
the current tax year and receive a 25% Government bonus up to 
£1,000 per year. Invest with a lump sum from £100 or regular 
savings from £25 a month.

CT General Investment Account (GIA)
This is a flexible way to invest in our range of Investment Trusts. 
There are no maximum contributions, and investments can be 
made from £100 lump sum or £25 a month.

CT Junior Investment Account (JIA)
This is a flexible way to save for a child in our range of 
Investment Trusts. There are no maximum contributions, and the 
plan can easily be set up under bare trust (where the child is 
noted as the beneficial owner) or kept in your name if you wish 
to retain control over the investment. Investments can be made 
from a £100 lump sum or £25 a month per account. You can 
also make additional lump sum top-ups at any time from £100 
per account. 

CT Child Trust Fund (CTF)* 
If your child already has a CTF, you can invest up to £9,000 per 
birthday year, from £100 lump sum or £25 a month. CTFs with 
other providers can be transferred to Columbia Threadneedle 
Investments.  
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© 2023 Columbia Threadneedle Investments. Columbia Threadneedle Investments is the global brand name of the Columbia and Threadneedle group of companies. Financial promotions are issued for marketing and information 
purposes by Columbia Threadneedle Management Limited, authorised and regulated in the UK by the Financial Conduct Authority.

Notes 
*The CTF and JISA accounts are opened by parents in the child’s name and they have access to the money at age 18.  
**Calls may be recorded or monitored for training and quality purposes.

To find out more,  
visit ctinvest.co.uk 

0345 600 3030, 9.00am – 5.00pm,  
weekdays, calls may be recorded or  
monitored for training and quality purposes.

New Customers:
Call:  0800 136 420** (8:30am – 5:30pm, weekdays)

Email:  invest@columbiathreadneedle.com

Existing Savings Plan Holders:
Call:  0345 600 3030** (9:00am – 5:00pm, weekdays)

Email:  investor.enquiries@columbiathreadneedle.com

By post:  Columbia Threadneedle Management Limited
  PO Box 11114
  Chelmsford CM99 2DG

 
You can also invest in the trust through online dealing platforms for private investors that offer share dealing and ISAs. 
Companies include: AJ Bell, Barclays Stockbrokers, EQi, Halifax, Hargreaves Lansdown, HSBC, Interactive Investor, Lloyds Bank, The 
Share Centre.

Manage your 
investments on 
the go
With our CT UK app you can:

– Make changes to your investment choices
– Add cash to invest later, or withdraw cash
– Make lump sum investments

Search 'CT UK' to download the app
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Alternative Performance Measures

The Company uses the following Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”). APMs do not have a standard meaning prescribed by GAAP 

and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. No new APMs have been identified or added since 

the prior year end.

Premium or Discount – the share price of an Investment Company is derived from buyers and sellers trading their shares on the stock 

market. This price is not identical to the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per share of the Company. If the share price is lower than NAV per share, 

the shares are trading at a discount. This usually indicates that there are more sellers of shares than buyers. The discount is shown as a 

percentage of the NAV per share. Shares trading at a price above NAV per share are deemed to be at a premium.

30 September 
2023 

pence

30 September 
2022 
pence

Net Asset Value per share (a) 301.67 277.66

Share price per share (b) 298.00 280.00

Premium or (Discount) (c= (b-a)/a) (c) (1.2%) 0.8%

Gearing – this is the ratio of the borrowings of the Company to its net assets. Borrowings have a “prior charge” over the assets of a 

company, ranking before ordinary Shareholders in their entitlement to capital and/or income. They may include: preference shares; 

debentures; overdrafts and short and long term loans from banks; and derivative contracts. If the Company has cash assets, these may 

be assumed either to net off against borrowings, giving a “net” or “effective” gearing percentage, or to be used to buy investments, giving 

a “gross” or “fully invested” gearing figure. Where cash assets exceed borrowings, the Company is described as having “net cash”. The 

Company’s maximum permitted level of gearing is set by the Board and is described within the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.  

30 September 
2023 
£’000 

30 September 
2022 
£’000 

Loan 25,000 24,000

Less cash and cash equivalents (2,378) (906)

Total (a) 22,622 23,094

Net Asset Value (b) 314,747 296,283

Gearing (c = a/b) (c) 7.19% 7.79%
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Ongoing Charges – are those expenses of a type which are likely to recur in the foreseeable future, whether charged to capital or revenue, 

and which relate to the operation of the investment company, expressed as a proportion of the average net assets of the Company over 

the reporting year (see Ten Year Record). The costs of buying and selling investments and derivatives are excluded, as are interest costs, 

taxation, non-recurring costs and the costs of buying back or issuing shares. Ongoing charges are based on costs incurred in the year as 

being the best estimate of future costs. 

Ongoing charges calculation

30 September 
2023 
£’000 

30 September 
2022 
£’000 

Management fees 1,386 1,428

Other expenses 742 680

Broker fee 18 15

Less loan arrangement fees – (16)

Ad-hoc non-recurring expenses (24) (80)

Total (a) 2,122 2,027

Average daily net assets (b) 322,195 343,168

Ongoing charges (c = a/b) (c) 0.66% 0.59%

Total Return – the theoretical return to Shareholders calculated on a per share basis by adding dividends paid in the period to the 

increase or decrease in the share price or NAV in the period. The dividends are assumed to have been re-invested in the form of shares or 

added to net assets respectively, on the date on which the shares were quoted ex-dividend. 

Net Asset Value Share price

NAV/Share price per share at 30 September 2022 (pence) 277.66 280.00

NAV/Share price per share at 30 September 2023 (pence) 301.67 298.00

Change in the year 8.6% 6.4%

Impact of dividend reinvestments 4.5% 4.5%

Total return for the year 13.1% 10.9%
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AAF Report – Report prepared in accordance with Audit and Assurance Faculty guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 

in England and Wales.

Administrator – State Street Bank and Trust Company.

AIC – Association of Investment Companies, the trade body for Closed-end Investment Companies.

AIC Code – the principles set out in the Association of Investment Companies Code of Corporate Governance. 

AIM – the Alternative Investment Market.

AIFMD – Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive requires that all investment vehicles (“AIFs”) must appoint a Depositary and an 

Alternative Investment Fund Manager (“AIFM”). The Board of Directors of an Investment Trust, nevertheless, will remain fully responsible 

for all aspects of the Company’s strategy, operations and compliance with regulations. The Company’s AIFM is the Manager. 

Broker – The Broker is Cavendish, previously known as Cenkos Securities plc. The duties of the Broker include transacting buy or sell 

orders in the Company’s shares, maintain a regular dialogue with core Shareholders, and provide advice on trading of the Company’s 

shares and significant movements in share price.

CT UK Capital and Income Investment Trust PLC – the “Company”.

CT Savings Plans – the CT General Investment Account, CT Junior Investment Account, CT Investment Trust ISA, CT Junior ISA, CT Lifetime 

ISA and CT Child Trust Fund operated by Columbia Threadneedle Management Limited, a company authorised and regulated by the 

Financial Conduct Authority.

Benchmark – the FTSE All-Share Index (the “Index”) is the benchmark against which the increase or decrease in the Company’s Net Asset 

Value is measured. The Index averages the performance of a defined selection of companies on the London Stock Exchange and gives 

an indication of how a wide range of companies traded on the London Stock Exchange taken as a whole have performed in any period. 

As the investments within the Index are not identical to those held by the Company, the Index does not take account of operating costs 

and the Company’s strategy does not include replicating (tracking) this index, there is likely to be some level of divergence between the 

performance of the Company and the Index.

Closed-end company – a company, including an Investment Company, with a fixed issued ordinary share capital which is traded on an 

exchange at a price not necessarily related to its Net Asset Value and the shares of which can only be issued or bought back by the 

Company in certain circumstances. 

Cum-dividend – shares are classified as cum-dividend when the buyer of a security is entitled to receive a dividend that has been 

declared, but not paid. Shares which are not cum-dividend are described as ex-dividend.

Custodian – The Custodian is JPMorgan Chase Bank. A custodian is a specialised financial institution responsible for safeguarding, 

worldwide, the listed securities and certain cash assets of the Company, as well as the income arising therefrom, through provision of 

custodial, settlement and associated services. 

Glossary of Terms
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Depositary – The Depositary is JPMorgan Europe Limited. Under AIFMD rules, the Company must appoint a depositary, whose duties in 

respect of investments, cash and similar assets include: safekeeping; verification of ownership and valuation; and cash monitoring. The 

appointed depositary has strict liability for the loss of the financial assets in respect of which it has safe keeping duties. The Depositary’s 

oversight duties will include, but are not limited to, oversight of share buy backs, dividend payments and adherence to investment limits. 

Derivative – a contract between two or more parties, the value of which fluctuates in accordance with the value of an underlying security. 

The contract is usually short term (for less than one year). Examples of derivatives are Put and Call Options, Swap contracts, Futures and 

Contracts for Difference. A derivative can be an asset or a liability and is a form of gearing because the fluctuations in its value are usually 

greater than the fluctuations in the underlying security’s value.

Distributable Reserves – Reserves distributable by way of dividend or for the purpose of buying back ordinary share capital (see note 2 

to the accounts). Company Law requires that Share Capital, the Share Premium Account and the Capital Redemption Reserve may not be 

distributed. The Company’s articles of association allow distributions by way of dividend out of Capital Reserves. Dividend payments are 

currently made out of Revenue Reserve. The cost of any share buybacks are deducted from the Special and Capital Reserves.

Dividend Dates – Reference is made in announcements of dividends to three dates. The “record” date is the date after which buyers of 

the shares will not be recorded on the register of Shareholders as qualifying for the pending dividend payment. The “payment” date is the 

date that dividends are credited to Shareholders’ bank accounts. The “ex-dividend” date is normally the business day prior to the record 

date.

Fund Manager – Julian Cane, an employee of the Manager with overall management responsibility for the total portfolio. 

GAAP – Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. This includes UK GAAP and International GAAP (IFRS or International Financial Reporting 

Standards applicable in the European Union).

Investment Company (section 833) – UK Company Law allows an Investment Company to make dividend distributions out of realised 

distributable reserves, even in circumstances where it has made capital losses in any year (see note 2 to the accounts), provided the 

Company’s assets remaining after payment of the dividend exceed 150% of the liabilities. An Investment Company is defined as investing 

its funds in shares, land or other assets with the aim of spreading investment risk.

Investment Trust taxation status (section 1158) – UK Corporation Tax law allows an Investment Company (referred to in tax law as an 

Investment Trust) to be exempted from tax on its profits realised on investment transactions, provided it complies with certain rules. 

These are similar to section 833 Company law rules but further require that the Company must be listed on a regulated stock exchange 

and that it cannot retain more than 15% of income received. The Directors’ Report contains confirmation of the Company’s compliance 

with this law and its consequent exemption from taxation on capital gains.

ISAE Report – Report prepared in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements.

Leverage – as defined under AIFMD rules, leverage is any method by which the exposure of an AIF (being an investment vehicle under the 

AIFMD) is increased through borrowing of cash or securities or leverage embedded in derivative positions. Leverage is broadly equivalent 

to gearing, but is expressed as a ratio between the net assets (excluding borrowings) and the net assets (after taking account of 

borrowings). Under the gross method, exposure represents the sum of the Company’s positions after deduction of cash balances, without 

taking account of any hedging or netting arrangements. Under the commitment method, exposure is calculated without the deduction of 

cash balances and after certain hedging and netting positions are offset against each other.

Manager – Columbia Threadneedle Investment Business Limited, (AIFM), and its sister company Columbia Threadneedle Management 

Limited. These two companies are owned by Ameriprise Financial, Inc.
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Net Asset Value (NAV) – the assets less liabilities of the Company, as set out in the Balance Sheet, all valued in accordance with 

the Company’s Accounting Policies (see note 2 to the accounts) and UK Accounting Standards. The net assets correspond to Total 

Shareholders’ Funds, which comprise the share capital account, capital redemption reserve, share premium account, special reserve and 

capital and revenue reserves. 

Non-executive Director – a Director who has a contract for services, rather than a contract of employment, with the Company. 

The Company does not have any executive Directors. Non-executive Directors’ remuneration is described in detail in the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report. The duties of the Directors, who govern the Company through the auspices of a Board and Committees of the 

Board, are set out in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Open-end investment vehicle – a collective investment scheme which issues shares or units directly to investors, and redeems directly 

from investors, at a price that is linked to the Net Asset Value of the fund.

Price/earnings multiple – This is a calculation carried out as a simple assessment of a company’s valuation. It is the result of dividing 

the share price of a company by its earnings per share, therefore showing the multiple of earnings at which the shares trade.

Registrar – Computershare Investor Services PLC provide share registration services to the Company. They maintain the register of 

members and arrange the payment of dividends. Shares held by investors in the CT Savings Plans are held on the register in one nominee 

account under the name of State Street Nominees Limited.

SORP – Statement of Recommended Practice. The accounts of the Company are drawn up in accordance with the Investment Trust SORP, 

issued by the AIC, as described in note 2 to the accounts.

SSAE16 – Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements 16, issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, is an 

independent snapshot of an organisation’s control environment.

UK Code of Corporate Governance (UK Code) – the standards of good practice in relation to board leadership and effectiveness, 

remuneration, accountability and relations with Shareholders that all companies with a Premium Listing on the London Stock Exchange are 

required to report on in their Annual Report and Accounts.
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Warning to Shareholders – Beware of Share Fraud. 

Fraudsters use persuasive and high-pressure tactics to lure investors into scams. They may offer to sell to you shares that turn out to be worthless or 
non-existent, or to buy your shares at an inflated price in return for an upfront payment following which the proceeds are never received.

If you receive unsolicited investment advice or requests:

• Check the Financial Services Register from fca.org.uk to see if the person or firm contacting you is authorised by the FCA

• Call the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) on 0800 111 6768 if the firm does not have contact details on the Register or you are told they are out 
of date

• Search the list of unauthorised firms to avoid at fca.org.uk/scams

• Consider that if you buy or sell shares from an unauthorised firm you will not have access to the Financial Ombudsman Service or Financial Services 
Compensation Scheme

• Think about getting independent financial and professional advice 

If you are approached by fraudsters please tell the FCA by using the share fraud reporting form at fca.org.uk/scams where you can find out more 
about investment scams. You can also call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768. If you have already paid money to share fraudsters you 
should contact Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040.
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